BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION
MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN
MONDAY, MAY 8, 2023
6:45 P.M.

SPECIAL MEETING
(WORKSHOP)

This will be considered a workshop session of the City Commission. No formal actions will be taken.
The purpose of this workshop is to participate in a discussion the Process for Selecting a Mayor and

Mayor Pro Tem.

| L CALL TO ORDER |
Therese Longe, Mayor

| IL ROLL CALL |
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk

[III.  PRESENTATION & DISCUSSION |

A. Introduction
B. City Commission Discussion and Comment

Resources
1. Applicable City Commission Charter Provision, Chapter 3, Section 5
2. City Commission Rules of Procedure
3. April 24, 2023 Memo
4. Information submitted by David Bloom

| IV. PUBLIC COMMENT |

|V.  ADJOURN |

This meeting is open to the public and the public is welcome to attend.

Should you wish to participate in this meeting, you are invited to attend the meeting in person or virtually through

ZOOM: https://zoom.us/j/655079760 Meeting ID: 655 079760

You may also present your written statement to the City Commission, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin Street, P.O.
Box 3001, Birmingham, Michigan 48012-3001 prior to the hearing.

NOTICE: Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for effective

participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-5115 (TDD) at least one day

inadvancetorequestmobility, visual, hearing orotherassistance. Laspersonasquerequierenalojamiento, tales comoserviciosde

interpretacion, la participacion efectiva en esta reunion deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-
1880 por lo menos el dia antes de la reunion publica. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964).

May 8, 2023



Section 5. - [Mayor; selection, powers.]

On the second Monday in November of each year, the commission shall meet at the usual place for holding the
meetings of the legislative body of the city for the purpose of organization. At each of said organization
meetings the commission shall elect one of its members as mayor who shall be the presiding officer of the
commission and chief executive head of the city and who shall have such other powers and perform such other
duties as are or may be imposed or authorized by the laws of the state, by this Charter or by the commission.
He shall be the conservator of the peace and may exercise within the city the powers conferred upon sheriffs to
suppress disorder. At each of said organization meetings the commission shall also elect another member of
the commission as mayor pro tem, who during the mayor's absence or disability to perform his duties, shall act
in his stead and shall during the time of said absence or disability exercise all of the duties and possess all of the
powers of the mayor. In the absence or disability of the mayor pro tem, the commission may temporarily
appoint one of its members to that office. The mayor as a member of the commission shall have the right to
vote on all matters before the commission and shall possess all of the other rights and powers of members of
that body. He shall not have the right to veto.

(Amend. of 11-2-99)



BIRMINGHAM

A WALKABLE CITY

RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR THE CITY COMMISSION

OPEN MEETINGS

Regular meetings and special meetings of the Birmingham City Commission, which are normally
held in the Commission Room of the Municipal Building, 151 Martin Street, shall be open to the
public, in compliance with the Michigan Open Meetings Act.

It is the desire of the city commission to conclude all business not later than 11:00 PM. The
commission will consider this goal during their deliberations.

CLOSED SESSIONS

All meetings of the Commission shall be open to the public and shall be held in a place available
to the general public. A closed session, a meeting or part of a meeting that is closed to the
public, may be called for the permissible purposes included in the Open Meetings Act (Act 267
of 1976 as amended). Examples of such purposes include personnel evaluation, collective
bargaining, purchase or lease of real property, and pending litigation.

AGENDA

The Commission Meeting Agenda, including minutes, warrants, correspondence and reports shall
be distributed to the City Commission on or before the Friday prior to the meeting date. Agendas
shall also be made available for public review in the City Clerk's Office and on the City website.
Minutes shall not normally be read as part of the meeting.

MINUTES

The minutes shall include the mandatory information as required by the Open Meetings Act 267
of 1976; Section 15.269. The minutes shall reflect an overview or brief summary of the subject
matter and any Commission comments that may have had an effect on the outcome.
Commission comments may include a summary in support or opposed and discussion which
may be relevant for future reference.

The minutes shall include a participating citizen’s name and position on an issue when there is
public comment during the commission meeting in all of the following instances: (1) a public
hearing, (2) an agenda item or (3) recognition of citizens in the audience.

PRESIDING OFFICER

The Mayor shall preside at all meetings of the City Commission. In the absence or disability of the
Mayor, the Mayor Pro-Tem shall preside. In the absence or disability of both the Mayor and the
1



Mayor Pro-Tem, the Commission shall elect one of its members to act as presiding officer.

The Mayor shall possess all the rights and powers of any other Commissioner; he or she shall not
have the right of veto.

CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

Commission Meetings shall be governed by the rules contained in the most recent edition of
Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised in all instances in which they are applicable and not
inconsistent with the statutes of the United States or the State of Michigan, or with the Charter or
adopted of the City of Birmingham or these Rules of Procedure.

Commissioners should be recognized by the presiding officer before speaking.
COMMISSIONERS’ ATTENDANCE AT BOARDS AND COMMITTEES

It is the decision of the Commission that to avoid the appearance of or a possibility of potential
influence or duress upon appointees, or to avoid the possibility of violating the OMA,
commissioners shall refrain from appearing at various boards and committees in person or with
their names addressed upon remote attendance. Exceptions may occur upon presentation and
vote of the entire Commission.

VOTING

Birmingham's City Charter states that four members of the City Commission shall constitute a
quorum; that the Commission shall act only by ordinance or resolution, that is, an official action in
the form of a motion; and that a minimum of four votes shall be required to adopt any such
motion.

For all Boards, Commissions or Committees appointed by the City Commission the minimum
number of votes shall be the same as the quorum number for that body. State statute, City of
Birmingham Charter or ordinance may require a larger number of affirmative votes to approve
certain actions for either the City Commission or appointed Boards.

The City Commission may take action on any motion either by voice or by roll-call vote. A roll-call
vote shall be taken if requested by any Commissioner, the City Clerk, or any member of the public
in attendance.

A motion may be amended or modified by combining the original motion and the modifications in
one motion, provided all City Commission Members agree to include the "friendly amendment" in
the original motion.

A Commission member may abstain from voting on a motion if he or she: 1) has a conflict of
interest; or 2) lacks sufficient information about the issue to be decided. Any Commissioner who
abstains from voting on a motion shall state, for the record, at the outset of the discussion both
his or her intention to abstain and reason for doing so. Should the need to abstain become clear
during discussion, the member shall state his or her intention at that time. The Commissioner
shall then be prohibited from participating in any further discussion or debate on the issue.

2



After a motion has been voted upon, any Commissioner who voted on the prevailing side may
move to "reconsider" said motion at the same meeting, or at the next regularly scheduled
meeting, provided no action has been taken as a result of the previous vote.

General consent or consensus (in lieu of a motion) may be used to give direction. In this case,
the minutes shall indicate that a majority consented.

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION

During any City Commission meeting, any person may question or comment upon any specific
agenda item at the time the City Commission considers that item.

The public shall also be invited to make comments on any item not on the meeting agenda under
the agenda item, "Meeting Open To The Public For Items Not On The Printed Agenda."

No person shall address the City Commission without first having been recognized by the
presiding officer. Once recognized, the member of the public shall go to one of the available
microphones, and state his or her name and community of residence before speaking.

Speakers may be requested to limit their comments so as to provide opportunities for comments
from all interested persons. In particular, no member of the public shall normally be permitted to
speak a second time on the same issue until all others wishing to make a presentation on the
subject have had an opportunity to do so.

If any person becomes loud or unruly, the presiding officer may rule that person out of order and
may forfeit that person's opportunity to speak further. A person may also be expelled from the
meeting for breach of the peace.

COMMISSION VACANCIES

If a vacancy occurs on the City Commission, it shall be filled by a vote of the remaining
Commissioners (not including the member who is vacating his or her seat). The vote to fill a
vacancy shall be taken during a public meeting held within the time prescribed by State Law.
Candidates for a vacant seat need not have previously served on, nor sought election to, the
Commission.

The person selected to fill a vacancy shall serve only until the next following general election, at
which time any remaining unexpired term shall be filled by the voters.

APPOINTMENT PROCEDURES

No member of the City Commission shall serve on any Board of the City of Birmingham, except
the Retirement System, unless membership is required by Michigan Statute or the Birmingham
City Charter.

When the City Commission desires to fill a vacancy on an appointed City of Birmingham Board,
Commission or Committee, the City Clerk shall give notice to the public by publishing the intent to
3



fill the vacancy on the City website.

If the number of persons nominated for appointment to a City Board, Commission or Committee
does not exceed the number of positions to be filled, the City Commission may use a voice vote.
If the number of nominations exceeds the number of positions to be filled, nominees shall be
voted upon in the order in which they were nominated, either by voice or by roll-call vote.

If no nominee receives the required four votes for appointment, the process of nomination and
voting may be repeated either at the same meeting or at a subsequent meeting. If the
Commission desires, the position may be re-noticed.

Requests for members of the City Commission to serve on non-city bodies shall be given to the
Mayor, who shall make such information available to all Commissioners. Members shall indicate
their interest in such positions to the Mayor and the appointment shall officially be made at a
public meeting.

AMENDMENT OR SUSPENSION OF THE RULES OF PROCEDURE

These rules may be changed at any meeting of the City Commission by a majority vote with
notice at the previous meeting or by a 2/3 vote (5) without notice.

Drafted by Eleanor A. Siewert, Birmingham City Commissioner - June, 1991
Revised June 28, 2004

Revised April 8, 2013

Revised August 26, 2013

Revised December 13, 2021



BIRMINGHAM

A WALKABLE CITY

REPORT
City Manager’s Office

DATE: April 18, 2023
TO: City Commission
FROM: Tom Markus

SUBJECT: Code of Conduct

INTRODUCTION:

Presented to the City Commission this evening is the latest edits and dissertations by the
City Commissioners regarding the Code of Conduct and the future of the Code of Conduct.

BACKGROUND:

Please view https://vimeo.com/656423258#t=3h32m, which reflects the City Commission
meeting of January 10, 2022 wherein the Code of Conduct was discussed and encouraged, most
particularly by Commissioner Host, for items to be discussed for a future agenda. City
Commissioner Host believed that we should have rules for how Commissioners ought to conduct
themselves. To this end, the staff, based upon the City Commission’s recommendation, looked
at a number of other communities’ Code of Conduct for their commissions, councils and boards.
The City Commission was then presented with a very comprehensive presentation by Assistant
City Manager, Jana Ecker at a workshop on February 14, 2022. The City Commission was
presented with a first draft of a proposed Code of Conduct on February 28, 2022, to which the
City Commission required changes. Changes were made and a new Code of Conduct was
presented to the City Commission again on July 11, 2022.

With many other pressing matters before the Commission, the Code of Conduct was tabled
and then brought back to the City Commission on February 13, 2023. At that time, the City
Commission was concerned that many of the items were duplicative and then directed the City
Attorney to prepare a study to demonstrate what parts of the proposed Code of Conduct were
duplicative in either state law, state policies, Charter provisions, ordinances, or Rules of
Procedure. The comparison was completed and discovered that most areas of the Code of
Conduct were not as duplicative as believed it would be. The City Commission agreed to allow
14 days for the City Commissioners to make comments on how they think the document should
be rewritten. Each City Commissioner’s edits are attached for review.

10E2


https://vimeo.com/656423258#t=3h32m

It has been the staff’s position since the outset of this endeavor that the Code of Conduct
needs to be drafted, written, adopted and embraced by the City Commission in order for it to be
a document that is self-governing by the City Commission, to the City Commission, and for the
City Commission. It is evident from various Commissioner’'s comments that strong opposition
remains to parts of the Code of Conduct.

Therefore, as City Manager I will now suggest that the staff has provided a framework for
the City Commission, but it is up to the City Commission itself to take this Code of Conduct to the
finish line, if that is their desire. The first question I would pose to the City Commission is: Does
the City Commission want a Code of Conduct at all? If so, I would suggest that you schedule a

workshop wherein all seven Commissioners work together to finalize language and verbiage that
all Commissioners can agree upon.

ATTACHMENTS:
e February 7, 2022 Memo to City Manager from Assistant City Manager with attachments.

e February 14, 2022 Special Meeting Agenda Workshop.

e February 21, 2022 Memorandum to City Manager from Assistant City Manager with
PowerPoint of the February 14, 2022 Code of Conduct Workshop.

e July 11, 2022 Memorandum from City Attorney to City Manager with draft Code of
Conduct.

e February 13, 2023 Memorandum from City Attorney to City Manager with draft Code of
Conduct Resolution.

e March 8, 2023 email from City Manager to City Clerk with draft Code of Conduct
Resolution.

e Current proposed edits of City Commissioners.

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTIONS:

1. Set the Code of Conduct as a future agenda item to be determined if the City
Commission desires a Code of Conduct at all.

AND

2. Set a schedule for the City Commission to collaboratively work to finalize the
language and verbiage and adoption of a Code of Conduct.

OR
3. Agree to sideline the project entirely.

2

10E2



10E2



@mingham MEMORANDUM

wumi!y e e e S S e e S e S e e S R
City Manager’s Office

DATE: February 7, 2022

TO: Thomas Markus, City Manager
FROM: Jana Ecker, Assistant City Manager
SUBJECT: Code of Conduct

At a recent City Commission meeting, there was discussion about creating guidelines and/or rules
to ensure respectful and civil communication and public engagement between elected officials
and members of the public, and the City Commission expressed interest in considering adopting
a code of conduct.

Accordingly, the City Manager’s Office has conducted research to identify other communities that
have established rules or protocols to guide the communication and conduct of local government
elected officials, appointed officials and members of the public. Many jurisdictions have created
formal codes of conduct adopted by the governing body. Samples of ordinances and resolutions
adopted in approximately 20 different jurisdictions across the U.S. and Canada were reviewed.
Most contained very similar provisions designed to outline the following:

e The roles and responsibilities of elected officials, appointed officials, City staff and
members of the public;

e The standards of conduct required of elected officials during public meetings of the body
to which they were elected and other public meetings;

e The standards of conduct required of elected officials at ceremonial, public and private
events;

e The standards of conduct required of elected officials in all communications with each
other, with advisory board and commission members, City staff, the media and with the
public;

e The standards of conduct required of other officials, City staff and the public while
engaged in local government activities;

e Possible sanctions for violation of a code of conduct; and

e A process for reporting, investigating and enforcing the code of conduct.

The Code of Conduct for Elected Officials adopted in Rifle, CO provides a good example overall
of the type of ordinance the Birmingham City Commission may wish to consider. Similar
ordinances to Rifle, CO are also in place in communities such as Harrisburg, NC, Alexandria, MN,
Sunnyvale, CA, and many other jurisdictions. While similar in content, the ordinances listed below
have specific provisions that may be beneficial to consider in Birmingham:

10E2



Edina, MN Edina City Council — Code of Conduct contains specific provisions outlining the
roles and responsibilities between the governing body, advisory boards and commissions
and staff similar to Birmingham'’s current policies;

Evans, CO Code of Conduct for Elected Officials contains specific provisions on conduct
between elected officials that ensure issue-oriented discussion and not personal attacks;
Mountain View, CA City Council Code of Conduct contains specific provisions regarding ex
parte communications to avoid conflict with the Open Meetings Act;

Brea, CA Code of Conduct for City Council contains clear direction for communications
with both City staff and professional consultants; and

Berthoud, CO Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and Commissions contains
clear definitions for several terms to assist with enforcement and clarify the potential
repercussions of violation.

Attachments:

Rifle, CO - Code of Conduct for Elected Officials
Edina, MN - Edina City Council — Code of Conduct
Evans, CO — Code of Conduct for Elected Officials
Mountain View, CA — City Council Code of Conduct
Brea, CA — Code of Conduct for City Council
Berthoud, CO - Code of Conduct for Elected Officials
MMLs Ethics Handbook for Michigan Municipalities.

10E2



CODE OFCONDUCT FOR

ELECTED OFFICIALS

Adopted by City Council
Resolution No.11, Series of 2016

August 3, 2016

10E2



City of Rifle Code of Conduct for Elected Officials

The Three R’s of Rifle Government Leadership: Roles, Responsibilities and Respect

The City Charter provides detailed information on the roles and responsibilities of Council
members, the Mayor Pro-Tem, and the Mayor. The City's Code of Ethics provides guidance on
ethical issues and questions of right and wrong. Until now, what has not been clearly written
down is a Code of Conduct for Rifles’ elected officials.

This Code of Conductis designed to describe the manner in which Council members should treat
one another, city staff, constituents, and others they come into contact with in representing the
City of Rifle. It reflects the work of the City Council while defining more clearly the behavior,
manners, and courtesies that are suitable for various occasions.

The constant and consistent theme through all of the conduct guidelines is "respect." Council
members experience stress in making decisions that impact the lives of the citizens. At times,
the impacts of the entire community must be weighed against the impact of only a few. Despite
these pressures, elected officials are called upon to exhibit appropriate behavior at all times.
Demonstrating respect for each individual through words and actions is the touchstone that can
help guide Council members to do the right thing in even the most difficult situations.

10E2



Overview of Roles & Responsibilities

Other resources that are helpful in defining the roles and responsibilities of elected officials
can be found in the Rifle City Charter, Rifle Municipal Code and in the Handbook for
Municipal Elected Officials, published by the Colorado Municipal League.

Mayor

» Elected from the members of the Council at its organizational meeting, by a
majority vote, after each general municipal election (City Charter, Article III,
Section 3.3).

* Recognized as head of the City Government for all ceremonial and legal purposes, and
executes and authenticates legal instruments requiring the Mayor’s signature as such
official. (City Charter, Article ITI, Section 3.3).

« Preside over meetings of the City Council (City Charter, Article III, Section 3.3).

 Has same speaking and voting rights as any other member (City Charter,
Article III, Section 3.3) Shall appoint a Councilor as Mayor Pro Tem at the organization
meeting where the Mayor is elected (City Charter, Article III, Section 3.3)

« Leads the Council into an effective, cohesive working team.

Mayor Pro-Tem

» Acts as Mayor during the absence of the Mayor with all powers granted to the Mayor by
Charter (City Charter, Article ITI, Section 3.3)

All Council Members

All members of the City Council, including the Mayor and Mayor Pro-Tern, have equal votes.
No Council member has more power than any other Council member, and all should be
treated with equal respect.

All Council members should:

» Fully participate in City Council meetings and other public forums while
demonstrating respect, kindness, consideration, and courtesy to others.
Prepare in advance of meetings and be familiar with issues on the agenda.

* Represent the City at ceremonial functions at the request of the Mayor.

» Be respectful of other people's time. Stay focused and act efficiently during public
meetings.

« Serve as amodel of leadership and civility to the community.

» Inspire public confidence in Rifle govermment.

« Provide contact information with the City Clerk in case of an emergency or an urgent
situation arises while the Council member is out of town.

10E2



* Demonstrate honesty and integrity in every action and statement.
* Participate in scheduled activities.

10E2



POLICIES & PROTOCOL RELATED TO CONDUCT

Ceremonial Events

Requests for a City representative at ceremonial events will be handled by City staff. The Mayor
will serve as the designated City representative. If the Mayor is unavailable, then City staff will
determine if event organizers would like another representative from the Council. If yes, then
the Mayor Pro-Tem will be recommended to serve as the substitute. Invitations received at City
Hall are presumed to be for official City representation. Invitations addressed to Council
members at their homes are presumed to be for unofficial, personal consideration.

Correspondence Signatures

Council members do not need to acknowledge the receipt of correspondence, or copies of
correspondence, during Council meetings. City staff will prepare official letters in response to
public inquiries and concerns. These letters will carry the signature of the Mayor or the
appropriate City staff. If correspondence is addressed only to one Council member, that
correspondence will be shared with the rest of the Council.

Endorsement of Candidates

Council members have the right to endorse candidates for all Council seats or other elected
offices. It is inappropriate to mention endorsements during Council meetings or other official
City meetings or functions.

Intergovernmental Relations

The Council values intergovemmental relations with neighboring communities and other entities.
As a result, Council members should make a concerted effort to attend scheduled meetings
with other entities to further promote intergovernmental relations.

Legislative Process
The City loosely follows Roberts Rule of Order for meeting management.

Public Meeting Hearing Protocol

The Mayor will open the public hearing. The applicant or appellant shall have the right to
speak first. The Mayor will determine the length of time allowed for this presentation. Staff
will make initial comments and/or presentation. Speakers representing pro points of view will
be allowed to follow. Speakers representing opposing points of view will then follow. The
Mayor will determine how much time will be allowed for each speaker, with 3 to 5 minutes the
standard time granted. The Mayor will then ask the Council if any issues need clarification
before the public hearing is closed.

The Mayor has the responsibility to run an efficient public meeting and has the discretion to
modify the public hearing process in order to make the meeting run smoothly. Council members
will not express opinions during the public hearing portion of the meeting except to ask
pertinent questions of the speaker or staff. "I think" and "I feel" comments by Council
members are not appropriate until after the close of the public hearing. Council members should

4

10E2



refrain from arguing or debating with the public during a public hearing and shall always show
respect for different points of view. The Mayor shall direct public testimony and discussion to
the City Council instead of staff, when appropriate.

Main motions may be followed by amendments, followed by substitute motions. Any Council
member can call for a point of order. Only Council members who voted on the prevailing side
may make motions to reconsider.

Travel Expenses

The purpose of this regulation is to establish the policies and procedures for Council members
who travel on official City business either in-state or out-of-state. Such travel shall include
attendance at conferences, seminars, and training sessions on behalf of the City. The City shall
pay reasonable expenses for registration fees, lodging, meals, transportation, and all allowable
miscellaneous expenses for the Council member only. All travel expenses will be handled in the
same manner and consistent with the provisions within the City's Employee Handbook.

10E2



COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH ONE ANOTHER

Councils are composed of individuals with a wide variety of backgrounds, personalities, values,
opinions, and goals. Despite this diversity, all have chosen to serve in public office in order to
preserve and protect the present and the future of the community. In all cases, this common goal
should be acknowledged even as Council may "agree to disagree" on contentious issues.

In Public Meetings

Practice civility, professionalism and decorum in discussions and debate difficult
questions, tough challenges to a particular point of view, and criticism of ideas and
information are legitimate elements of a free democracy in action. This does not allow,
however, Council members to make belligerent, personal, impertinent, slanderous,
threatening, abusive, or disparaging comments. No shouting or physical actions that
could be construed as threatening will be tolerated. Council members should conduct
themselves in a professional manner at all times, including dress.

Honor the role of the Mayor in maintaining order it is the responsibility of the Mayor to
keep the comments of Council members on track during public meetings. Council
members should honor efforts by the Mayor to focus discussion on current agenda items.
If there is disagreement about the agenda or the Mayor’s actions, those objections should
be voiced politely and with reason, following procedures outlined in parliamentary
procedure.

Avoid personal comments that could offend other Council members. If a Council-
member is personally offended by the remarks of another Council member, the
offended Council member should make notes of the actual words used and call for a
"point of personal privilege" that challenges the other Council member to justify or
apologize for the languageused. The Mayor will maintain control of this discussion.

Demonstrate effective problem-solving approaches. Council members have a public
stage to show how individuals with disparate points of view can find common ground
and seek a compromise that benefits the community as a whole.

Be punctual and keep comments relative to topics discussed, Council members have
made a commitment to attend meetings and partake in discussions. Therefore, it is
important that Council members be punctual and that meetings start on time. It is equally
important that discussions on issues be relative to the topic at hand to allow adequate
time to fully discussed scheduled issues.

In Private Encounters

Continue respectful behavior in private. The same level of respect and
consideration of differing points of view that is deemed appropriate for public

6

10E2



discussions should be maintained in private conversations.

Be aware of the insecurity of written notes, voicemail messages, and e-mail.
Technology allows words written or said without much forethought to be distributed
wide and far. How would you feel if this voicemail message was played on a speaker
phone in a full office? What would happen if this e- mail message was forwarded to
others? Written notes, voicemail messages and e-mail should be treated as potentially
"public" communication.

Even private conversations can have a public presence. Elected officials are always
on display — their actions, mannerisms, and language are monitored by people around
them that they may not know. Lunch table conversations will be eavesdropped upon,
parking lot debates will be watched, and casual comments between individuals before
and after public meetings noted.

10E2



COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH CITY STAFF

Governance of a City relies on the cooperative efforts of elected officials who set policy and
staff who implement and administer the Council's policies. Therefore, every effort should be
made to be cooperative and show mutual respect for the contributions made by each
individual for the good of the community.

Treat all staff as professionals. Clear, honest communication that respects the
abilities, experience, and dignity of each individual is expected. Poor behavior
towards staff is not acceptable.

Limit contact to specific City staff. Questions of City staff and/or requests for
additional background information should be directed to the City Manager, City
Attorney, or Department Heads. The City Manager should be copied on or informed of
any request.

Requests for follow-up or directions to staff shall be made through the City Manager or the
City Attorney when appropriate. When in doubt about what staff contact is appropriate,
Council members should ask the City Manager for direction. Materials supplied to a Council
member in response to a request will be made available to all members of the Council so that all
have equal access to information.

Do not disrupt City staff from their jobs. Council members should not disrupt City staff
while they are in meetings, on the phone, or engrossed in performing their job functions
in order to have their individual needs met.

Never publicly criticize an individual employee. Council should never express
concerns about the performance of a City employee in public, to the employee directly,
or to the employee's manager. Comments about staff performance should only be made
to the City Manager through private correspondence or conversation.

Do not get involved in administrative functions. Council members must not attempt
to influence City staff on the making of appointments, awarding of contracts,
selecting of consultants, processing of development applications, or granting of City
licenses and permits. The City Charter, Article III, Section 3.10, also contains
information about the prohibition of Council interference in administrative functions.

Check with City staff on correspondence before taking action. Before sending
correspondence, Council members should check with City staff to see if an official
City response has already been sent or is in progress.

Do not attend meetings with City staff unless requested by staff. Even if the Council
member does not say anything, the Council member's presence implies support, shows

partiality, intimidates staff, and hampers staff's ability to do their job objectively.

8

10E2



Requests for additional staff support —even in high priority or emergency situations -- should be
made to the City Manager who is responsible for allocating City resources in order to maintain a
professional, well-run City government.

10E2



COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH THE PUBLIC

In Public Meetings

Making the public feel welcome is an important part of the democratic process. No signs of
partiality, prejudice or disrespect should be evident on the part of individual Council members
toward an individual participating in a public forum. Every effort should be made to be fair and
impartial in listening to public testimony.

Be welcoming to speakers. Speaking in front of Council can be a difficult experience
for some people. Some issues the Council undertakes may affect people's daily lives
and homes. Some decisions are emotional. The way that Council treats people during
public hearings can do a lot to make them relax or to push their emotions to a higher
level of intensity.

Be fair and equitable in allocating public hearing time to individual speakers. The
Mayor will determine and announce limits on speakers at the start of the public
hearing process. Generally, each speaker will be allocated three-minutes with applicants
and appellants or their designated representatives allowed more time. If many speakers
are anticipated, the Mayor may shorten the time limit and/or ask speakers to limit
themselves to new information and points of view not already covered by previous
speakers.

No speaker will be turned away unless he or she exhibits inappropriate behavior. Each
speaker may only speak once during the public hearing unless the Council requests
additional clarification later in the process. After the close of the public hearing, no
more public testimony will be accepted unless the Mayor reopens the public hearing for a
limited and specific purpose.

Give the appearance of active listening. It is disconcerting to speakers to have
Council members not look at them when they are speaking. It is fine to look down at
documents or to make notes, but reading for a long period of time gazing around the
room gives the appearance of disinterest. Be aware of facial expressions, especially those
that could be interpreted as "smirking," disbelief, anger or boredom.

Ask for clarification, but avoid debate and argument with the public. Only the
Mayor — not individual Council members -- can interrupt a speaker during a
presentation. However, a Council member can ask the Mayor for a point of order if the
speaker is off the topic or exhibiting behavior or language the Council member finds
disturbing.

If speakers become flustered or defensive by Council questions, it is the responsibility
of the Mayor to calm and focus the speaker and to maintain the order and decorum

of the meeting. Questions by Council members to members of the public testifying

10

10E2



should seek to clarify or expand information. It is never appropriate to belligerently
challenge or belittle the speaker. Council members' personal opinions or inclinations
about upcoming votes should not be revealed until after the public hearing is closed.

* No personal attacks of any kind, under any circumstance. Council members should
be aware that their body language and tone of voice, as well as the words they use,
can appear to be intimidating or aggressive.

»  Follow parliamentary procedure in conducting public meetings. The City
Attorney serves as advisory parliamentarian for the City and is available to answer
questions or interpret situations according to parliamentary procedures. Final rulings
on parliamentary procedure are made by the Mayor, subject to the appeal of the full
Council.

In Unofficial Settings

*  Make no promises on behalf of the Council. Council members will frequently be
asked to explain a Council action or to give their opinion about an issue as they
meet and talk with constituents in the community. It is appropriate to give a brief
overview of City policy and to refer to City staff for further information. It
is inappropriate to overtly or implicitly promise Council action, or to promise City staff
will do something specific (fix a pothole, remove a library book, plant new flowers in
the median, etc.).

*  Make no personal comments about other Council members. It is acceptable to
publicly disagree about an issue, but it is unacceptable to make derogatory comments
about other Council members, their opinions and actions.

*  Remember that despiteits population figures, Rifle is a small community at
heart. Council members are constantly being observed by the community every day

that they serve in office. Their behaviors and comments serve as models for proper
behavior in the City of Rifle. Itis a serious and continuous responsibility.

11

10E2



COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH OTHER PUBLIC AGENCIES

»  Be clear about representing the City or personal interests. If a Council member
appears before another governmental agency or organization to give a statement
on an issue, the Council member must clearly state: If his or her statement reflects
personal opinion or is the official stance of the City; whether this is the majority or
minority opinion of the Council. Even if the Council member is representing his or
her own personal opinions, remember that this still may reflect upon the City as an
organization.

If the Council member is representing the City, the Council member must support and
advocate the official City position on an issue, not a personal viewpoint.

If the Council member is representing another organization whose position is different
from the City, the Council member should withdraw from voting on the issue if it
significantly impacts or is detrimental to the City’s interest. Council members should be
clear about which organizations they represent and inform the Mayor and Council of their
involvement.

»  Correspondence also should be equally clear about representation. City letterhead
may be used when the Council member is representing the City and the City's official
position. A copy of official correspondence should be given to the City Clerk to be filed
as part of the permanent public record.

It is best that City letterhead not be used for correspondence of Council members
representing a personal point of view, or a dissenting point of view from an official
Council position.

12

10E2



COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH CITY BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

The City has established several Boards and Commissions as a means of gathering more
community input. Citizens who serve on Boards and Commissions become more involved
in government and serve as advisors to the City Council. They are a valuable resource to the
City's leadership and should be treated with appreciation and respect.

When attending a Board or Commission meeting, only express personal opinions. Council
members may attend any Board or Commission meeting, which are always open to any
member of the public. However, if the Board or Commission is conducting a public hearing,
the Council member shall remove themselves from the proceedings. Council members
should be sensitive to the way their participation — especially if it is on behalf of an individual,
business or developer — could be viewed as unfairly affecting the process. Any public
comments by a Council member at a Board or Commission meeting should be clearly made as
individual opinion and not a representation of the feelings of the entire City Council. Also,
a Council member's presence may affect the conduct of the Board or Commission and limit
their role and function.

» Limit contact with Board and Commission members. It is inappropriate for a Council
member to contact a Board or Commission member to lobby on behalf of an individual,
business, or developer. Council members should contact staft in order to clarify a position
taken by the Board or Commission.

*  Remember that Boards and Commissions serve the community, not individual Council
members. The City Council appoints individuals to serve on Boards and Commissions,
and it is the responsibility of Boards and Commissions to follow policy established by
the Council. But Board and Commission members do not report to individual Council
members, nor should Council members feel they have the power or right to threaten Board
and Commission members with removal if they disagree about an issue. Appointment
and re-appointment to a Board or Commission should be based on such criteria as
expertise, ability to work with staff and the public, and commitment to fulfilling
official duties. A Board or Commission appointment should not be used as a political
"reward."

» Be respectful of diverse opinions. A primary role of Boards and Commissions is to
represent many points of view in the community and to provide the Council with
advice based on a full spectrum of concerns and perspectives. Council members must be
fair and respectful of all citizens serving on Boards and Commissions.

»  Keep political support away from public forums. Board and Commission members may
offer political support to a Council member, but not in a public forum while conducting
official duties. Conversely, Council members may support Board and Commission
members who are running for office, but not in an official forum in their capacity as
a Council member.

13

10E2



COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH THE MEDIA
Council members may be contacted by the media for background and quotes.

* The best advice for dealing with the media is to never go "off the record". Most
members of the media represent the highest levels of journalistic integrity and ethics, and
can be trusted to keep their word. But one bad experience can be catastrophic. Words
that are not said cannot be quoted.

» The Mayor is the official spokesperson. The Mayor is the designated representative of
the Council to present and speak on the official City position. If an individual Council
member is contacted by the media, the Council member should be clear about
whether their comments represent the official City position or a personal viewpoint.

*  Choose words carefully and cautiously. Comments taken out of context can cause
problems. Be especially cautious about humor, sardonic asides, sarcasm, or word play.
It is never appropriate to use personal slurs or swear words when talking with the media.

14

10E2



SANCTIONS

Public Disruption. Members of the public who do not follow proper conduct after a
warning in apublic hearing may be barred from further testimony at that meeting or
removed from the Council Chambers.

Inappropriate Staff Behavior. Council members should refer to the City Manager any
City staff that fail to follow proper conduct in their dealings with Council members, other
City staff, or the public. These employees may be disciplined in accordance with standard
City procedures for such actions.

Council members Behavior and Conduct. City Council members who intentionally and
repeatedly do not follow proper conduct may be reprimanded or formally censured by
the Council. Serious infractions of the Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct could lead
to other sanctions as deemed appropriate by Council.

Council members should point out to the offending Council member infractions of the
Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct. If the offenses continue, then the matter should
be referred to the Mayor in private. If the Mayor is the individual whose actions are
being challenged, then the matter should be referred to the Mayor Pro-Tem.

It is the responsibility of the Mayor to initiate action if a Council member's behavior
may warrant sanction. If no action is taken by the Mayor, the alleged violation(s) can
be brought up with the full Council in a public meeting.

If violation of the Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct is outside of the observed
behaviors by the Mayor or Council members, the alleged violation should be referred to
the Mayor. The Mayor should ask the City Manager and/or the City Attorney to
investigate the allegation and report the findings to the Mayor. It is the Mayor's
responsibility to take the next appropriate action. These actions can include, but are
not limited to: discussing and counseling the individual on the violations;
recommending sanction to the full Council to consider in a public meeting; or
forming a Council ad hoc subcommittee to review the allegation; the investigation
and its findings, as well as to recommend sanction options for Council consideration.

15

10E2



PRINCIPLES OF PROPER CONDUCT
Proper conduct IS ...

* Keeping promises

* Being dependable

* Building a solid reputation

» Participating and being available

» Demonstrating patience

* Showing empathy

* Holding onto ethical principles under stress
» Listening attentively

« Studying thoroughly

« Keeping integrity intact

* Overcoming discouragement

* Going above and beyond, time and time again
* Modeling a professional manner

Proper conduct IS NOT ...
» Showing antagonism or hostility
* Deliberately lying or misleading
+ Speaking recklessly
* Spreading rumors
» Stirring up bad feelings, divisiveness
* Acting in a self-righteous manner

It all comes down to respect

Respect for one another...respect for the validity of different opinions...respect for the
process... respect for the community that we serve.

16

10E2



CHECKLIST FOR MONITORING CONDUCT

»  Will my decision/statement/action violate the trust, rights or good will of others?

+ What are my interior motives and the spirit behind my actions?

» IfI have to justify my conduct in public tomorrow, will I do so with pride or shame?

*  How would my conduct be evaluated by people whose integrity and character 1
respect?

» Even if my conduct is not illegal or unethical, is it done at someone else's painful
expense? Will it destroy their trust in me? Will it harm their reputation?

» Is my conduct fair? Just? Morally right?

» If I were on the receiving end of my conduct, would I approve and agree, or would I
take offense?

* Does my conduct give others reason to trust or distrust me?

* Am I willing to take an ethical stand when it is called for? Am I willing to make my
ethical beliefs public in a way that makes it clear what I stand for?

* Do Iexhibit the same conduct in my private life as I do in my public life?

» Can Itake legitimate pride in the way I conduct myself and the example I set?

» Do Ilisten and understand the views of others?

* Do I question and confront different points of view in a constructive manner?

» Do I work to resolve differences and come to mutual agreement?

+ Do I support others and show respect for their ideas?

*  Will my conduct cause public embarrassment to someone else?

17

10E2



HOW GOVERNING BODY MEMBERS CAN GOVERN BETTER

The following is taken from the Colorado Municipal League, Handbook for Municipal
Elected Officials, and is reprinted from the League of Kansas Municipalities' brochure,
"Suggestions for Successful Public Service"

Governing is clearly more of an art than a science. There are no ultimate answers on how
to govern; different approaches are to be expected, and probably desired. However, there do
seem to be some fundamentals. The suggestions that follow range from practical, common
sense fundamentals to those more philosophic and theoretical. These tips for successful and
effective public service are intended to assist mayors, council members, and board trustees.
While most suggestions relate to individual officers others apply to the governing body as a
whole. These two applications, however, are interdependent - the capacity of a governing
body to govern effectively depends on the collective capacities of at least a majority of its
membership. These suggestions are not in any particular order, and not all are universally
accepted. All of them, however, are worth consideration by anyone who would serve the
public through an elective local office.

L. Learn all you can about your city, its history, its operation, its financing. Do your
homework. Know your city ordinances. Dust off your comprehensive plan.

2. Devote sufficient time to your office and to studying the present and future problems of
your community.

3. Don’t burn yourself out on the little things but recognize that they are often important to
the public. Save some energy - and time - for the important matters.

4, Don’t act as a committee of one; governing a city requires team effort - practically and
legally.
5. Don’t let honest differences of opinion within the governing body degenerate into

personality conflicts.

6. Remember that you represent all the people of your community, not just neighbors and
friends. Be wary of personal experiences coloring your public decisions.

7. Take budget preparation seriously, for it determines what your city does or does not
do for the coming year and will also influence what happens in future years.

8. Establish policy statements. Written policy statements let the public, and the city
staff, know where they stand. They help the governing body govern, and writing
them provides a process to develop consensus.

0. Make decisions on the basis of public policy, and be consistent. Treat similar

18

10E2



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

situations similarly, and avoid favoritism.

Focus your attention on ways to prevent problems, rather than just trying to solve
them as they occur. Filling potholes is one approach to governing; developing plans
to prevent them is more important.

Don’t be misled by the strong demands of special interest groups who want it done now,
their way. Your job is to find the long-term public interest of the community as a
whole, and you may be hearing from the wrong people.

Don't rush to judgment. Few final actions have to be taken at the first meeting at which
they are considered. Avoid "crisis management.”

Don't be afraid of change. Don't be content to just follow the routine of your
predecessors. Charge your appointed officers and employees with being responsible for
new ideas and better ways. Listen to what they have to say.

Don's give quick answers when you are not sure of the real answer. It may be
embarrassing to appear ignorant, but it can be more embarrassing and damaging to tell a
person something which is wrong.

As an individual, even if you are the mayor, don't make promises you can't deliver!
Most decisions and actions require approval of the governing body, and this takes a
majority vote.

Remember that you have legal authority as a governing body member only when the
governing body is in legal session.

Don't spring surprises on your fellow governing body members or city staff, especially
at formal meetings. If a matter is worth bringing up for discussion, it's worth being on
the agenda. Surprises may get you some publicity, at the embarrassment of others, but
they tend to erode the "team" approach to governance.

Participate in official meetings with the dignity and decorum fitting those who hold a
position of public trust. Personal dress and courteous behavior at meetings help create an
environment for making sound public decisions.

Conduct your official public meetings with some formality, and follow rules of
procedure. Have an agenda, and follow it. Most governing body members agree that

formal meetings expedite the process and promote better decision making.

Don't be afraid to ask questions, it is one of the ways we learn. But do your
homework by studying agenda material before meetings.

19

10E2



21.

22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

Vote yes or no on motions. Don't cop out by abstaining except when you have a
conflict of interest. A pass does not relieve you of responsibility when some decision
must be made.

Once a majority decision of the governing body has been made, respect that official
position and defend it if needed, even if you personally disagreed.

Respect the letter and intent of the open meetings law, but also keep private and
confidential matters to yourself. Don't gossip.

Retain competent, key employees, pay them well, trust their professional judgment, and
recognize their authority and responsibilities.

Don't bypass the system! Stick to policy making and avoid personal involvement in
the day-to-day operations of the municipality.

Don't let others bypass the system. Insist that people such as equipment or service
suppliers work with your city staff. If direct contact with governing body members is
necessary, it should be with the governing body as a whole, or a committee, and not
on a one-on-one basis.

Don't pass the buck to the staff or employees when they are following your policies or
decisions.

Don't always take no for an answer. The right question may be "How can we do this?"
instead of "May we do this?" Be positive!

Learn to evaluate recommendations and alterative courses of action. Request that your
staff provide options. Encourage imaginative solutions.

Avoid taking short-term gains at the expense of long-term losses. Be concerned with
the long-term future of the city.

In determining the public interest, balance personal rights and property interests, the
possible harm to a few versus the good of the many. Recognize that in some situations,

everyone can't be a winner.

Remember that cities are for people! Be concerned with the total development -
physical, economic, and social - of your community.

Don't act as if the city operates in a vacuum. Cities must work within the
intergovernmental system to be effective. Keep in contact and cooperate with your
federal, state, county, and school officials.

20

10E2



34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44,

45,

46.

47.

Know your neighbors. Get to know the officials of neighboring and similar size cities.
Visit other cities, particularly those with a reputation of being well run.

Learn to listen- really listen- to your fellow governing body members and the public.
Hear what they are trying to say, not just the words spoken.

Keep your constituents informed, and encourage citizen participation.
Be friendly and deal effectively with the news media. Make sure what you say is what
you mean. Lack of good communication, with the media and the public, can be a major

problem for municipal officials.

Remember that what you say, privately and publicly, will often be news. You live in
a glass house. Avoid over-publicizing minor problems.

Expect, and respect, citizen complaints. Make sure that your governing body
members and your city have a way to deal effectively with them. Have a follow- up

System.

Be careful about rumors. Check them out. Help squelch them when you know they
are false.

Appoint citizen advisory committees and task forces when you need them, but be
prepared to follow their advice if you use them.

Take care in your appointments to boards and commissions. Make sure they are willing
and capable as well as representative of the whole community.

Seek help. Use manuals, guides, and other technical assistance and information
available from the Colorado Municipal League and other agencies. Attend workshops
and conferences put on for the benefit of you and your city.

Pace yourself. Limit the number of meetings you attend. Set some priorities,
including the need to spend time with your family. Recognize that life- and the city - is

dependent on a lot of things you have little control over.

Establish some personal goals and objectives. What do you want to help accomplish this
year? Next year?

Help develop some short-term and long-term goals and objectives for your city, and
check your progress at least every six months.

Similarly, help your city develop a vision of the future.

21

10E2



48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

Focus on the future, and try to leave your city better than that which you inherited as a
city officer.

Be a leader, as well as part of the team of elected and appointed officials who were
selected to make your city an even better place to live.

At least once a year, schedule a governing body discussion about how you are
governing. Review the processes and procedures. Sit back and ask, "How are we doing
and can we do things better?"

Be enthusiastic about your public service and the privilege you have, and let the public
know it. But maintain your sense of humor. Don't take yourself or the business of
government so seriously that you don't enjoy it. Governing should be fun as well as
a rewarding experience.

Celebrate! Always focusing on problems and issues may lead you, the governing body,
and the public, to believe that nothing positive ever happens. Good things do happen.
Let the public share your successes.

22

10E2



Edina City Council — Code of Conduct

Contents
INEFOAUCEOIY PIEAZE «oeei ittt et e e e e st e e e b et e e sab b et e e b b e e e e bbee e e s bbaeaesbbeaesbaeeeesraeaeessres

Compliance and ENfOrCEMENT........couiii e e e et e e st e e e e r bt ee e e be e e te e e e eanreeaenbaeas
(0o Y0 Y11V V71 o 1 o = I L PP
Roles of Council, STaff aNd COMMISSIONS ..v.vviiiiiiiiiie oottt et s es et e s et st s e s bbb e ee et e bereereereesaeesaessessesenss
WOTKING WITH STaTT .oeriiiiiii et e ettt e e s e s s tb e s e s se bbbt e betee st stbbtesssessrtnrtranees
Working With Boards/COomMMISSIONS .......c.ciiiiviiiie i iiieeite e iteestre s sre s e te st e b e b e seeesra et e sbbeebeeseaesreesreanaeasessns
Working With the COMMUNITY .....coui i ettt et e eesbessee s ee e sne s b ens

INtergovernMENtal REIGLIONS ..........oi et e e s et e e e e s te e s te e e se s e seeasteessaeeareeessenanns

10E2



Introductory Pledge

Edina residents and businesses deserve a fair, ethical and accountable local government which earns the
public’s full confidence for integrity. Recognizing these goals, the Code of Conduct is established for all elected
officials of the City of Edina. As a member of the Edina City Council | agree to uphold the Introductory Pledge
for elected officials adopted by the City Council and conduct myself by the following model of behavior. | will:
e Comply with the law, including
o Staying within the City Council’s authority
o Following the open meeting, gift, and conflict of interest laws
e Respect City Council roles and responsibilities when working with staff, Boards and Commissions
s Be consistent in policy and respect process
e Fulfill the Council’s fiduciary responsibility to act in the best interest of the City, and all of its residents,
both financially and legally by:
o keeping the common good as the highest purpose to focus on achieving constructive solutions
for the public benefit
o hot disclosing private or confidential information of the City, or using that information to
advance personal interests
o protecting City interests and liability by following advice of legal counsel

‘Compliance and Enforcement

The Code of Conduct expresses standards of ethical conduct expected for members of the Edina City Council.
Members themselves have the primary responsibility to assure the public that ethical standards are
understood and met, and that the public can continue to have full confidence in the integrity of government.

We will hold ourselves and each other accountable and when there is a suspected violation of the law, we will
discuss with the City Manager.

Comply with the Law

Members shall comply with the applicable federal laws, state laws, and city ordinances in the performance of
their public duties.

Authority
In statutory cities, powers are granted to the Council as a whole, and not to individual members.

Mayoral Role

According to MIN Statute 412.191 the Mayor is a full member of the council in addition to:
e Act as presiding officer of meetings (Subd. 2)
s Represent the City ceremoniously
e Execute official documents (Subd. 4)

Open Meeting Law (OML)

Public deliberations and processes shall be conducted openly and in a transparent manner. The Minnesota
Open Meeting Law (Chapter 13D) requires that meetings of governmental bodies generally be open to the
public in order to:

10E2



e Prohibit actions being taken at a secret meeting where it is impossible for the interested public to
become fully informed about a public board’s decisions or to detect improper influences
e Assure the public’s right to be informed and observe public meetings
The Minnesota Supreme Court has noted that meetings of less than a quorum of a public body held serially to

avoid a public meeting or to fashion agreement on an issue of public business may violate the open meeting
law.

Gift/Donations
Gifts from Interested Persons: Under MN Statute 471.895, Council Members may not receive gifts from any
“interested person” in conjunction with their City Council duties.

e A “gift” is defined as money, real or personal property, a service, loan, a forbearance or forgiveness of
debt, or a promise of future employment, that is given and received without the giver receiving
something of equal or greater value in return

o "Interested person" means a person or a representative of a person or association that has a direct
financial interest in a decision that a local official is authorized to make

o Virtually every resident or person doing business in the City could have a direct financial
interest in a decision

e See statute for exemptions

Gifts to the City: Council Members can recommend acceptance of general gifts through the City’s donation
policy. All gifts to the city must be accepted by City Council resolution.

Logo
Members shall not use the City’s name or logo for the purpose of endorsing any political candidate or business.

Conflict of Interest

Conflict of interest is when any member who has a “financial interest” in, or who may receive a financial
benefit as a result of, any action or if there is potential for the appearance of conflict of interest. Questions
about a potential conflict of interest shall be discussed with the City Manager.

Contractual Conflict of interest: (MN Statute 471.87, with exceptions in MN Statutes 123B.195 and 471.88) A
public officer who is authorized to take part in any manner in making any sale, lease, or contract in official
capacity shall not voluntarily have a personal financial interest in that sale, lease, or contract or personally
benefit financially therefrom.

Non-contractual Conflict of interest: Non-contractual matters may include such things as Council decisions on
zoning, local improvements, and the issuance of licenses. Although not generally prohibited by state law, an
interested Council Member most likely should abstain from participating in the council discussion and from
voting on these issues.

Members who have a potential conflict of interest shall:
e Disclose the conflict of interest to the group, and
e Abstain from the Council discussion debate and vote

Roles of Council, Staff and Commissions

We are all part of a team committed to the residents of Edina both today and in the future. To be effective we
must come to meetings with an open mind, think strategically about City issues and delegate details of
implementations to staff. We will strive to maintain a culture of trust, respect and candor as a Council and
when working with staff and Boards/Commissions.

10E2



10E2



City Council Members promise City Staff they will:

e Respect staff as valued resources and members of our team

e Support the maintenance of a positive and constructive workplace environment for City employees
where individual members, City staff and the public are free to express their ideas and work to their
full potential

e Provide direction to the City Manager as a body and not direct the work of individual staff

e Encourage staff to focus on the big picture in reports

e  When possible, notify the City Manager in advance of a Council Meeting of questions or requests to
pull agenda items from the consent agenda so the appropriate staff can compile the information
needed

e Agree that information they ask of the City Manager will be shared equally with all Council Members

e Copy the City Manager on all communications with staff, including questions

Working with Boards/Commissions
As set forth in the Edina City Code Chapter 2 Article Ill, Edina’s Boards and Commissions are established by the
City Council and serve as advisory to the council. Specific Board and Commission roles are:
e Investigate matters within the scope of the Commission or as specifically directed by the council
e Advise the Council by communicating the viewpoint or advice of the Commission
e At the direction of the Council, hold hearings, receive evidence, conduct investigations, and, based on
such hearings, evidence and investigations, make decisions and recommendations to the council

City Council Members promise Boards and Commissions they will:
e View Boards and Commissions as vitally important resources to support our decision-making
e Communicate effectively with Boards and Commissions to ensure they have the tools to do their work
e Give clear direction as a body and take adequate time to review the result of their deliberations
e Because of the value of the independent advice of boards, commissions, and task forces to the public
decision-making process, members of Council shall refrain from using their position to influence the
deliberations or outcomes of board, commission, and task force proceedings
e The expectation is that Council Members will not typically attend Board, Commission, Committee,
Working Group or Task Force meetings. However, under special circumstances, if we attend a meeting:
o We will do so only as an observer and prior to attending we will notify the appropriate staff
liaison
o Strive for good communication by reporting out to other Council Members

Working with The Community

Residents: City staff is the first call for help for residents. We will refer residents who have concerns to the City
Manager. If a resident has contacted the City Manager but is still not satisfied, we will discuss with the City
Manager. We acknowledge if a resident receives conflicting information from different City Council Members
or staff that is difficult for the resident and could increase liability for the City.

Businesses or other interests: The purpose of a City Council meeting is to discuss information needed to
decide, review that information, and decide. it is hot feasible to conduct all business in a public meeting.
Particularly around development, business interests might ask a member to meet outside of the City Council
meeting to facilitate idea generation about proposals.

The City Council’s overarching principles for working the community are:
e Never grant any special consideration, treatment, or advantage
e Respect sensitivity of personal information

10E2



e Honor our rules regarding public testimony and clearly communicate the rules

e Make ourselves available to all parties on an equal basis and not advocate for a certain point of view

e Be cautious about how we participate in meetings or events and not prejudge the issue before the
Council has had a chance to deliberate

Meetings requested by residents or businesses:

1. AFTER DECISION: If we are invited to a meeting about an issue the Council has decided upon, we will
explain how the Council arrived at the decision.

2. DURING DECISION: If we are invited to a meeting about an issue that will be before the Council in the
future, we will uphold the above principles for working with the community, and:

a. We will not make our decision about an issue before the city council until the process allows.
b. We will be sensitive to the fact that we are not hearing everyone, and we will give equal
consideration to all feedback regardless of the way it is received.

3. DURING SPECIFIED ENGAGEMENT PROCESS: If we meet with a resident during a planned engagement
process, we will notify the resident that we are there to listen and encourage them to participate
through the established process to engage. We will ensure that staff received the feedback provided to
us.

Intergovernmental Relations

Members shall represent positions approved by the City Council to the best of their ability when working with:
e Legislative bodies
e Federal or state agencies
e Other local governments, such as School Boards or Counties
if an individual Council Member’s opinion differs from the City position, or a matter agreed upon by the full
Council, Members shall explicitly state they do not represent their City Council or the City of Edina, nor will
they allow the inference that they do.

10E2



CODE OF CONDUCT FOR
ELECTED OFFICIALS

Adopted by City Council
Resolution No. 15-2004

March 2, 2004

10E2



City of Evans Code of Conduct
for Elected Officials

The Three Rs of Evans Government Leadership:
Roles, Responsibilities and Respect

The City Charter provides detailed information on the roles and responsibilities of Council
members, the Mayor Pro-Tem, and the Mayor. The City’s Code of Ethics provides guidance on
ethical issues and questions of right and wrong. Until now, what has not been clearly written
down is a Code of Conduct for Evans’ elected officials.

This Code of Conduct is designed to describe the manner in which Council members should treat
one another, city staff, constituents, and others they come into contact with in representing the
City of Evans. It reflects the work of the City Council with defining more clearly the behavior,
manners, and courtesies that are suitable for various occasions. The City Council also
considered a wide variety of policy changes and clarifications designed to make public meetings
and the process of governance run more smoothly.

[The contents of this Code of Conduct includes: Page

= How overning Body Members Can (Govern Better 13

The constant and consistent theme through all of the conduct guidelines is "respect." Council
members experience stress in making decisions that impact the lives of the citizens. At times,
the impacts of the entire community must be weighed against the impact of only a few. Despite
these pressures, elected officials are called upon to exhibit appropriate behavior at all times.
Demonstrating respect for each individual through words and actions is the touchstone that can
help guide Council members to do the right thing in even the most difficult situations.

10E2



Overview of Roles & Responsibilities

Other resources that are helpful in defining the roles and responsibilities of elected officials can
be found in the Evans City Charter, Evans Municipal Code and in the Handbook for Municipal
Elected Officials, published by the Colorado Municipal League.

MAYOR

e FElected “at-large” for a two year term (Evans City Charter, Section 3.4)

e Recognized as head of the City Government for all ceremonial purposes (Evans City
Charter, Section 3.9)

e Preside over meetings of the City Council (Evans City Charter, Section 3.9)

e Has same speaking and voting rights as any other member (Evans City Charter,
Section 3.9)

o Shall in no case have the power to veto (Evans City Charter, Section 3.9)

e Executes and authenticates legal instruments requiring signature (Evans City Charter,
Section 3.9)

o Shall be the conservator of peace, and in emergencies may exercise within the City the
powers conferred by the Governor of the State of Colorado for purposes of military law,
and shall have the authority to command the assistance of all able-bodied citizens to aid
in the enforcement of the ordinances of the City and to suppress riot and disorder (Evans
City Charter, Section 3.9)

e Leads the Council into an effective, cohesive working team.

MAYOR PRO-TEM

e Flected by the City Council at the first meeting following their election (Evans City
Charter, Section 3.9)

e Performs the duties of the Mayor if the Mayor is absent or disabled (Evans City Charter,
Section 3.9)

ALL COUNCILMEMBERS

All members of the City Council, including the Mayor and Mayor Pro-Tem, have equal votes.
No Councilmember has more power than any other Councilmember, and all should be treated
with equal respect.

All Council members should:

» Fully participate in City Council meetings and other public forums while demonstrating
respect, kindness, consideration, and courtesy to others

» Prepare in advance of meetings and be familiar with issues on the agenda

* Represent the City at ceremonial functions at the request of the Mayor

» Be respectful of other people’s time. Stay focused and act efficiently during public meetings.

10E2



» Serve as a model of leadership and civility to the community

* Inspire public confidence in Evans government

» Provide contact information with the City Clerk in case of an emergency or an urgent
situation arises while the Councilmember is out of town

* Demonstrate honesty and integrity in every action and statement

» Participate in scheduled activities

Policies & Protocol Related To Conduct

Ceremonial Events

Requests for a City representative at ceremonial events will be handled by City staff. The Mayor
will serve as the designated City representative. If the Mayor is unavailable, then City staff will
determine if event organizers would like another representative from the Council. If yes, then
the Mayor Pro-Tem will be recommended to serve as the substitute. Invitations received at City
Hall are presumed to be for official City representation. Invitations addressed to Council
members at their homes are presumed to be for unofficial, personal consideration.

Correspondence Signatures

Council members do not need to acknowledge the receipt of correspondence, or copies of
correspondence, during Council meetings. City staff will prepare official letters in response to
public inquiries and concerns. These letters will carry the signature of the Mayor or the
appropriate City staff. If correspondence is addressed only to one Councilmember, that
correspondence will be shared with the rest of the Council.

Endorsement of Candidates

Council members have the right to endorse candidates for all Council seats or other elected
offices. It is inappropriate to mention endorsements during Council meetings or other official
City meetings or functions.

Intergovernmental Relations

The Council values intergovernmental relations with neighboring communities and other entities.
As a result, Council menbers should make a concerted effort to attend scheduled meetings with
other entities to further promote intergovernmental relations.

Legislative Process
The City generally follows Roberts Rule of Order for meeting management.

Public Meeting Hearing Protocol

The Mayor will open the public hearing. Staff will make the initial presentation. The applicant
or appellant shall have the right to speak first. The Mayor will determine the length of time
allowed for this presentation. Speakers representing pro points of view will be allowed to follow.
Speakers representing opposing points of view will then follow. The Mayor will determine how
much time will be allowed for each speaker, with 3 to 5 minutes the standard time granted. The
Mayor will then ask the Council if any issues need clarification before the public hearing is

10E2



closed. The Mayor has the responsibility to run an efficient public meeting and has the
discretion to modify the public hearing process in order to make the meeting run smoothly.
Council members will not express opinions during the public hearing portion of the meeting
except to ask pertinent questions of the speaker or staff. "I think" and "I feel" comments by
Council members are not appropriate until after the close of the public hearing. Council members
should refrain from arguing or debating with the public during a public hearing and shall always
show respect for different points of view.

Main motions may be followed by amendments, followed by substitute motions. Any
Councilmember can call for a point of order. Only Council members who voted on the
prevailing side may make motions to reconsider.

Travel Expenses

The purpose of this regulation is to establish the policies and procedures for Council members
who travel on official City business either in-state or out-of-state. Such travel shall include
attendance at conferences, seminars, and training sessions on behalf of the City. The City shall
pay reasonable expenses for registration fees, lodging, meals, transportation, and all allowable
miscellaneous expenses for the Council member only. All travel expenses will be handled in the
same manner and consistent with the provisions within the City’s Employee Handbook.

Council Conduct with One Another

Councils are composed of individuals with a wide variety of backgrounds, personalities, values,
opinions, and goals. Despite this diversity, all have chosen to serve in public office in order to
preserve and protect the present and the future of the community. In all cases, this common goal
should be acknowledged even as Council may "agree to disagree" on contentious issues.

IN PUBLIC MEETINGS

* Practice civility, professionalism and decorum in discussions and debate

Difficult questions, tough challenges to a particular point of view, and criticism of ideas and
information are legitimate elements of a free democracy in action. This does not allow, however,
Council members to make belligerent, personal, impertinent, slanderous, threatening, abusive, or
disparaging comments. No shouting or physical actions that could be construed as threatening
will be tolerated. Council members should conduct themselves in a professional manner at all
times, including dress.

* Honor the role of the Mayor in maintaining order

It is the responsibility of the Mayor to keep the comments of Council members on track during
public meetings. Council members should honor efforts by the Mayor to focus discussion on
current agenda items. If there is disagreement about the agenda or the Mayor’s actions, those
objections should be voiced politely and with reason, following procedures outlined in
parliamentary procedure.

4
10E2



* Avoid personal comments that could offend other Council members

If a Councilmember is personally offended by the remarks of another Councilmember, the
offended Councilmember should make notes of the actual words used and call for a "point of
personal privilege" that challenges the other Councilmember to justify or apologize for the
language used. The Mayor will maintain control of this discussion.

* Demonstrate effective problem-solving approaches
Council members have a public stage to show how individuals with disparate points of view can
find common ground and seek a compromise that benefits the community as a whole.

* Be punctual and keep comments relative to topics discussed

Council members have made a commitment to attend meetings and partake in discussions.
Therefore, it is important that Council members be punctual and that meetings start on time. It is
equally important that discussions on issues be relative to the topic at hand to allow adequate
time to fully discussed scheduled issues.

IN PRIVATE ENCOUNTERS

 Continue respectful behavior in private
The same level of respect and consideration of differing points of view that is deemed
appropriate for public discussions should be maintained in private conversations.

* Be aware of the insecurity of written notes, voicemail messages, and e-mail

Technology allows words written or said without much forethought to be distributed wide and
far. Would you feel comfortable to have this note faxed to others? How would you feel if this
voicemail message was played on a speaker phone in a full office? What would happen if this e-
mail message was forwarded to others? Written notes, voicemail messages and e-mail should be
treated as potentially "public" communication.

* Even private conversations can have a public presence

Elected officials are always on display — their actions, mannerisms, and language are monitored
by people around them that they may not know. Lunch table conversations will be eavesdropped
upon, parking lot debates will be watched, and casual comments between individuals before and
after public meetings noted.

Council Conduct with City Staff

Governance of a City relies on the cooperative efforts of elected officials, who set policy, and
City staff, who implement and administer the Council’s policies. Therefore, every effort should
be made to be cooperative and show mutual respect for the contributions made by each
individual for the good of the community.

* Treat all staff as professionals

Clear, honest communication that respects the abilities, experience, and dignity of each
individual is expected. Poor behavior towards staff is not acceptable.

10E2



* Limit contact to specific City staff

Questions of City staff and/or requests for additional background information should be directed
to the City Manager, City Attorney, or Department Heads. The City Manager should be copied
on or informed of any request.

Requests for follow-up or directions to staff should be made only through the City Manager or
the City Attorney when appropriate. When in doubt about what staff contact is appropriate,
Council members should ask the City Manger for direction. Materials supplied to a
Councilmember in response to a request will be made available to all members of the Council so
that all have equal access to information.

* Do not disrupt City staff from their jobs
Council members should not disrupt City staff while they are in meetings, on the phone, or
engrossed in performing their job functions in order to have their individual needs met.

* Never publicly criticize an individual employee

Council should never express concerns about the performance of a City employee in public, to
the employee directly, or to the employee’s manager. Comments about staff performance should
only be made to the City Manager through private correspondence or conversation.

* Do not get involved in administrative functions

Council members must not attempt to influence City staff on the making of appointments,
awarding of contracts, selecting of consultants, processing of development applications, or
granting of City licenses and permits. The Evans City Charter, Section 4.6, also contains
information about the prohibition of Council interference in administrative functions.

* Check with City staff on correspondence before taking action
Before sending correspondence, Council members should check with City staff to see if an
official City response has already been sent or is in progress.

* Do not attend meetings with City staff unless requested by staff.
Even if the Councilmember does not say anything, the Councilmember’s presence implies
support, shows partiality, intimidates staff, and hampers staff’s ability to do their job objectively.

* Limit requests for staff support
All mail for Council members is opened by the City Clerk. Mail addressed to the Mayor is
reviewed first by the City Manager who notes suggested action and/or follow-up items.

Requests for additional staff support — even in high priority or emergency situations -- should be
made to the City Manager who is responsible for allocating City resources in order to maintain a
professional, well-run City government.

* Do not solicit political support from staff

Council members should not solicit any type of political support (financial contributions, display
of posters or lawn signs, name on support list, etc.) from City staff. City staff may, as private
citizens with constitutional rights, support political candidates but all such activities must be
done away from the workplace.

10E2



Council Conduct with the Public

IN PUBLIC MEETINGS

Making the public feel welcome is an important part of the democratic process. No signs of
partiality, prejudice or disrespect should be evident on the part of individual Council members
toward an individual participating in a public forum. Every effort should be made to be fair and
impartial in listening to public testimony.

* Be welcoming to speakers and treat them with care and gentleness

Speaking in front of Council can be a difficult experience for some people. Some issues the
Council undertakes may affect people’s daily lives and homes. Some decisions are emotional.
The way that Council treats people during public hearings can do a lot to make them relax or to
push their emotions to a higher level of intensity.

* Be fair and equitable in allocating public hearing time to individual speakers

The Mayor will determine and announce limits on speakers at the start of the public hearing
process. Generally, each speaker will be allocated three-minutes with applicants and appellants
or their designated representatives allowed more time. If many speakers are anticipated, the
Mayor may shorten the time limit and/or ask speakers to limit themselves to new information
and points of view not already covered by previous speakers.

No speaker will be turned away unless he or she exhibits inappropriate behavior. Each speaker
may only speak once during the public hearing unless the Council requests additional
clarification later in the process. After the close of the public hearing, no more public testimony
will be accepted unless the Mayor reopens the public hearing for a limited and specific purpose.

» Give the appearance of active listening

It is disconcerting to speakers to have Council members not look at them when they are
speaking. It is fine to look down at documents or to make notes, but reading for a long period of
time gazing around the room gives the appearance of disinterest. Be aware of facial expressions,
especially those that could be interpreted as "smirking," disbelief, anger or boredom.

* Ask for clarification, but aveid debate and argument with the public

Only the Mayor — not individual Council members -- can interrupt a speaker during a
presentation. However, a Councilmember can ask the Mayor for a point of order if the speaker is
off the topic or exhibiting behavior or language the Councilmember finds disturbing.

If speakers become flustered or defensive by Council questions, it is the responsibility of the
Mayor to calm and focus the speaker and to maintain the order and decorum of the meeting.
Questions by Council members to members of the public testifying should seek to clarify or
expand information. It is never appropriate to belligerently challenge or belittle the speaker.
Council members’ personal opinions or inclinations about upcoming votes should not be
revealed until after the public hearing is closed.

* No personal attacks of any kind, under any circumstance

Council members should be aware that their body language and tone of voice, as well as the
words they use, can appear to be intimidating or aggressive.

10E2



* Follow parliamentary procedure in conducting public meetings

The City Attorney serves as advisory parliamentarian for the City and is available to answer
questions or interpret situations according to parliamentary procedures. Final rulings on
parliamentary procedure are made by the Mayor, subject to the appeal of the full Council.

IN UNOFFICIAL SETTINGS

* Make no promises on behalf of the Council

Council members will frequently be asked to explain a Council action or to give their opinion
about an issue as they meet and talk with constituents in the community. It is appropriate to give
a brief overview of City policy and to refer to City staff for further information. It is
inappropriate to overtly or implicitly promise Council action, or to promise City staff will do
something specific (fix a pothole, remove a library book, plant new flowers in the median, etc.).

* Make no personal comments about other Council members

It is acceptable to publicly disagree about an issue, but it is unacceptable to make derogatory
comments about other Council members, their opinions and actions.

* Remember that despite its impressive population figures, Evans is a small community at
heart

Council members are constantly being observed by the community every day that they serve in
office. Their behaviors and comments serve as models for proper deportment in the City of
Evans. Honesty and respect for the dignity of each individual should be reflected in every word
and action taken by Council members, 24 hours a day, seven days a week. It is a serious and
continuous responsibility.

Council Conduct with Other Public Agencies

* Be clear about representing the City or personal interests
If a Councilmember appears before another governmental agency or organization to give a
statement on an issue, the Councilmember must clearly state:

1) ifhis or her statement reflects personal opinion or is the official stance of the City;

2) whether this is the majority or minority opinion of the Council. Even if the
Councilmember is representing his or her own personal opinions, remember that this
still may reflect upon the City as an organization.

If the Councilmember is representing the City, the Councilmember must support and advocate
the official City position on an issue, not a personal viewpoint.

If the Councilmember is representing another organization whose position is different from the
City, the Councilmember should withdraw from voting on the issue if it significantly impacts or
is detrimental to the City’s interest. Council members should be clear about which organizations
they represent and inform the Mayor and Council of their involvement.

10E2



» Correspondence also should be equally clear about representation

City letterhead may be used when the Councilmember is representing the City and the City’s
official position. A copy of official correspondence should be given to the City Clerk to be filed
as part of the permanent public record.

It is best that City letterhead not be used for correspondence of Council members representing a
personal point of view, or a dissenting point of view from an official Council position.

Council Conduct With Boards and Commissions

The City has established several Boards and Commissions as a means of gathering more
community input. Citizens who serve on Boards and Commissions become more involved in
government and serve as advisors to the City Council. They are a valuable resource to the City’s
leadership and should be treated with appreciation and respect.

« If attending a Board or Commission meeting, be careful to only express personal opinions
Council members may attend any Board or Commission meeting, which are always open to any
member of the public. However, if the Board or Commission is conducting a public hearing, the
Councilmember shall remove themselves from the proceedings. Council members should be
sensitive to the way their participation — especially if it is on behalf of an individual, business or
developer -- could be viewed as unfairly affecting the process. Any public comments by a
Councilmember at a Board or Commission meeting should be clearly made as individual opinion
and not a representation of the feelings of the entire City Council. Also, a Councilmember’s
presence may affect the conduct of the Board or Commission and limit their role and function.

 Limit contact with Board and Commission members

It is inappropriate for a Councilmember to contact a Board or Commission member to lobby on
behalf of an individual, business, or developer. Council members should contact staff in order to
clarify a position taken by the Board or Commission.

* Remember that Boards and Commissions serve the community, not individual
Council members

The City Council appoints individuals to serve on Boards and Commissions, and it is the
responsibility of Boards and Commissions to follow policy established by the Council. But
Board and Commission members do not report to individual Council members, nor should
Council members feel they have the power or right to threaten Board and Commission members
with removal if they disagree about an issue. Appointment and re-appointment to a Board or
Commission should be based on such criteria as expertise, ability to work with staff and the
public, and commitment to fulfilling official duties. A Board or Commission appointment
should not be used as a political "reward."

*Be respectful of diverse opinions

A primary role of Boards and Commissions is to represent many points of view in the
community and to provide the Council with advice based on a full spectrum of concerns and
perspectives. Councilmembers must be fair and respectful of all citizens serving on Boards and
Commissions.

10E2



* Keep political support away from public forums

Board and Commission members may offer political support to a Councilmember, but not in a
public forum while conducting official duties. Conversely, Council members may support Board
and Commission members who are running for office, but not in an official forum in their
capacity as a Councilmember.

* Inappropriate behavior can lead to removal

Inappropriate behavior by a Board or Commission member should be noted to the Mayor, and
the Mayor should counsel the offending member. If inappropriate behavior continues, the Mayor
should bring the situation to the attention of the Council and the individual is subject to removal
from the Board or Commission.

Council Conduct with The Media

Council members may be contacted by the media for background and quotes.

* The best advice for dealing with the media is to never go "off the record"

Most members of the media represent the highest levels of journalistic integrity and ethics, and
can be trusted to keep their word. But one bad experience can be catastrophic. Words that are
not said cannot be quoted.

» The Mayor is the official spokesperson for the representative on City position.

The Mayor is the designated representative of the Council to present and speak on the official
City position. If an individual Councilmember is contacted by the media, the Councilmember
should be clear about whether their comments represent the official City position or a personal
viewpoint.

* Choose words carefully and cautiously

Comments taken out of context can cause problems. Be especially cautious about humor,
sardonic asides, sarcasm, or word play. It is never appropriate to use personal slurs or swear
words when talking with the media.

Sanctions

* Public Disruption
Members of the public who do not follow proper conduct after a warning in a public hearing may
be barred from further testimony at that meeting or removed from the Council Chambers.

* Inappropriate Staff Behavior

Council members should refer to the City Manager any City staff who do not follow proper
conduct in their dealings with Council members, other City staff, or the public. These employees
may be disciplined in accordance with standard City procedures for such actions.

10
10E2



* Council members Behavior and Conduct

City Council members who intentionally and repeatedly do not follow proper conduct may be
reprimanded or formally censured by the Council. Serious infractions of the Code of Ethics or
Code of Conduct could lead to other sanctions as deemed appropriate by Council.

Council members should point out to the offending Councilmember infractions of the Code of
Ethics or Code of Conduct. If the offenses continue, then the matter should be referred to the
Mayor in private. If the Mayor is the individual whose actions are being challenged, then the
matter should be referred to the Mayor Pro-Tem.

It is the responsibility of the Mayor to initiate action if a Councilmember’s behavior may warrant
sanction. If no action is taken by the Mayor, the alleged violation(s) can be brought up with the
full Council in a public meeting.

If violation of the Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct is outside of the observed behaviors by the
Mayor or Council members, the alleged violation should be referred to the Mayor. The Mayor
should ask the City Manager and/or the City Attorney to investigate the allegation and report the
findings to the Mayor. It is the Mayor’s responsibility to take the next appropriate action. These
actions can include, but are not limited to: discussing and counseling the individual on the
violations; recommending sanction to the full Council to consider in a public meeting; or
forming a Council ad hoc subcommittee to review the allegation; the investigation and its
findings, as well as to recommend sanction options for Council consideration.

Principles of Proper Conduct

Proper conduct IS ...

Keeping promises

Being dependable

Building a solid reputation

Participating and being available
Demonstrating patience

Showing empathy

Holding onto ethical principles under stress
Listening attentively

Studying thoroughly

Keeping integrity intact

Overcoming discouragement

Going above and beyond, time and time again
Modeling a professional manner

0O 0O 0O 0O 0O 0O 0O OO0 0O 0O 0 O

11

10E2



Proper conduct IS NOT ...

o Showing antagonism or hostility

o Deliberately lying or misleading

e Speaking recklessly

e Spreading rumors

o Stirring up bad feelings, divisiveness
e Acting in a self-righteous manner

It all comes down to respect

Respect for one another as individuals . . . respect for the validity of different opinions . . .
respect for the democratic process . . . respect for the community that we serve.

Checklist for Monitoring Conduct

« Will my decision/statement/action violate the trust, rights or good will of others?

e What are my interior motives and the spirit behind my actions?

o If I have to justify my conduct in public tomorrow, will I do so with pride or shame?

« How would my conduct be evaluated by people whose integrity and character I respect?

« Even if my conduct is not illegal or unethical, is it done at someone else’s painful
expense? Will it destroy their trust in me? Will it harm their reputation?

o Is my conduct fair? Just? Morally right?

e IfI were on the receiving end of my conduct, would I approve and agree, or would I take
offense?

e Does my conduct give others reason to trust or distrust me?

e Am I willing to take an ethical stand when it is called for? Am I willing to make my
ethical beliefs public in a way that makes it clear what I stand for?

o Do I exhibit the same conduct in my private life as I do in my public life?

e Can I take legitimate pride in the way I conduct myself and the example I set?

o Do I listen and understand the views of others?

e Do question and confront different points of view in a constructive manner?

e Do I work to resolve differences and come to mutual agreement?

e Do I support others and show respect for their ideas?

e Will my conduct cause public embarrassment to someone else?

10E2



How Governing Body Members Can Govern Better

The following items are taken from the Colorado Municipal League, Handbook for Municipal
Elected Officials, and is reprinted from the League of Kansas Municipalities’ brochure,
“Suggestions for Successful Public Service”

Governing is clearly more of an art than a science. There are no ultimate answers on how to
govern; different approaches are to be expected, and probably desired. However, there do seem
to be some fundamentals. The suggestions that follow range from practical, common sense
fundamentals to those more philosophic and theoretical. These tips for successful and effective
public service are intended to assist mayors, council members, and board trustees. While most
suggestions relate to individual officers others apply to the governing body as a whole. These
two applications, however, are interdependent - the capacity of a governing body to govern
effectively is dependent on the collective capacities of at least a majority of its membership.
These suggestions are not in any priority order, and not all are universally accepted. All of them,
however, are worth consideration by anyone who would serve the public through an elective
local office.

1. Learn all you can about your city, its history, its operation, its financing. Do your
homework. Know your city ordinances. Dust off your comprehensive plan.

2. Devote sufficient time to your office and to studying the present and future
problems of your community.

3. Don’t bum yourself out on the little things but recognize that they are often
important to the public. Save some energy - and time - for the important matters.

4, Don’t act as a committee of one; governing a city requires team effort - practically
and legally.

5. Don’t let honest differences of opinion within the governing body degenerate into
personality conflicts.

6. Remember that you represent all the people of your community, not just
neighbors and friends. Be wary of personal experiences coloring your public
decisions.

7. Take your budget preparation job seriously, for it determines what your city does
or does not do for the coming year and will also influence what happens in future
years.

8. Establish policy statements. Written policy statements let the public, and the city

staff, know where they stand. They help the governing body govern, and writing
them provides a process to develop consensus.

9. Make decisions on the basis of public policy, and be consistent. Treat similar
situations similarly, and avoid favoritism.

10.  Focus your attention on ways to prevent problems, rather than just trying to solve
them as they occur. Filling potholes is one approach to governing; developing
plans to prevent them is more important.

13
10E2



11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24,

25.

Don’t be misled by the strong demands of special interest groups who want it
done now, their way. Your job is to find the long-term public interest of the
community as a whole, and you may be hearing from the wrong people.

Don’t rush to judgment. Few final actions have to be taken at the first meeting at
which they are considered. Avoid “crisis management.”

Don’t be afraid of change. Don’t be content to just follow the routine of your
predecessors.  Charge your appointed officers and employees with being
responsible for new ideas and better ways. Listen to what they have to say.

Don’s give quick answers when you are not sure of the real answer. It may be
embarrassing to appear ignorant, but it can be more embarrassing, and damaging,
to tell a person something which is wrong.

As an individual, even if you are the mayor, don’t make promises you can’t
deliver! Most decisions and actions require approval of the governing body, and
this takes a majority vote.

Remember that you have legal authority as a governing body member only when
the governing body is in legal session.

Don’t spring surprises on your fellow governing body members or your city staff,
especially at formal meetings. If a matter is worth bringing up for discussion, it’s
worth being on the agenda. Surprises may get you some publicity, at the
embarrassment of others, but they tend to erode the “team” approach to
governance.

Participate in official meetings with the dignity and decorum fitting those who
hold a position of public trust. Personal dress and courteous behavior at meetings
help create an environment for making sound public decisions.

Conduct your official public meetings with some formality, and follow rules of
procedure. Have an agenda, and follow it. Most governing body members agree
that formal meetings expedite the process and promote better decision making.

Don’t be afraid to ask questions. It is one of the ways we learn. But do your
homework by studying agenda material before meetings.

Vote yes or no on motions. Don’t cop out by abstaining except when you have a
conflict of interest. A pass does not relieve you of responsibility when some
decision must be made.

Once a majority decision of the governing body has been made, respect that
official position and defend it if needed, even if you personally disagreed.

Respect the letter and intent of the open meetings law, but also keep private and
confidential matters to yourself. Don’t gossip.

Retain competent, key employees, pay them well, trust their professional
judgment, and recognize their authority and responsibilities.

Don’t bypass the system! If you have a manager or other chief administrative
officer, stick to policy making and avoid personal involvement in the day-to-day
operations of the municipality. If you do not have an administrative officer, make

10E2



26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

sure you have some management system that officers, employees, and the public
understand.

Don’t let others bypass the system. Insist that people such as equipment or
service suppliers work with your city staff. If direct contact with governing body
members is necessary, it should be with the governing body as a whole, or a
committee, and not on a one-on-one basis.

Don’t pass the buck to the staff or employees when they are only following your
policies or decisions.

Don’t always take no for an answer. The right question may be “How can we do
this?” instead of “May we do this?” Be positive!

Learn to evaluate recommendations and alterative courses of action. Request that
your staff provide options. Encourage imaginative solutions.

Avoid taking short-term gains at the expense of long-term losses. Be concerned
with the long-term future of the city.

In determining the public interest, balance personal rights and property interests,
the possible harm to a few versus the good of the many. Recognize that in some
situations, everyone can’t be a winner.

Remember that cities are for people! Be concerned with the total development -
physical, economic, and social - of your community.

Don’t act as if the city operates in a vacuum. Cities must work within the
intergovernmental system to be effective. Keep in contact and cooperate with
your federal, state, county, and school officials.

Know your neighbors. Get to know the officials of neighboring and similar size
cities. Visit other cities, particularly those with a reputation of being well run.

Learn to listen - really listen - to your fellow governing body members and the
public. Hear what they are trying to say, not just the words spoken.

Keep your constituents informed, and encourage citizen participation.

Be friendly and deal effectively with the news media. Make sure what you say is
what you mean. Lack of good communication, with the media and the public, can
be a major problem for municipal officials.

Remember that what you say, privately and publicly, will often be news. You
live in a glass house. Avoid over-publicizing minor problems.

Expect, and respect, citizen complaints. Make sure that your governing body
members and your city, have a way to deal effectively with them. Have a follow-
up system.

Be careful about rumors. Check them out. Help squelch them when you know
they are false.

Appoint citizen advisory committees and task forces when you need them, but be
prepared to follow their advice if you use them.

Take care in your appointments to boards and commissions. Make sure they are
willing and capable as well as representative of the whole community.

10E2



43,

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

Never allow a conflict of interest to arise between your public duties and your
private interests. Be sensitive to actions you take that might even give the
appearance of impropriety.

Seek help. Use manuals, guides, and other technical assistance and information
available from the Colorado Municipal League and other agencies. Attend
workshops and conferences put on for the benefit of you and your city.

Pace yourself. Limit the number of meetings you attend. Set some priorities,
including the need to spend time with your family. Recognize that life - and the
city - is dependent on a lot of things you have little control over.

Establish some personal goals and objectives. What do you want to help
accomplish this year? Next year?

Help develop some short-term and long-term goals and objectives for your city,
and check your progress at least every six months,

Similarly, help your city develop a vision of the future. Plan from the future to
the present - no vision, no plan. One of the important purposes of a governing
body is to establish a vision for the future.

Focus on the future, and try to leave your city better than that which you inherited
as a city officer.

Be a leader, as well as part of the team of elected and appointed officials who
were selected to make your city an even better place to live.

At least once a year, schedule a governing body discussion about how you are
governing. Review the processes and procedures. Sit back and ask, “How are we
doing? How can we do things better?”

Be enthusiastic about your public service and the privilege you have, and let the
public know it. But maintain your sense of humor. Don’t take yourself or the
business of government so seriously that you don’t enjoy it. It should be fun as
well as a rewarding experience.

Celebrate! Always focusing on problems and issues may lead you, the governing
body, and the public, to believe that nothing positive ever happens. Good things
do happen. Let the public share your successes.

16
10E2



attitude
behavior
civility
conduct
courtesy
decorum
manners

point of order

point of personal
privilege

propriety
protocol

respect

Glossary of Terms

The manner in which one shows one’s dispositions, opinions, and feelings
External appearance or action; manner of behaving; carriage of oneself
Politeness, consideration, courtesy

The way one acts; personal behavior

Politeness connected with kindness

Suitable; proper; good taste in behavior

A way of acting; a style, method, or form; the way in which thing are done

An interruption of a meeting to question whether rules or bylaws are being
broken, such as the speaker has strayed from the motion currently under
consideration

A challenge to a speaker to defend or apologize for comments that a
fellow Councilmember considers offensive

Conforming to acceptable standards of behavior
The courtesies that are established as proper and correct

The act of noticing with attention; holding in esteem; courteous regard

L:shared/manager/council/code of conduct

10E2



CITY OF MOUNTAIN VIEW
City COUNCIL
CODE OF CONDUCT

ADOPTED
NOVEMBER 19, 2002

REVISED
JANUARY 14, 2014




TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1—FORM OF GOVERNMENT
1.1 FOTIN Of GOVEITIMIONE ..vvvieiiteie ittt e sete st ae st bt aseetaeessesebessensbseassstasessansaes 1

CHAPTER 2— COUNCIL POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

21 City Council Generally ...ttt st esesesesenes 3
22 Mayor and Vice Mayor — Appointment, Power, and Duties..............c.covnnnnee. 3
2.3 Council ACHONS ...ciiicriiiiriiivcic e s 4
24 Councilmember COmmIttees.........coviviivininiiiiiiiiiic e 4
2.5  Establishment and Appointment of Council Advisory Bodies (Boards,
Commissions, and COMMULEEES) ......ccvvveveerereiriieniie e e srersenes 6

CHAPTER 3—LEGAL AND ETHICAL STANDARDS

31 Preamble....ii e e 7
3.2 Public INterest.....ccccviiiviiiriininiciicc e 7
3.3 CONAUCE it 8
3.4 Conflict Of INEIeSt.....c.cceiviiiiiiiiiiiiii e 9
3.5  Compliance and Enforcement — ALl RUIES ......coeveviveiirinrnrininieieniiicrneeneenenes 19
3.6 AB1234—Required Ethics Training.........ccocecvveveinivinnnnninenesenenenreccieenenenens 21
CHAPTER 4—- COMMUNICATIONS
41  Written CommuniCations .....cccccciveniiiiriicniiiiiiie e 22
4.2  Request for Staff ReSOUICES ..., 22
43  Relationship/ Communications with Staff ...........cccoevvmrnivninniniceennnnn, 22
44  Council Relationship/Communication with Council Advisory Bodies........ 23
45  Handling of Litigation and Other Confidential Information.............c.cceeue.e.. 23
4.6  Representing an Official City Position........cccovviviiiivniiiciinecnnc e, 24
4.7  Quasi-Judicial Role/Ex Parte Contacts.........cceceveveivvnicnnniineneneinnisienenns 25
4.8  No Attorney-Client Relationship........cccoeceveieiiimniniciescceeereene 25
CHAPTER 5— COUNCIL ADVISORY BODIES
5.1 Boards, Commissions, and Committees Generally............cccruuvirnnineencene. 26
52 Board, Commission, and Committee Organization and Conduct.................. 26
53  Board, Commission, and Committee Appointments ........ccccevvcirvvvcrnninnens 27
54  Boards, Commissions, and Committees — Vacancy of Office..........cccecuren.e. 28
CHAPTER 6 — MEETINGS
6.1  Ralph M. BroOWN ACt ..o 29
6.2  Regular Meetings ... 29
0.3 Study SeSSIONS ....ccovvviviiiiiii e 29
6.4 CloSEd SESSIONS......cvveiriiiiiiiririi i b enes 29

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -i-



6.5  Special and Emergency Meetings.........cccovvnriniiiiinnnennn. 30

6.6  Meeting Aendas.........cocvciiiiiin 30
6.7  Rules of Procedure. ... 34
0.8 DECOTUIM ...coiiiiiiiiiiniiinii s s s 34
6.9  Time of Adjournment.........ccocevvviiiicinniiicn 35
6.10  Agenda Packets ... 35
CHAPTER 7 —COUNCIL FINANCIAL MATTERS
7.1 COMPENSALIONL. ..ttt st s e s s en s ens 36
7.2 Benefits .. s 36
7.3 City Council Budget and EXPenses .............cccvviiinnninniiiiiienes 37

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



CHAPTER 1
FORM OF GOVERNMENT

1.1 Form of Government

1.1.1  The City of Mountain View municipal government operates under a
council-manager form of government as established by the City Charter.

1.1.2  Under this form of government, the Council provides legislative direction,
sets City policy and monitors its execution by City staff.
Manager serves as the City's chief administrative officer and is responsible

for directing the day-to-day operations of the City.

1.1.3  The key provisions that outline Mountain View's council-manager form of

government are found in Section 607 of the City Charter.

Specifically, Section 607 of the City Charter includes the following

"Neither the Council nor any of its members shall interfere with
the execution by the City Manager of the City Manager's
powers and duties, or order, directly or indirectly, the
appointment by the City Manager or by any of the department
heads in the administrative service of the City, of any person to
any office or employment, or that person's removal therefrom.
Except for the purpose of inquiry, the Council and its members
shall deal with the administrative service solely through the
City Manager and neither the Council nor any member thereof
shall give orders to any subordinate of the City Manager, either
publicly or privately."

provisions:

1131

powers or duties.

1.1.3.2  Neither the Council nor a member shall interfere with the
appointment by the City Manager of any of the department
heads or any person to any office or employment.

1.1.3.3  Neither the Council nor any of its members shall interfere with

the City Manager's power to remove any of those persons.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2

The City

Prohibits interference by either the City Council or any of its
members with the City Manager's execution of his or her



1.1.3.4  Except for purposes of inquiry (asking questions), the Council
and its members shall deal only with the City Manager with
respect to the administrative service of the City.

NOTE: See Chapter 4, Communications, for additional
information regarding communications with staff.

1.1.3.5  Neither the Council nor any of its members shall give orders to
any subordinate of the City Manager, either publicly or
privately.

1.14  Neither the City Council nor any of its members shall interfere with the
administration of the City Attorney's or City Clerk's duties or give orders
to the subordinates of the City Attorney or City Clerk.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -2~

10E2



CHAPTER 2
COUNCIL POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

21 City Council Generally

211

21.2

213

214

215

The City Council has the power, in the name of the City, to do and
perform all acts and things appropriate to a municipal corporation and the
general welfare of its inhabitants, which are not specifically prohibited by
the constitution, the City Charter, or State or Federal laws.

The Council acts as a body. Policy is established by majority vote. A
decision of the majority binds the Council to a course of action. The
Council majority may be a majority of the quorum of the Council.

No Councilmember has extraordinary powers beyond those of other
members (except as may otherwise be provided in State law). All
members, including the Mayor, have equal powers.

No member of the Council is permitted to hold any other City office or
City employment (except as may otherwise be provided in the City
Charter).

Councilmembers also serve as members of the Mountain View Capital
Improvements Financing Authority, Successor Agency of the Mountain
View Revitalization Authority, City of Mountain View Downtown
Parking, Maintenance and Operations Assessment District, and Mountain
View Shoreline Regional Park Community.

2.2 Mayor and Vice Mayor — Appointment, Power, and Duties

221

222

223

The selection of the Mayor and Vice Mayor occurs annually at the first
Council meeting in January by majority vote of the City Council. City
Council Policy A-6, Election of Mayor and Vice Mayor, sets forth
nonbinding guidelines for the selection of the Mayor and Vice Mayor.

The Mayor is the presiding officer of the City Council. In the Mayor's
absence, the Vice Mayor shall perform the duties of the Mayor.

The Mayor is the official head of the City for all ceremonial purposes.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



224

225

226

227

The Mayor may perform such other duties consistent with the mayoral
office as may be prescribed by the City Charter or as may be imposed by
the Council.

The Mayor does not possess any power of veto.

The Mayor, or Council designee, coordinates with the City Manager in the
development of agendas for meetings of the City Council. Once the
agenda is published, the City Manager may withdraw an item; however,
only the City Council may otherwise alter the agenda.

The Mayor and Vice Mayor serve at the pleasure of the Council and can be
replaced at any time by a majority vote of the Council.

2.3 Council Actions

231

232

233

Legislative actions by the City Council can be taken by means of
ordinance, resolution, or minute action duly made and passed by the
majority (unless otherwise provided).

Public actions of the Council are recorded in the minutes of the City
Council meeting. The City Clerk is required to make a record only of
business actually passed upon by a vote of the Council and is not required
to record any remarks of Councilmembers or of any other person, except
at the special request of a Councilmember, with the consent of the
Council.

Actions of the Council concerning confidential property, personnel,
and/or legal matters of the City are to be reported consistent with State
law.

24 Councilmember Committees (Refer to City Council Policy A-13, City Council
Meetings, Section 16, and City Council Policy A-23, Work Item Referral Process for
Council Advisory Bodies and Councilmember Committees)

241

242

The City Council may organize itself into standing and/or special/ad hoc
committees of the Council to facilitate Council review and action
regarding certain matters referred to them by the City Council or in
accordance with City Council Policy A-23, Work Item Referral Process for
Council Advisory Bodies and Councilmember Committees.

All work undertaken by a Councilmember committee must originate with
the Council or as permitted under City Council Policy A-23, Work Item

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



243

244

245

2.4.6

247

2438

Referral Process for Council Advisory Bodies and Councilmember
Committees, and all actions of committees shall be reported to the
Council.

The Council may create or dissolve standing committees at any time by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the Council.

The Mayor annually appoints members to standing committees.

The Council or the Mayor may create special or ad hoc committees. The
Mayor appoints members to special or ad hoc committees.

The Council may dissolve special or ad hoc committees.

If permitted by the Ralph M. Brown Act, other members of the Council
not assigned to a committee may attend meetings of a committee, as an
observer, however, they shall be seated with the audience and may not
participate in any manner or address the committee.

If an absence is anticipated on a committee and that absence may impede
the work of the committee, the committee chair or other member may
request that the Mayor designate another member of the Council to attend
for the absent member and serve as an alternate member of the committee,
provided that the member's attendance, in the opinion of the City
Attorney, will comply with the Brown Act. The term for service by the
alternate member will be the term designated in the appointment, or for
one meeting, if no term is specified.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -5-

10E2



2.5 Establishment and Appointment of Council Advisory Bodies

251 The Mountain View City Charter requires a Planning Commission,
Recreation and Parks Commission, and Library Board (refer to Mountain
View City Charter, Article IX).

252 The City Council may also establish by ordinance or resolution, boards,
commissions, and committees to assist the Council in making its policy
decisions.

253  The rules of procedure and code of conduct that govern the City Council
apply with equal force to all Council advisory bodies.

NOTE: See Chapter 5 Council Advisory Bodies, for additional
information regarding boards, commissions, and committees.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



3.1

3.2

CHAPTER 3
LEGAL AND ETHICAL STANDARDS

Preamble

The residents and businesses of Mountain View are entitled to have fair, ethical,
and accountable local government. Such a government requires that public
officials:

. Comply with both the letter and the spirit of the laws and policies
affecting operations of the government;

. Be independent, impartial, and fair in their judgment and actions;

. Use their public office for the public good, not for personal gain; and

. Conduct public deliberations and processes openly, unless legally

confidential, in an atmosphere of respect and civility.

To this end, the Mountain View City Council has adopted a code of ethics to
encourage public confidence in the integrity of local government and its fair and
effective operation.

This City Council code of ethics shall reside in two documents—the City Council
Code of Conduct and the City Council Personal Code of Conduct. The City
Council Code of Conduct and the Personal Code of Conduct shall not be
interpreted to conflict with other rights and responsibilities of public officials set
forth in this code or Federal, State, or local law. The City Council Code of Conduct
shall be considered to be the definitive document relating to ethical conduct by
Mountain View Councilmembers. The Personal Code of Conduct shall be
considered to be a summary of the full City Council Code of Conduct.

Public Interest

321  Recognizing that stewardship of the public interest must be their primary
concern, Councilmembers shall work for the common good of the people
of Mountain View and not for any private or personal interest.
Councilmembers must endeavor to treat all members of the public and
issues before them in a fair and equitable manner.

322  Councilmembers shall comply with the laws of the nation, the State of
California, and the City in the performance of their public duties. These
laws include, but are not limited to: the United States and California
constitutions; the Mountain View City Charter; laws pertaining to
conflicts of interest, election campaigns, financial disclosures, employer

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



responsibilities, and open processes of government; and City ordinances
and policies.

3.3 Conduct

3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

3.34

3.3.5

3.3.6

3.3.7

3.3.8

Councilmembers shall refrain from abusive conduct, personal charges, or
verbal attacks upon the character or motives of other members of the City
Council, boards, commissions, committees, staff, or the public.

Councilmember duties shall be performed in accordance with the
processes and rules of order established by the City Council.

Councilmembers shall inform themselves on public issues, listen
attentively to public discussions before the body, and focus on the
business at hand.

Council decisions shall be based upon the merits and substance of the
matter at hand.

It is the responsibility of Councilmembers to publicly share substantive
information that is relevant to a matter under consideration that they have
received from sources outside of the public decision-making process with
all other Councilmembers and the public prior to taking action on the
matter.

Appropriate City staff should be involved when Councilmembers meet
with officials from other agencies and jurisdictions to ensure proper staff
support as needed and to keep staff informed.

Councilmembers shall not attend internal staff meetings or meetings
between City staff and third parties unless invited by City staff or directed
by Council to do so.

Policy Role

3.3.8.1  Councilmembers shall respect and adhere to the council-
manager structure of Mountain View City government as
provided in State law and the City Charter.

3.3.8.2  Councilmembers shall support the maintenance of a positive
and constructive environment for residents, businesses, and
City employees.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



3.3.9

Implementation

3.39.1  Ethics standards shall be included in the regular orientations for
City Council candidates. Councilmembers entering office and
upon reelection to that office shall sign a City Council Personal
Code of Conduct statement (Attachment 1) affirming they have
read and understand this City of Mountain View City Council
Code of Conduct.

3.4 Conflict of Interest

3.4.1

3.4.2

3.4.3

344

3.4.5

3.4.6

3.4.7

In order to assure their independence and impartiality on behalf of the
public good, Councilmembers are prohibited from using their official
positions to influence government decisions in which they have a financial
interest or where they have an organizational responsibility or a personal
relationship that would present a conflict of interest under applicable
State law.

In accordance with State law, Councilmembers must file annual written
disclosures of their economic interests.

Councilmembers shall not take advantage of services or opportunities for
personal gain by virtue of their public office that are not available to the
public in general.

Councilmembers shall respect and preserve the confidentiality of
information provided to them concerning the confidential matters of the
City. They must neither disclose confidential information without proper
legal authorization nor use such information to advance the personal,
financial, or private interests of themselves or others.

City Councilmembers should avoid any action that could be construed as,
or create the appearance of, using public office for personal gain,
including use of City stationery or other City resources to obtain or
promote personal business.

Public resources not available to the general public (e.g., City staff time,
equipment, supplies, or facilities) shall not be used by Councilmembers
for private gain or personal purposes.

In keeping with their role as stewards of the public interest,
Councilmembers shall not appear on behalf of the private interests of a

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



third party before the City Council or any board, commission, or
committee or proceeding of the City, except as permitted by law.

348  To the best of their ability, Councilmembers shall represent the official
policies and positions of the City Council. When presenting their personal
opinions or positions publicly, members shall explicitly state they do not
represent the Council or the City.

3.49  Mountain View City Charter Provisions

3.49.1

3.49.2

3493

Financial Interests in City Contracts Prohibited.

No officer or employee of the City shall become financially
interested except by testate or intestate succession, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract, sale, purchase, lease, or
transfer of real or personal property to which the City is a party
or be employed by any public service corporation regulated by
or holding franchises in the City. ...[A]ny contract made in
contravention of this section shall be void. (Section 706)

Nepotism.

The Council shall not appoint to a salaried position under the
City government any person who is a relative by blood or
marriage within the second degree of any one or more of the
members of such Council and neither shall any department
head or other officer having appointive power appoint any
relative within such degree to any such position. (Section 707)

Political Activities Prohibited; Discrimination.

This provision provides that:

1. No employee shall, while in uniform or during the
employee's working hours, take an active part in any
municipal or other political campaign.

2. No employee shall, while in uniform or during the

employee's work hours, seek or accept contributions for or
against a candidate or issue.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

-10-

10E2



3.  An employee may not seek or accept signatures to any
petition for or against any such candidate or issue during
his or her work hours.

4. No person in the classified service shall be employed,
promoted, demoted, or discharged or in any way favored
or discriminated against because of political opinions or
affiliations or because of race or religious belief. (Section
1003) (Also see Section 4.3.7)

5. For purposes of this section, the term "employee" shall
include contract employees and consultants who function
as City employees.

3.410 Mountain View City Code Provisions

3.4.10.1

3.4.10.2

3.4.10.3

Use of City Property—Limited to Lawful Business of City.
(Section 2.4)

No person or persons other than City officials or employees
shall use any City-owned equipment, tools, or paraphernalia
other than for the purpose of conducting the lawful business of
the City.

Use of City Property for Private Purposes by City Official,
Employee, etc. (Section 2.5)

No City official, City employee, or other person shall borrow,
take, or remove any City-owned equipment, tools, or
paraphernalia for private use.

Use of City Property—Loan, etc., by City Official, Employee,
etc.

No City official, City employee, or any other person shall lend,
give, or transfer possession of such City-owned equipment,
tools, or paraphernalia to any other City official, employee, or
any other person with knowledge that the same shall be used
for private purposes. (Section 2.6)

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

11-

10E2



3411 California State Law Regarding Conflicts

Four key areas of California State law regulate the ethics of public
officials.

3.411.1 Constitutional prohibitions

State law strictly forbids elected and appointed public officials
from accepting free or discounted travel from transportation
companies. The penalty for a violation includes the forfeiture of
office.

3.4.11.2 Contractual conflicts of interest

This prohibition, found in Government Code Section 1090,
mirrors the City's Charter Provision Section 706 and applies to
elected and appointed officials as well as other City staff
members. It prohibits the City from entering into a contract if
one of its members (i.e., a Councilmember) is financially
interested in the contract. If the bar (or prohibition) applies, the
agency is prohibited from entering into the contract whether or
not the official with the conflict participates or not. In some
limited circumstances, officials are allowed to disqualify
themselves from participation and the agency may enter into
the contract.

Financial interest has been defined to include employment,
stock/ownership interests, and membership on the board of
directors of a for-profit or nonprofit corporation, among others.
Violations can be charged as a felony. A person convicted of
violating Section 1090 is prohibited from ever holding public
office in the State.

3.411.3 DPolitical Reform Act— Conflicts of Interest

The Political Reform Act (PRA) was adopted by the voters in
1974 and is the primary expression of the law relative to
conflicts of interest (and campaign finance) in California. The
Act created the Fair Political Practices Commission (FPPC), a
five-member State board which administers the Act.

The Act and the regulations are complex and are continuously
subjected to official interpretation. The following synopsis of

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -12-

10E2



key parts of the Act will be helpful in spotting issues; however,
the FPPC and/or City Attorney should be consulted for further
advice and clarification.

With respect to conflicts of interest, the FPPC has promulgated a
regulation which establishes an analysis which assists in
determining whether a public official is participating in a
government decision in which they have a qualifying financial
interest and whether it is reasonably foreseeable that the
decision will have a material financial effect on the public
official's financial interest, which is distinguishable from the
effect the decision will have on the public generally.

3.411.3.1 If a member has a conflict of interest regarding a
particular decision, they must refrain from making
or participating in the making of a decision unless
otherwise permitted by law.

If a public official has a financial interest that gives
rise to a conflict of interest, one of the key
determinations in the eight-step analysis is to
determine whether or not the public official is
"participating in" or "making" a governmental
decision.

3.411.31.1 A public official makes a government
decision when they do the following:

° Vote on a matter.
e  Appoint a person.

e  Obligate or commit his or her
agency to any course of action.

e Enter into any contractual
agreement on behalf of his or her
agency.

* Determine not to act in certain
circumstances.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

-13-

10E2



3411.3.2

341133

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC

3411312 A public official participates in
making governmental decisions when
acting within the authority of his or
her position, they do the following:

o Negotiate without significant
substantive review with a
governmental entity or private
person regarding a governmental
decision.

e Advise or make recommenda-
tions to the decision-maker either
directly or without significant
intervening substantive review
by:

— Conducting research or an
investigation which requires
the exercise of judgment on
the part of the official and
the purpose of which is to
influence governmental
decisions; or

—  Preparing or presenting any
report, analysis, or opinion
orally or in writing which
requires the exercise of
judgment on the part of the
official and the purpose of
which is to influence a
governmental decision.

When a public official has a qualifying financial
interest, that official may not use their office or
otherwise attempt to influence governmental
decisions or make appearances or contacts on behalf
of a business entity, client, or customer.

If an official has a qualifying financial interest, there

are nevertheless exceptions which allow a public
official to make an appearance before an agency in

10E2



3.4.11.3.4

very limited circumstances. The one that is most
commonly encountered is an appearance by a
public official to represent himself or herself with
respect to a proposed project or change in their
neighborhood. If the appearance is permitted under
State law, the appearance is limited to appearing at
a public meeting at the podium and addressing a
board, commission, or the City Council. The official
may not contact members of staff, the City Manager,
or City Attorney, or discuss the matter with other
Councilmembers. A public official with a conflict
cannot interact with staff on that issue other than to
ask questions, pay fees, etc.

Political Reform Act— Gifts, etc.

Qualifying gifts of $50 or more must be reported on
an official's Statement of Economic Interest (SEI). In
addition, the Political Reform Act imposes a limit on
gifts a local official can receive. The dollar amount
of the gift limit is modified every odd year to reflect
changes in the Consumer Price Index.” There are
various exceptions that apply to whether or not a
gift is a "qualifying gift." In some instances, the gift
limit does not apply (e.g., wedding gifts); however,
the obligation to report the gift typically does apply.

o A gift is a payment made by any person of
anything of value, whether tangible or
intangible, real or personal property, a good or
service that provides a personal benefit to an
official when the public official does not
provide goods or services of equal or greater
value. It can include forgiveness of a debt, a
rebate or discount unless the rebate or discount
is made through the regular course of business
to members of the public.

o  There are exceptions to gifts for informational
material, gifts that are returned unused, gifts
from relatives—close family, campaign

* The gift limit can be found in Government Code §89503.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC

contributions, home hospitality, benefits
commonly exchanged, reciprocal exchanges,
acts of neighborliness, bona fide dating
relationship, acts of human compassion,
ceremonial role, etc.

There are specific regulations for how gifts are
valued, particularly with the value of tickets
and passes and attendance at dinners and
events.

Gifts can be given to the public agency and
they are not charged as gifts to an individual
who may use the gift (e.g., tickets) provided
the express terms of the appropriate regulation
are satisfied.

3.411.3.4.1 Travel Reimbursements

The Political Reform Act contains
extensive regulations on travel
reimbursements; however, travel
payment by one's own public agency
as part of your official duties are
typically exempt.  Reimbursement
from other entities (other than
transportation = companies)  within
California and outside of California
are subject to very specific rules.

3.4.11.3.4.2 Honoraria

Honoraria are defined as a payment
made in return for giving a speech,
writing an article, or attending a
public or  private conference,
convention, meeting, social event,
meal, or similar gathering. Honoraria
should be  distinguished from
campaign funds that go into that
person's campaign or to a political
party. Campaign funds cannot be
used for personal benefit.

10E2



CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC

3411343

10E2

Local elected officials or candidates
may not accept honoraria. A local
agency employee who is required
to file a Statement of Economic
Interest (Form 700) may not accept
honoraria from any source
requiring disclosure on a public
official's  SEL There are
approximately 12 exceptions to
honoraria, including payments
made for comedic, theatrical, and
musical performances; income
from bona fide personal services in
connection with teaching,
practicing law, etc; and travel,
lodging, and subsistence in
connection with a speech, limited
to the day before, day of, and day
after within the United States.

The exceptions for income from
personal services in connection
with teaching and practicing law
do not apply if the sole or
predominant activity is giving
speeches.

Political Reform Act—Mass Mailings

A mass mailing is defined as 200 or
more substantially similar pieces of
mail sent at public or private expense
by a public official within a calendar
month.

Sent at Private Expense—If sent for
a political purpose, sender must
place the name and address on the
outside of the envelope.

Sent at Public Expense—These
mailings are subject to strict



34115

3.4.11.6

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC

limitations. = For example, the
mailing may not contain the name
or pictures of elected officials
except as part of the standard
letterhead, and within the confines
of that regulation they cannot be of
different size or  otherwise
emblazoned on the mailing.
Because the rules are complex, staft
should be consulted for assistance.

3.411.34.4 DPolitical Reform Act—Enforcement

The FPPC can assess administrative
fines and penalties for violation of the
Act. The District Attorney and the
State Attorney General may prosecute
violators as civil or criminal matters.
Violators may also be removed from
office pursuant to Government Code
Section 3060.

Common Law Conflicts of Interest

This is the judicial expression of the public policy
against public officials using their official position
for private benefit. An elected official bears a
fiduciary duty to exercise the powers of office for
the benefit of the public and is not permitted to use
those powers or their office for the benefit of any
private interest. = This common Ilaw doctrine
continues to survive the adoption of various
statutory expressions of conflict law.

Appearance of Impropriety

When participation in action or decision-making as
a public official does not implicate the specific
statutory criteria for conflicts of interest; however,
participation still does not "look" or "feel" right, that
public official has probably encountered the
appearance of impropriety.

18-

10E2



For the public to have faith and confidence that
government authority will be implemented in an
even-handed and ethical manner, public officials
may need to step aside even though no technical
conflict exists. An example is where a long-term
nonfinancial affiliation exists between the public
official and an applicant or the applicant is related
by blood or marriage to the official. For the good of
the community, members who encounter the
appearance of impropriety should step aside.

NOTE: State laws governing conflicts of interest are written to ensure that
actions are taken in the public interest. These laws are very complex.
Councilmembers should consult with the City Attorney, their own
attorney, or the Fair Political Practices Commission for guidance in
advance.

3.5 Compliance and Enforcement— All Rules

Councilmembers take an oath when they assume their office in which they
promise to uphold the laws of the State of California, the City of Mountain View,
and the United States of America. Consistent with this oath is the requirement of
this Council policy to comply with the laws as well as report violations of the laws
and policy of which they become aware.

351

Any suspected violation or alleged violation by a Councilmember must be
reported to the Mayor. In the case of a City staff member making the
report regarding a Councilmember, the report should be made to the City
Manager who will then report it to the Mayor. Upon report, the City
Manager and City Attorney will assist the Mayor in following one of the
two (2) protocols for addressing the violation or alleged violation:

3.5.1.1  If the Mayor, City Manager, and City Attorney all agree that the
violation or alleged violation is minor in nature, the Mayor and
either the City Manager or City Attorney may contact the
individual Councilmember and advise the member of the
concern and seek to resolve the matter (Protocol 1).

3.51.2  If the Mayor, City Manager, and City Attorney do not agree that
the violation or alleged violation is minor (see Section 3.5.1.1) in
nature, then the Mayor shall convene a special ad hoc
comnittee of the Mayor (who will serve as Chair), Vice Mayor,

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2




and most recent Mayor (the "Ethics Committee") who will meet
with the City Manager and City Attorney and appropriate staff
and/or witnesses to determine how the matter may proceed, be
resolved or be reported to the appropriate authorities (Protocol
2).

3.51.3 In implementing the provisions of this section, the Ethics
Committee will be authorized to conduct all inquiries and
investigations as necessary to fulfill their obligation.

3514  For purposes of Sections 3.5.1.1 and 3.5.1.2, the incident or
violation is not minor if it involves the injury or potential injury
to any person (e.g., physical, emotional, defamation,
harassment, etc.), significant exposure to the City Treasury or
the probability for a repeat occurrence.

3.5.2  Councilmembers wishing to report a suspected violation by a staff
member should report it to both the City Manager and City Attorney.

353  Inthe event any Councilmember with a role in this policy is the subject of
the inquiry, the role of that official shall be assumed by the next ranking
official in the chain. For example, if the Mayor is the subject of the
inquiry, the Ethics Committee shall be comprised of the Vice Mayor (who
will serve as Chair) and the two (2) most recent former Mayors. If the City
Manager or City Attorney is the subject, the Committee will exclude that
individual.

If there is no recent former Mayor available to fill the appropriate seat(s)
on the committee, the Mayor or chair will select a member of the Council
to serve—selection to be based on seniority as outlined in Policy and
Procedure No. A-6.

354  The term "committee" or "Ethics Committee" is used for ease of reference
only as it is not intended by this policy to create a permanent or standing
committee but, rather, to assemble the officials necessary to review
complaints should the need arise.

3.5.,5  This policy and the protocols set forth are alternatives to any remedy that
might otherwise be available or prudent. In order to ensure good
government, any individual, including the City Manager and City
Attorney, who believes a violation may have occurred is hereby
authorized to report the violation to other appropriate authorities.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -20-

10E2



3.5.6  These same protocols may be utilized for any suspected violations or
alleged violations by a Council advisory body member. In addition to
those protocols, the Mayor may also refer the matter to the City Council if
further action is needed.

3.6 AB 1234—Required Ethics Training

AB 1234 requires elected or appointed officials who are compensated for their
service or reimbursed for their expenses to take two hours of training in ethics
principles and laws every two years. Those who enter office after January 1, 2006
must receive the training within a year of starting their service. They must then
receive the training every two years after that.

The training must cover general ethics principles relating to public service and
ethics laws including:

*  Laws relating to personal financial gain by public officials (including bribery
and conflict of interest laws);

*  Laws relating to office-holder perks, including gifts and travel restrictions,
personal and political use of public resources, and prohibitions against gifts
of public funds;

*  Governmental transparency laws, including financial disclosure requirements
and open government laws (the Brown Act and Public Records Act);

* Laws relating to fair processes, including fair contracting requirements,
common law bias requirements, and due process.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



CHAPTER 4
COMMUNICATIONS

4,1 Written Communications

41.1

Written communications addressed to the City Council are to be referred
to the City Clerk for:

e Forwarding to the Council with their agenda packet, or
e Placement on an agenda with or without a staff report, or

o Direct response to the citizen with a copy of the communication and
staff letter to the Council.

4.2 Request for Staff Resources

421

Council requests for research or other staff work must be directed to the
City Manager, or the City Attorney regarding legal matters or the City
Clerk regarding matters within the Clerk's authority.

If more than one hour of staff time will be required to complete the
task/project, the item will be agendized to ask the City Council if time
should be spent on preparing a report on the proposed item.

Staff responses prepared to Council inquiries shall be distributed to all
City Councilmembers.

4.3 Relationship/Communications with Staff

Staff serves the City Council as a whole, therefore:

43.1

432

A Councilmember shall not direct staff to initiate any action, change a
course of action, or prepare any report. Except as provided in City
Council Policy A-23, Work Item Referral Process for Council Advisory
Bodies and Councilmember Committees, a Councilmember shall not
initiate any project or study without the approval of the majority of the
Council.

Councilmembers shall not attempt to pressure or influence discussions,
recommendations, workloads, schedules, or department priorities absent
the approval of a majority of the Council.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC 00,
10E2



433

434

43.5

4.3.6

4.3.7

When preparing for Council meetings, Councilmembers should direct
questions ahead of time to the City Manager so that staff can provide the
desired information at the Council meeting.

Any concerns by a member of the City Council regarding the behavior or
work of a City employee should be directed to the City Manager privately
to ensure the concern is resolved. Councilmembers shall not reprimand
employees directly nor should they communicate their concerns to anyone
other than the City Manager.

Councilmembers may direct routine inquiries to either the City Manager
or appropriate department head.

Councilmembers serving on Council committees or as the City's
representative to an outside agency may interact directly with City staff
assigned to that effort as the City Manager's designee. The City staff
member so designated and assigned will keep the City Manager
appropriately informed.

Soliciting political support from staff (e.g., financial contributions, display
of posters or lawn signs, name on support list, etc.) is prohibited. City
staff may, as private citizens with constitutional rights, support political
candidates, but all such activities must be done away from the workplace
and may not be conducted while in uniform. (Also see Section 3.4.9.3)

4.4 Council Relationship/Communication with Council Advisory Bodies

441

Councilmembers shall not attempt to pressure or influence board,
commission, or committee decisions, recommendations, or priorities
absent the approval of the majority of the Council. However, the Mayor
and Vice Mayor can authorize a work item for a Council advisory body
under certain circumstances in accordance with City Council Policy A-23,
Work Item Referral Process for Council Advisory Bodies and
Councilmember Committees.

4.5 Handling of Litigation and Other Confidential Information

451

All written materials and verbal information provided to Councilmembers
on matters that are confidential and/or privileged under State law shall be
kept in complete confidence to ensure that the City's position is not
compromised. No disclosure or mention of any information in these

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



materials may be made to anyone other than Councilmembers, the City
Attorney, or City Manager.

4511  Confidential materials provided in preparation for and during
Closed Sessions shall not be retained and electronic copies must
be deleted or documents returned to staff at the conclusion of
the Closed Session.

4512  Confidential materials provided to Councilmembers outside of
Closed Sessions must be destroyed, deleted, or returned to staff
within thirty (30) days of their receipt.

4513 Councilmembers may not request confidential written
information from staff that has not been provided to all
Councilmembers.

4.6 Representing an Official City Position

4.6.1

4.6.2

4.6.3

4.64

4.6.5

City Councilmembers may use their title only when conducting official
City business, for information purposes, or as an indication of background
and expertise, carefully considering whether they are exceeding or
appearing to exceed their authority.

Once the City Council has taken a position on an issue, all official City
correspondence regarding that issue will reflect the Council's adopted
position.

In most instances, the Council will authorize the Mayor to send letters
stating the City's official position to appropriate legislators.

If a member of the City Council appears before another governmental
agency organization to give a statement on an issue affecting the City, the
Councilmember should indicate the majority position and opinion of the
Council.

Personal opinions and comments may be expressed only if the
Councilmember clarifies that these statements do not reflect the official
position of the City Council.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -24-

10E2



4.7

4.8

Quasi-Judicial Role/Ex Parte Contacts

The City Council has a number of roles. It legislates and makes administrative and
executive decisions. The Council also acts in a quasi-judicial capacity or "like a
judge" when it rules on various permits, licenses, and land use entitlements.

In this last capacity, quasi-judicial, the Council holds a hearing, takes evidence,
determines what the evidence shows, and exercises its discretion in applying the
facts to the law shown by the evidence. It is to these proceedings that the rule
relative to ex parte contacts applies.

471  Ex Parte Contacts/Fair Hearings. The Council shall refrain from receiving
information and evidence on any quasi-judicial matter while such matter
is pending before the City Council or any agency, board, or commission
thereof, except at the public hearing.

As an elected official, it is often impossible to avoid such contacts and
exposure to information. Therefore, if any member is exposed to
information or evidence about a pending matter outside of the public
hearing, through contacts by constituents, the applicant or through site
visits, the member shall disclose all such information and/or evidence
acquired from such contacts, which is not otherwise included in the
written or oral staff report, during the public hearing, and before the
public comments period is opened.

Matters are "pending" when an application has been filed. Information
and evidence gained by members via their attendance at noticed public
hearings before subordinate boards and commissions are not subject to
this rule.

No Attorney-Client Relationship

Councilmembers who consult the City Attorney, his or her staff, and/or
attorney(s) contracted to work on behalf of the City cannot enjoy or establish an
attorney-client relationship with said attorney(s) by consulting with or speaking to
same. Any attorney-client relationship established belongs to the City, acting
through the City Council, and as may be allowed in State law for purposes of
defending the City and/or the City Council in the course of litigation and/or
administrative procedures, etc.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -25-

10E2



CHAPTER 5
COUNCIL ADVISORY BODIES

5.1 Boards, Commissions, and Committees Generally

5.1.1

5.1.2

513

514

5.1.5

The Mountain View City Charter establishes the following boards and
commissions to advise the City Council:

e Planning Commission (now known as the Environmental Planning
Commission) (Section 906)

e Recreation and Parks Commission (now known as the Parks and
Recreation Commission) (Section 909)

e Board of Library Trustees (now known as the Library Board) (Section
911)

The City Charter authorizes the City Council to establish additional
advisory boards and commissions to assist the Council in its policy
decisions. The City Council has the inherent power to create committees.

City boards, commissions, and committees (collectively “Council advisory
bodies”) do not set or establish City policy or administrative direction to
City staff, except as provided in City Council Policy A-23, Work Item
Referral Process for Council Advisory Bodies and Councilmember
Committees.

Appointments to boards, commissions, and committees are made by
adoption of a resolution of the majority of the Council after the review and
consideration of the recommendation(s) of the Council Appointments
Review Committee. Appointees to Council advisory bodies serve at the
pleasure of the City Council.

The terms "board" and "commission” can be used interchangeably. Boards
and commissions typically have broader policy and advisory
responsibilities than committees which typically have much more focused
advisory roles to the Council.

5.2 Board, Commission, and Committee Organization and Conduct

521

Annually, each board, commission, and committee elects one of their
members to serve as the presiding officer or chair.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -26-

10E2



5.3

522

523

524

Boards, commissions, and committees shall hold regular and special
meetings as may be required. The conduct of board, commission, and
committee meetings are governed by the same rules of policy and
procedure as the City Council.

Boards, commissions, and committees should comply with all applicable
open meeting and conflict-of-interest laws of the State.

Upon appointment or reappointment, Council advisory body members
shall sign a Council Advisory Body Personal Code of Conduct statement
(Attachment 2) affirming they have read and understand this City of
Mountain View City Council Code of Conduct.

Board, Commission, and Committee Appointments

531

532

533

534

The City Charter requires that members of City boards and commissions
be qualified electors of the City (resident of Mountain View and United
States citizen). Committees can include members that are not qualified
electors.

Appointments will provide, as nearly as possible, a representative balance
of the broad population of the City. All appointees should bring the skill,
integrity, knowledge, interest, and commitment to evaluating issues in the
broad context of the public interest.

Unless appointed to an unexpired term of less than two years caused by
the resignation or other such vacancy, the term of office for each board,
commission, or committee member is normally four years.

Appointees are limited to two consecutive terms prior to reappointment
on a given board, commission, or committee (except where specifically
provided). However, where the City Council expressly determines it to be
in the best interest of the community, the City Council may reappoint
beyond this limit.

The City Clerk provides application forms and maintains a composite
listing of all applications on file which have been received.

The City Clerk solicits applications for vacancies in accordance with the
procedures outlined in City Council Policy K-2, Board, Commission, and
Committee Appointments.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



5.4

5.5

535

Persons being considered for appointment (or reappointment) must be
interviewed at least once to qualify for appointment.

Boards, Commissions, and Committees — Vacancy of Office

541

54.2

54.3

The City Charter provides that if "a member of a board or commission is
absent from three regular meetings of such board or commission,
consecutively or within a calendar quarter, or is convicted of a crime
involving moral turpitude, or ceases to be a qualified elector and resident
of the City, that office shall become vacant upon the declaration of
Council. The Council may, for good cause, determine that a vacancy has
not been created."

Resignations may be submitted at any time to the City Council either
directly or through the board, commission, or committee chair.
Resignations are effective upon submittal.

Upon notice of a vacancy, the Council Appointments Review Committee
shall initiate the appointment procedure detailed in City Council Policy K-
2, Board, Commission, and Committee Appointments, leading to a
recommendation to the City Council for a successor of such vacancy and
the successor will be appointed to serve only to the date of the unexpired
term pursuant to Section 905 of the City Charter.

Boards, Commissions, and Committees —Removal

551

A board member, commissioner, or committee member is subject to
removal by motion of the City Council adopted by at least four affirmative
votes.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -28-

10E2



6.1.

6.2

6.3

6.4

CHAPTER 6
MEETINGS

Ralph M. Brown Act

All meetings of the City Council, standing Councilmember committees, and
Council advisory bodies are governed by the Ralph M. Brown Act (Government
Code 54950 et seq.). The City Council views the Brown Act as a minimum set of
standards and in several respects, the City's open meeting requirements exceed the
requirements of the Brown Act.

If any member of a City legislative body, or City staff, believe that action has been
taken on an item in contravention of the Brown Act, that person is privileged to
place the item on a future agenda for reconsideration and/or action.

Regular Meetings

6.21  Regular meetings of the City Council are held on the second and fourth
Tuesday of each month at 6:30 p.m. in the Council Chambers of Mountain
View City Hall, 500 Castro Street.

All regular Council meetings are open to the public.

Study Sessions

6.3.1  Study Sessions are conducted as part of a public meeting which the
Council may set from time to time to allow for a detailed review of
important matters. Study Sessions may be conducted jointly with another
City board, commission, or committee or another governmental agency.
Formal action is typically not taken at a Study Session unless the agenda
indicates that action may be taken. All Study Session meetings are open
to the public.

Closed Sessions

6.41  Closed Sessions are also regulated pursuant to the Ralph M. Brown Act.
All written materials and verbal information regarding Closed Session
items must remain confidential. Written reports and/or exhibits or
materials furnished to members of the Council as part of a Closed Session
must not be copied or saved and must be deleted or returned to staff at
the conclusion of the Closed Session. No member of the Council,
employee of the City, or anyone else present should disclose to any other

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -29-

10E2



6.4.2

6.4.3

6.4.4

6.4.5

person the intent or substance of any discussion that takes place in a
Closed Session unless authorized by a majority of the Council.

Permissible topics/issues for a Closed Session discussion include, but are
not limited to: labor negotiations, pending litigation, personnel actions,
real estate negotiations, and certain licensing and public security issues.

All public statements, information, and press releases relating to Closed
Session items should be handled by the City Attorney or as otherwise
directed by the Council majority.

Closed Session meetings are closed to the public and the press.

Any suspected violation of the confidentiality of a Closed Session
discussion shall be reported to the City Attorney. "Confidential
information" means a communication, verbal or written, made in Closed
Session that is specifically related to the legal basis for conducting the
Closed Session.

6.5 Special and Emergency Meetings

6.5.1

Pursuant to the Ralph M. Brown Act, the Council may also hold special or
emergency meetings as deemed necessary.

6.6 Meeting Agendas

6.6.1

6.6.2

Preparation of Agendas

6.6.1.1  Council agendas and supporting information are prepared by
the City Manager and City Clerk.

6.6.1.2  For Council advisory bodies and Councilmember committees,
agendas and supporting information are prepared by the
supporting City department to the Council advisory body or
Councilmember committee as directed by the City Manager.

Placing Items on Agendas
6.6.21  Council Agendas
6.6.2.1.1  The City Manager determines, in consultation with

the Mayor, which items are placed on the agenda
and the timing for scheduling such items.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



6.6212 A Councilmember's request for an item to be
agendized will be done as an action item with
support work of up to one hour by staff. If more
than one hour of work is required, then the item
will be agendized to ask Council if time should be
spent on preparing a full report on the proposed
agenda item.

6.6.21.3  Any person may request placement of a matter on
the Council agenda by submitting a written request
with  the agreement of a  sponsoring
Councilmember.

6.6.22  Council Advisory Body and Councilmember Committee

Agendas

Agenda items for Council advisory bodies and Councilmember
committees must originate with the Council or as permitted
under City Council Policy A-23, Work Item Referral Process for
Council Advisory Bodies and Councilmember Committees.

6.6.3  Order of Agenda Items

The Council shall conduct business in the following order, except as the
order may be adjusted pursuant to City Council Policy A-13, City Council

Meetings.

1. Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance
2. Roll Call

2A. Proclamations/Presentations

3. Minutes Approval

4. Consent Calendar

The consent calendar includes all matters of a routine or
noncontroversial nature. All items on the consent calendar are
approved by a single motion and vote. Any item on the consent
calendar can be removed at the request of any member of the
Council, City staff, or member of the audience when properly

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



recognized by the Mayor. Any items removed are considered
separately by the City Council after the consent calendar.

Oral Communications from the Public

This is the portion of the Council meeting devoted to oral
presentations to the Council by members of the public. During this
time, a speaker may address the Council on any issue which does not
appear on the printed agenda.

In most instances, speakers will be limited to three minutes in
addressing the City Council.

Members of the Council shall not engage in debate with a member of
the public or respond to issues/questions raised during this portion
of the meeting.

No person who addresses the Council shall make any belligerent,
personal, slanderous, threatening or abusive remark, statement, or
commentary toward the Council, staff or other individuals in a
manner which disrupts, disturbs, or otherwise impedes the orderly
conduct of the Council meeting, nor shall any person engage in any
disorderly conduct which disrupts or impedes the orderly conduct of
the meeting. Any violation of this rule shall be grounds for
terminating the speaker's comment period. Continued inappropriate
behavior or comments, after having been directed to discontinue,
shall be grounds for removal from the meeting.

Nothing in this section shall prohibit or discourage orderly criticism
of any City decision or policy within the limits of State or Federal law
or these rules.

Public Hearings

During this portion of the meeting, public hearings are conducted on
all matters that have been properly and legally noticed as public
hearings. Any issue scheduled for a public hearing will provide the
proponents and opponents of the issue with the opportunity to
express their points of view to the City Council. After all views have
been expressed, the Mayor will close the public hearing, invite
Council to discuss the matter and ask Council to render its decision
on that matter.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

-3D.

10E2



10.

11.

12.

Unfinished Business

These are items of business which, for a variety of reasons, are
carried over from a previous meeting and require final Council
action.

New Business

This portion of the meeting is devoted to discussion or consideration
of items of business that have not previously been before the City
Council.

Items Initiated by Council

Under this item, any Councilmember may bring before the Council
for consideration any item he or she believes should be considered
by the Council.

Council, Staff/Committee Reports

Councilmembers may provide a brief report on their activities,
including reports on their committee activities, reports on inquiries
they have received from any member, or the Council itself may
provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information,
request staff to report back to the Council at a subsequent meeting
concerning a matter, take action to direct staff to place a matter of
business on a future agenda, or refer a work item to a Council
advisory body or Councilmember committee.

Closed Session Report

The City Attorney will announce any reportable Closed Session
actions taken by the City Council.

Adjournment

6.64  Order of Agenda Items for Council Advisory Bodies and Councilmember
Committees

The order of agenda business items for all boards, commissions, and
committees and Councilmember committees shall be the same as the
order of Council agenda business items.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct

610-01-14-14CoC

-33-

10E2



6.7 Rules of Procedure

6.8

6.9

6.7.1

6.7.2

City Council Policy A-13, City Council Meetings, provides general
guidance for the conduct of Council meetings. From time to time, the
Council may depart from its specific requirements for the convenience of
the public, Council consideration and debate, or to expedite the
processing of business. The Council by majority vote, however, may at
any time reinvoke Policy A-13's specific requirements.

In instances not addressed by the rules provided in City Council Policy A-
13, City Council Meetings, The Modern Edition of Robert's Rules of Order
may be used for reference and/or guidance.

Decorum

6.8.1

6.8.2

6.8.3

While the City Council is in session, all persons shall conduct themselves
with reasonable decorum.

Any person who is so disorderly or who so persistently disrupts the
business meeting so far as to interfere with the proper conduct of the
business may be ordered removed from the meeting place. At such time,
the Mayor may call a recess.

The Police Chief or authorized representative shall be sergeant at arms of
the Council meeting. The sergeant at arms shall carry out all orders and
all instructions of the presiding officer for the purpose of maintaining
order and decorum at Council meetings.

Time of Adjournment

It is the policy of the City that all evening meetings of the Council, including Study
Sessions, be adjourned no later than 10:00 p.m., which time is referred to as the
normal time of adjournment. No new item of business shall be taken up by the
City Council after the normal time unless the Council has determined by majority
vote to set aside this policy. In the event it appears that the entire agenda cannot
be completed by the normal time of adjournment, the Council may take up and act
upon the more pressing agenda items. All agenda items not considered at the
meeting shall be on the agenda of the next regular, special, or adjourned regular
meeting unless the Council directs otherwise.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -34-

10E2



6.10 Agenda Packets

6.10.1 Agenda packets are to be made available at the City Clerk's Office, the
Mountain ~ View  Public  Library, the City's web site
-and at the Council meeting.

Council meeting agendas, minutes, and staff reports are generally
available beginning the Thursday evening before each Council meeting.

NOTE: Also refer to City Council Policy A-13, City Council Meetings.
This policy sets forth the rules of procedure for the conduct of City
business.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



CHAPTER 7
COUNCIL FINANCIAL MATTERS

7.1 Compensation

72

7.1.1

712

7.1.3

714

Pursuant to Article V, Section 503 of the Mountain View City Charter,
each Councilmember will receive a monthly salary. The amount is the
salary limit established by the State Legislature for members of the City
Council of general law cities having a population range within which the
City of Mountain View falls, as specified in California Government Code
Section 36516(a).

The Mayor receives a monthly salary equal to the salary of a
Councilmember plus an additional 25 percent.

The City Council has no power to increase its salary by ordinance,
resolution, or motion.

Section 503 of the Mountain View City Charter stipulates that "if a
member of the City Council, or Mayor, does not attend all meetings of the
City Council or Study Sessions called on order of the City Council and
held during the month, that person's salary for such month shall be
reduced by the sum of Twenty-Five Dollars ($25) for each meeting or
Study Session not attended unless that person is absent on official duty
with the consent of or on order of the City Council."

Benefits

721

7.2.2

The California Government Code provides that Councilmembers may
receive health, retirement, and other benefits.

City-funded medical, dental, and life insurance plan benefits are
provided.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC -36

10E2



7.3 City Council Budget and Expenses

731  City Council Policy A-2, City Council Policy Governing Expenses of the
Council, provides policy guidance regarding Council expenditures for
equipment, supplies and communications; travel; local expenses; and
expenses charged against the City Council budget.

NOTE: Also refer to City Council Policy A-2, City Council Policy
Governing Expenses of the Council. This policy sets forth the policies
governing expenses of the City Council.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct
610-01-14-14CoC

10E2



Attachment 1 to
City Council Code of Conduct

CITY OF MOUNTAIN VIEW
CITY COUNCIL
PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT

PREAMBLE

The residents and businesses of Mountain View are entitled to have fair, ethical, and
accountable local government. Such a government requires that public officials:

e Comply with both the letter and the spirit of the laws and policies affecting
operations of the government.

e  Beindependent, impartial and fair in their judgment and actions.
e  Use their public office for the public good, not for personal gain.

e  Conduct public deliberations and processes openly, unless legally confidential, in
an atmosphere of respect and civility.

To this end, the Mountain View City Council has adopted this Code of Ethics to
encourage public confidence in the integrity of local government and its fair and
effective operation.

City Councilmembers shall sign this Personal Code of Conduct upon assuming office
and upon reelection to that office as a symbol of each Councilmember’s continuing
commitment to abide by the principles of this code.

1. Actin the Public Interest

Recognizing that stewardship of the public interest must be their primary concern,
Councilmembers shall work for the common good of the people of Mountain View
and not for any private or personal interest, and they will endeavor to treat all
persons, claims, and transactions in a fair and equitable manner.

2. Comply with the Law

Councilmembers shall comply with the laws of the nation, the State of California,
and the City in the performance of their public duties. These laws include, but are
not limited to: the United States and California constitutions; the Mountain View
City Charter; laws pertaining to conflicts of interest, election campaigns, financial

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct CITY COUNCIL
610-01-14-14CoC 1 Bﬁ]if 5 PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT



Attachment 1 to
City Council Code of Conduct

disclosures, employer responsibilities, and open processes of government; and
City ordinances and policies.

Conduct of Members

Councilmembers shall refrain from abusive conduct, personal charges, or verbal
attacks upon the character or motives of other members of the City Council,
boards, commissions, committees, staff, or the public.

Respect for Process

Councilmember duties shall be performed in accordance with the processes and
rules of order established by the City Council.

Conduct of Public Meetings

Councilmembers shall inform themselves of public issues, listen attentively to
public discussions before the body, and focus on the business at hand.

Decisions Based on Merit

Council decisions shall be based upon the merits and substance of the matter at
hand.

Communication

It is the responsibility of Councilmembers to publicly share substantive
information that is relevant to a matter under consideration that they have
received from sources outside of the public decision-making process with all other
Councilmembers.

Coordination with City Staff

Appropriate City staff should be involved when Councilmembers meet with
officials from other agencies and jurisdictions to ensure proper staff support as
needed and to keep staff informed.

Disclosure of Corruption

All City officials shall take an oath upon assuming office, pledging to uphold the
constitution and laws of the City, the State, and the Federal government. As part

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct CITY COUNCIL
610-01-14-14CoC 16%ﬁf 5 PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT



10.

11.

12.

13.

Attachment 1 to
City Council Code of Conduct

of this oath, officials commit to disclosing to the appropriate authorities and/or to
the City Council any behavior or activity that may qualify as corruption, abuse,
fraud, bribery, or other violation of the law.

Conflict of Interest

In order to assure their independence and impartiality on behalf of the public
good, Councilmembers shall not use their official positions to influence
government decisions in which they have a financial interest or where they have
an organizational responsibility or a personal relationship that would present a
conflict of interest under applicable State law.

In accordance with the law, members shall file written disclosures of their
economic interest and if they have a conflict of interest regarding a particular
decision, refrain from participating in that decision unless otherwise permitted by
law.

Gifts and Favors

Councilmembers shall not take advantage of services or opportunities for personal
gain by virtue of their public office that are not available to the public in general.
They shall refrain from accepting gifts, favors, or promises of future benefits that
might compromise their independence of judgment or action or give the
appearance of being compromised.

Confidential Information

Councilmembers shall respect and preserve the confidentiality of information
provided to them concerning the confidential matters of the City. They shall
neither disclose confidential information without proper legal authorization nor
use such information to advance their personal, financial, or private interests.

Use of Public Resources
Public resources not available to the general public (e.g., City staff time,

equipment, supplies, or facilities) shall not be used by Councilmembers for private
gain or personal purposes.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct CITY COUNCIL
610-01-14-14CoC 1 ﬁﬁﬁf 5 PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT



Attachment 1 to
City Council Code of Conduct

14. Representation of Private Interests
In keeping with their role as stewards of the public trust, Councilmembers shall
not appear on behalf of the private interests of a third-party before the City
Council or any board, commission, or committee or proceeding of the City.

15. Advocacy
To the best of their ability, Councilmembers shall represent the official policies and
positions of the City Council. When presenting their personal opinions or
positions, members shall explicitly state that they do not represent the Council or
the City.

16. Improper Influence
Councilmembers shall refrain from using their position to improperly influence
the deliberations or decisions of City staff, boards, commissions, or committees.

17. Policy Role of Members
Councilmembers shall respect and adhere to the Council-Manager structure of
Mountain View City government as provided in State law and the City Charter.

18. Positive Work Environment
Councilmembers shall support the maintenance of a positive and constructive
environment for residents, businesses, and City employees.

19. Implementation
Ethics standards shall be included in the regular orientations for City Council
candidates. Councilmembers entering office shall sign a statement affirming they
read and understood the City of Mountain View’s City Council Code of Ethics.

20. Compliance and Enforcement
Councilmembers themselves have the primary responsibility to assure that ethical
standards are understood and met and that the public can continue to have full
confidence in the integrity of City government.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct CITY COUNCIL

610-01-14-14CoC 1 ﬁﬁﬁf 5 PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT



Attachment 1 to
City Council Code of Conduct

This Personal Code of Conduct shall be considered to be a summary of the longer City
Council Code of Conduct document. The City Council Code of Conduct document
shall be considered to be the definitive document relating to ethical conduct by
Mountain View City Councilmembers.

Laffirm that I have read and understand the City of Mountain View City Council Personal Code
of Conduct.

Signature Date

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct CITY COUNCIL
610-01-14-14CoC 1 Bﬁﬁf 5 PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT



Attachment 2 to
City Council Code of Conduct

CITY OF MOUNTAIN VIEW
COUNCIL ADVISORY BODY
PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT

PREAMBLE

The residents and businesses of Mountain View are entitled to have fair, ethical, and
accountable local government. Such a government requires that public officials,
including Council advisory body members:

* Comply with both the letter and the spirit of the laws and policies affecting
operations of the government.

*  Beindependent, impartial, and fair in their judgment and actions.
*  Use their public office for the public good, not for personal gain.

*  Conduct public deliberations and processes openly, unless legally confidential, in
an atmosphere of respect and civility.

To this end, Council advisory body members are expected to adhere to the Code of
Conduct adopted by the Mountain View City Council to encourage public confidence in
the integrity of local government and its fair and effective operation.

Council advisory body members shall sign this Personal Code of Conduct at the first
meeting of the board, commission, or committee upon assuming office and, if
applicable, upon reappointment to the board, commission, or committee as a symbol of
each Council advisory body member’s commitment to abide by the principles of this
code during his or her term.

1.  Act in the Public Interest

Recognizing that stewardship of the public interest must be their primary concern,
Council advisory body members shall work for the common good of the people of
Mountain View and not for any private or personal interest, and they will
endeavor to treat all persons, claims, and transactions in a fair and equitable
manner.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct CITY COUNCIL
610-01-14-14CoC 16%]if 5 PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT



Attachment 2 to
City Council Code of Conduct

2. Comply with the Law

Council advisory body members shall comply with the laws of the nation, the State
of California, and the City in the performance of their public duties. These laws
include, but are not limited to: the United States and California Constitutions; the
Mountain View City Charter; laws pertaining to conflicts of interest, election
campaigns, financial disclosures, employer responsibilities, and open processes of
government; and City ordinances and policies.

3.  Conduct of Council Advisory Body Members
Council advisory body members shall refrain from abusive conduct, personal
charges, or verbal attacks upon the character or motives of Councilmembers; other
members of the Council advisory body; other boards, commissions, or committees;
staff; or the public.

4.  Respect for Process

Council advisory body member duties shall be performed in accordance with the
processes and rules of order established by the City Council.

5. Conduct of Public Meetings
Council advisory body members shall inform themselves of public issues, listen
attentively to public discussions before the body, and focus on the business at
hand.

6. Decisions Based on Merit

Council advisory body members shall base their decisions upon the merits and
substance of the matter at hand.

7. Communication

It is the responsibility of Council advisory body members to publicly share
substantive information that is relevant to a matter under consideration that they
have received from sources outside of the public decision-making process with all
other Council advisory body members.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct CITY COUNCIL
610-01-14-14CoC 1]6 f 5 PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT



10.

11.

12.

Attachment 2 to
City Council Code of Conduct

Coordination with City Staff

Appropriate City staff should be involved when Council advisory body members
meet with officials from other agencies and jurisdictions to ensure proper staff
support, as needed, and to keep staff informed.

Disclosure of Corruption

All City officials shall take an oath upon assuming office, pledging to uphold the
Constitution and laws of the City, the State, and the Federal government. As part
of this oath, officials commit to disclosing to the appropriate authorities and/or to
the City Council any behavior or activity that may qualify as corruption, abuse,
fraud, bribery, or other violation of the law.

Conflict of Interest

In order to assure their independence and impartiality on behalf of the public
good, Council advisory body members shall not use their official positions to
influence government decisions in which they have a financial interest or where
they have an organizational responsibility or a personal relationship that would
present a conflict of interest under applicable State law.

In accordance with the law, members shall file written disclosures of their
economic interest and if they have a conflict of interest regarding a particular
decision, refrain from participating in that decision unless otherwise permitted by
law.

Gifts and Favors

Council advisory body members shall not take advantage of services or
opportunities for personal gain by virtue of their public office that are not available
to the public in general. They shall refrain from accepting gifts, favors, or
promises of future benefits that might compromise their independence of
judgment or action or give the appearance of being compromised.

Confidential Information

Council advisory body members shall respect and preserve the confidentiality of
information provided to them concerning the confidential matters of the City.
They shall neither disclose confidential information without proper legal

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct CITY COUNCIL
610-01-14-14CoC 11’6%3ﬁf 5 PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT



13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Attachment 2 to
City Council Code of Conduct

authorization nor use such information to advance their personal, financial, or
private interests.

Use of Public Resources

Public resources not available to the general public (e.g., City staff time,
equipment, supplies, or facilities) shall not be used by Council advisory body
members for private gain or personal purposes.

Representation of Private Interests

In keeping with their role as stewards of the public trust, Council advisory body
members shall not appear on behalf of the private interests of a third party before
the City Council or any board, commission, or committee, or proceeding of the
City.

Advocacy

To the best of their ability, Council advisory body members shall represent the
official policies and positions of the City of Mountain View. When presenting
their personal opinions or positions, members shall explicitly state that they
represent neither the Council advisory body nor the City.

Improper Influence

Council advisory body members shall refrain from using their position to
improperly influence the deliberations or decisions of City staff, boards,
comimissions, or cominittees.

Policy Role of Members

Council advisory body members shall respect and adhere to the Council-Manager
structure of Mountain View City government as provided in State law and the City
Charter.

Positive Work Environment

Council advisory body members shall support the maintenance of a positive and
constructive environment for residents, businesses, and City employees.

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct CITY COUNCIL
610-01-14-14CoC 1Pa%4 of 5 PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT



Attachment 2 to
City Council Code of Conduct

19. Implementation

Ethics standards shall be included in the regular orientations for Council advisory
body members. Upon entering office and upon reappointment, Council advisory
body members shall sign a statement affirming they read and understood the City
of Mountain View’s City Council Code of Conduct.

20. Compliance and Enforcement

Council advisory body members themselves have the responsibility to assure that
ethical standards are understood and met, and that the public can continue to have
full confidence in the integrity of City government.

This Personal Code of Conduct shall be considered to be a summary of the longer City
Council Code of Conduct document. The City Council Code of Conduct document
shall be considered to be the definitive document relating to ethical conduct by
Mountain View City Council advisory body members.

I affirm that I have read and understand the City of Mountain View City Council Code of
Conduct.

Signature Date

CLK/7/Council Code of Conduct CITY COUNCIL
610-01-14-14CoC Pa%S of 5 PERSONAL CODE OF CONDUCT



City of Brea

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR

CITY COUNCIL

A
CALIFORNIA

November 2014

Last Revised: February 2021

10E2



Table of Contents

Introduction

Overview of Roles and Responsibilities
Mayor
Mayor Pro Tem
All Council Members
Meeting Chair

Policies and Protocol Related to Conduct
Agenda Items
Ceremonial Events
Endorsement of Candidates
Legislative Process
Public Comment on Agenda and Non-Agenda ltems
Public Inquiries
Public Hearing Meeting Protocol

Council Conduct with One Another
In Public Meetings
In Private Encounters

Council Conduct with City Staff

Council Conduct with the Public
In Public Meetings

In Unofficial Settings
Council Conduct with Other Public Agencies
Council Conduct with Commissions, Committees and Boards
Council Conduct with the Media
Sanctions

Public Disruption

Inappropriate Staff Behavior

Council Members Behavior and Conduct
Principles of Proper Conduct

Proper Conduct IS

Proper Conduct is NOT

It All Comes Down to Respect
Checklist for Monitoring Conduct

Glossary of Terms

10E2

DWW Ww WNN -

o

11
11
12
15

15
15

16
16
16
18

19



CODE OF CONDUCT FOR CITY COUNCIL

"Always do right. This will gratify some people and astonish the
rest. "

-.Mark Twain

INTRODUCTION

This Code of Conduct is designed to describe the manner in which Council Members should
treat one another. City staff, constituents, and others they come into contact with in
representing the City of Brea. As elected representatives of the citizens of the City of Brea, it
is essentialthat each Council Member's behavior be consistent with the level of responsibilities
and duties of governance entrusted to them by the people of the City of Brea.

The constant and consistent theme throughout of the Code of Conduct is "respect." Council
Members experience tremendous stress in making decisions that could impact thousands of lives.
Despite these pressures, elected officials are called upon to exhibit appropriate behavior at all
times. Demonstrating respect for each individual through words and actions is the touchstone that
can help guide Council Members to do the right thing in even the most difficult situations. Such
respect is the cornerstone of civility.

The overall principles and guidelines contained in this Code of Conduct also describe the
manner inwhichthe City Treasurer, City Clerk, Commissioners, Committee members and Board

members are expected to treat one anocther, City staff, and all others they come into contact
with in representing the City of Brea.

OVERVIEW OF ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

MAYOR

- Serves atthe pleasure of the City Council

= Acts as the official head of the City for all ceremonial purposes

= Chairs City Council meetings and as otherwise authorized by the Council

- Calls for special meetings

- Recognized as spokesperson for the City Council

- Selects substitute for City representation when Mayor cannot attend

= Makes Council Member assignment nominations to applicable standing committees and
regional boards and committees. Appointment to such standing committees and regional
boards and committees requires approval of the majority of Council. These standing
committees and regional boards and committees are those that do not require appointment
through external agencies or organizations (such as Orange County City Selection).

Council Members who are originally appointed to ad hoc committee shall continue in their
assignments. Ad hoc committee assignments are not subject to change unless an assigned

10E2



Council Member resigns from the committee or is no longer serving on the Council. Ad hoc
committees shall be created to support and further Council priorities. When an ad hoc
committee is created, the Council will define the committee’s goals and the committee shall
provide periodic progress reports to Council. No ad hoc committee will be formed without
Council approval.

Makes judgment calls on which proclamations to give
Leads the Council into an effective, cohesive working team
Signs documents on behalf of the City of Brea

Serves as official delegate of the City to the Leagues of California Cities, National League of
cities and other events and conferences

MAYOR PRO TEM

Serves at the pleasure of the City Council
Performs the duties of the Mayor if the Mayor IS absent or disabled
Chairs City Council meetings in the absence of the Mayor

Represents the City at ceremonial functions at the request of the Mayor

ALL COUNCIL MEMBERS

All members of the City Council, including those serving as Mayor and Mayor Pro Tern, have equal
votes. No Council Member has more power than any other Council Member and all should be
treated and treat each other with civility and respect.

All Council Members shall:

Demonstrate honesty, integrity, and civility in every action and statement

Fully participate in City Council meetings and other public forums while demonstrating respect,
kindness, consideration, and courtesy to others

Prepare in advance of Council meetings and be familiar with issues on the agenda. Make a
reasonable effort to meet with staff before meetings to receive answers to questions regarding
the agenda

Represent the City at ceremonial functions at the request of the Mayor

Place activities and events on the Council's weekly activities calendar that invite official
participation of all Council Members

Be respectful of other people's time. Stay focused and act efficiently during public meetings
Serve as a model of leadership and civility to the community
Inspire public confidence in Brea City government

Provide contact information to the City Manager's Executive Assistant in case an emergency or

10E2



urgent situation arises while the Council Member is out of town

« Participate in scheduled activities to increase team effectiveness

MEETING CHAIR

The Mayor will chair official meetings of the City Council, unless the Mayor Pro Tem or another
Council Member is designated as Chair of a specific meeting. The Chair of meetings:

- Maintains order, decorum, and the fair and equitable treatment of all speakers
- Keeps discussion and questions focused on the specific agenda ltem under consideration

= Makes parliamentary rulings with advice, if requested, from the City Attorney who acts as an
advisory parliamentarian. Chair rulings may be overturned if a Council Member makes a motion
as an individual and the majority of Council votes to overrule the Chair.

POLICIES AND PROTOCOL RELATED TO CONDUCT

AGENDA ITEMS

The Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem, in consultation with the City Manager, shall determine agenda items
for City Council Meetings. However, to ensure all Council Member views are represented, study
session agendas contain a section titled "Council Member Reports/ Requests" and general session
agendas contain a section titled "Council Requests". These portions of the meeting allow any
Council Member to request an agenda item for a future meeting, and allow the City Council to have
a short discussion on the request (but not on the substance of the item). Any request must include
an explanation of the issue and the goal of the proposed Council discussion. If at least one other
Council Member indicates support for the request at that time, then the item shall be placed on a
future agenda. Upon support for the request, the Council will provide direction to staff on information
that is desired to be presented when the item is placed on a future agenda. The Mayor and Mayor
Pro Tem shall schedule the item no later than 45 days following the request, unless the Council
Member who requested the item consents to it being placed on the agenda of a later meeting.
Additionally, with the advice of the City Manager and City Attorney, the Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem
will determine the type of meeting (regular or special) and the type of session (closed, study, or
general) at which the item will be considered.

CEREMONIAL EVENT

City staff will handle requests for a City representative at ceremonial events. The Mayor will serve
as the designated City representative. If the Mayor is unavailable, then City staff will determine
if event organizers would like another representative from the Council. If yes, then the Mayor
Pro Tern will be asked to serve as a substitute; if the Mayor Pro Tem is unavailable, the request
will to go another member of the Council. Invitations received at City Hall are presumed to be for
official City representation. Invitations addressed to individual Council Members at their homes
are presumed to be for unofficial, personal consideration, unless otherwise indicated, and the
individual is expected to represent the City of Brea in a formal capacity.

ENDORSEMENT OF CANDIDATES

Council Members have the right to endorse candidates for all Council seats or other elected offices.
It is inappropriate to mention endorsements during Council meeting or other official City meetings.

10E2



LEGISLATIVE PROCESS

The City follows parliamentary procedure for the management of meetings using guidelines
adopted by Resolution No. 2014-065 on October 7, 2014.

PUBLIC COMMENT ON AGENDA AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS

During a designated period of the agenda, the public may comment on any item of interest that is
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Council. As a general rule, a speaker will be limited to
five minutes.

The City Manager will respond, as deemed appropriate, to comments related to items on the
meeting's agenda. In compliance with the Brown Act, the City Council may not take action or discuss
any item that does not appear on the Council meeting agenda.

UBLIC INQUIRIE

City staff will prepare official letters in response to public inquires and concerns, as appropriate.
These letters will carry the signature of the Mayor unless the Mayor requests that another Council
Member or City staff sign them. If correspondence is addressed only to one Council Member that
Council Member should generally check with staff on the best way to respond to the sender. In the
event a Council Member, as an elected representative, feels compelled to express an opinion a
matter, i t shall be with the express understanding and stated as such, that it is their personal opinion
and does not many way represent that of the City Council. Nor, under any circumstances, should a
Council Member state or attempt to represent the opinion of the City Council or of another Council
Member.

Council Members may receive public inquires via email and may choose to respond directly vi a
email . All such correspondence is considered a public record and should be treated as such. As
with official letter responses to public inquires, to a Council Member feels compelled to express an
opinion on a matter, it shall be with the express understanding, and stated as such, that it is a
personal opinion and does not m any way represent that of the City Council.

PUBLIC HEARING MEETING PROTOCOL

The applicant or appellant shall have the right to speak first after staff presentation regarding the
item being appealed. The Chair will determine the length of time allowed for this presentation.
Speakers representing either pro or con points of view will be allowed to follow. The Chair will
determine and announce limits on speakers at the start of the public hearing process. Generally,
each speaker will be allocated five minutes with applicants and appellants, or their designed
representatives, allowed more time. If many speakers are anticipated, the Chair may shorten the
time limit and/or ask speakers to limit themselves to new information and points of view not already
covered by previous speakers. No speaker will be turned away unless he/she exhibits inappropriate
behavior. Each speaker may only speak once during the public hearing unless the Council requests
additional clarification later in the process. After the close of the public hearing, no more public
testimony will be accepted unless the Chair reopens the public hearing for a limited and specific
purpose.

The applicant or appellant will be allowed to make closing comments. The Chair has the

responsibility to run an efficient public meeting and has the discretion to modify the public hearing
process in order to make the meeting run smoothly and/or accommodate extenuating

circumstances.
1062



Established protocol dictates that Council Members do not express opinions during the public
hearing portion of the meeting except to ask pertinent questions of the speaker or staff. "l think" and
"l feel" comments by Council Members are not appropriate until after the close of the public hearing.
To maintain proper public decorum it is important that Council Members refrain from arguing or
debating w ith the public during a public hearing and always show respect for different points of
view.

Main motions may be followed by amendments, followed by substitute motions. Any Council
Member can call for a point of order. Only Council Members who voted on the prevailing side may
make motions to reconsider. Council Members who desire to make the first motion on issues that
they feel strongly about should discuss their intention with the Chair in advance of the Council
meeting.

COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH ONE ANOTHER

Councils are composed of individuals with a wide variety of backgrounds, personalities, values,
opinions, and goals. Despite this diversity, all have chosen to serve in public office in order to
preserve and protect the present and the future of the community. In all cases, this common goal
respectfully acknowledge this potential diversity of opinion and viewpoint even as Council may
"agree to disagree" on contentious issues.

IN PUBLIC MEETINGS
= Use of formal titles

The Council should generally refer to one another formally during public meetings as Mayor,
Mayor Pro Tem or Council Member followed by the individual’'s last name

= Practice civility and decorum in discussions and debate

Difficult questions, tough challenges to a particular point of view, and criticism of ideas and
information are legitimate elements of a free democracy in action. This does not, however, grant
the right for Council Members to make belligerent, personal, impertinent, slanderous,
threatening, abusive, or disparaging comments. No shouting or physical actions that could be
construed as threatening and otherwise disruptive can be tolerated. Disruptive behavior, at the
direction of the Council, can result in expulsion from the proceedings.

= Honor the role of the Chair in maintaining order

It is the responsibility of the Chair to keep the comments of Council Members on track during
public meetings. Council Members should honor efforts by the Chair to focus discussion on
current agenda ltems. If there is a disagreement about the agenda or the Chair's actions, those
objections should be voiced politely and with reason, following procedures outlined in
parliamentary procedures adopted on October 7, 2014. Differences of opinion of what
constitutes appropriate versus inappropriate shall be resolved by consensus of the full Council
at an appropriate time.

- Avoid personal comments that may offend other Council Members

10E2



If a Council Member is personally offended by the remarks of another Council Member, the
offended Council Member should make notes of the actual words used and call for a "point of
personal privilege" that challenges the other Council Member to justify or apologize for the
language used. The Chair will maintain control of the discussion.

- Demonstrate effective problem-solving approaches

Council Members have a public stage to show how individuals with different points of view
can find common ground and seek a compromise that benefits the community as a whole.

IN PRIVATE ENCOUNTERS
= Continue respectful behavior in private

The same level of respect and consideration in differing points of view that is deemed
appropriate for public discussions should be maintained in private conversations.

Be aware that the insecurity of written notes, voicemail messages, and email technology
allows words written or said without much forethought to be distributed wide and far. lt could
create unpleasant consequences and cause embarrassment. Written notes, voicemail
messages and email should be treated as potentially “public” communication and partofthe
publicrecord.

- Even private conversations can have a public presence

Elected officials are always on display - their actions, mannerisms, and language are
monitored by people around them that they may not know. Lunch table conversations will be
eavesdropped upon, parking lot debates will be watched, and casual comments between
individuals before and after public meetings noted. Council Members must behave at all times
in a manner reflective of the trust placed in them by the public.

COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH CITY STAFF

Every effort should be made to be cooperative and show mutual respect for the contributions
made by each individual for the good of the community. The City of Brea is a general law city
governed by the council/manager form of government. The City Council, with the assistance of its
advisory commissions and boards, makes policies and fundamental governmental decisions; the
City Ma n ag er i s charged with implementing those policies and decisions and administering the
day-to-day affairs of the City with the assistance of his/her staff. The City Council has direct authority
over the City Manager and the City Attorney; all other employees of the City are under the direct
authority of the City Manager. Following this hierarchy is important to the success of the basic
structure and to maintaining positive and effective working relationships between the City Council
and employees, and will prevent any confusion and/or inefficiency associated with potentially
contradictory direction.

- Treat all staff as professionals
Clear, honest communication that respects the abilities, experience and dignity of each

individual is expected. Poor behavior toward staff is improper, disrespectful and, as such,
inappropriate and unacceptable.

10E2



Limit contact to specific City staff

Questions of City staff and/or requests for additional information or services should be directed
only to the City Manager. If, in the opinion of the City Manager the request makes sense and
requires little staff time and/or resources, the City Manager can direct the appropriate
department to fulfill therequest.

Do not disrupt City staff from their Jobs

To maintain efficiency in daily activities, it is important that Council Members not disrupt City
staff while they are in meetings, on the telephone, or engrossed in performing their job functions
in order to have their individual needs met.

Respect City staffs time

Given ongoing fiscal constraints and limited staff and Council time, individual Council Members
should minimize memos and maximize face-to-face interaction with other Council Members or
staff.

In this respect, individual Council Members should schedule meeting with their counterparts, the
City Manager, or department directors, depending on the issue to be discussed. As a matter of
courtesy and mutual respect, Council Members and staff should keep their scheduled meetings
or call in advance to cancel or reschedule.

Requests for information

All Council Members will receive the same material and information to make legislative and
other policy decisions and all requests for information should be made to the City Manager to
ensure consistency.

If a Council Member requests research on an issue, staff shall provide such research if it does
not require extensive time to research the issue. The City Manager shall determine if the
research is "extensive" or not. If the issue is complex and requires extensive staff time, the
request must be approved by the City Council.

If a Council Member needs to review a document maintained in the City's records system, upon
request to the City Manager, staff will retrieve the requested document. The City Manager is
legally responsible for the management and retention of City records, and only staff is authorized
to retrieve information from the records system.

Because of the associated costs, individual Council Members shall not make direct contact to
City or Agency consultants or outside legal counsel requesting information, research or service.
Any request should be directed to the City Manager for compliance.

Confidential private financial statements are not provided to individual Council Members or the
Council as a whole without the concurrence of the City Attorney.

Never publicly criticize an individual employee

Council should never express concerns about the performance of a City employee in public, to
the employee directly, or to the employee's manager. Comments about staff performance
should only be made to the City Manager through private correspondence or conversation.

10E2



Do not get involved in administrative functions

To prevent raising concerns of misdeeds, or questionable motives, Council Members must not
attempt to influence City staff on the making of appointments, awarding of contracts, selection
of consultants, processing of development applications, or granting of City licenses and permits.
Check with City staff on correspondence before taking action

To prevent conflicting statements or duplications, before sending correspondence, Council
Members shall check with City staff to see if an official City response has already been sent
or is in progress. Typically the Mayor, through consultation with staff, should respond to
communications addressed to the entire Council. When it is unclear whether a
correspondence is to an individual Council Member or the City Council as a whole, Council
Members should consult with the Mayor or staff to determine the appropriate response.

Council Members are discouraged from attending public meetings with City staff unless
requested by staff

Council Members correctly feel their presence at public meetings demonstrates an interested
in the issue, however, it can also leave the public with an impression of the Council Member's
position on the issue that may or may not be correct. Even if the Council Member does not say
anything, the Council Member's presence can impact the meeting by implying support, showing
partiality, intimidating staff, and hampering staff's ability to do their job objectively. This should
be avoided because when the item does come before the City Council, Council Members'
deliberative process may have produced a different outcome, which may be viewed as the
Council Member misleading the public.

Staff will always provide the public with this explanation of why the City Council is not present
at the meeting.

Requests for additional staff support

Requests for additional staff support, even in high priority or emergency situations, should be
made to the City Manager or Assistant City Manager, or designated representative who is
responsible for allocating City resources in order to maintain a professional, well-run City
government.

Do not solicit political support from staff

Council Members should not solicit any type of political support (financial contributions, display
of posters or lawn signs, name on support lists, etc.) from City staff. City staff may, as private
citizens with constitutional rights, support political candidates, but all such activities must be
conducted away from the workplace.

COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH THE PUBLIC

IN PUBLIC MEETINGS

Making the public feel welcome is an important part of the democratic process. No signs of partiality,
prejudice or disrespect should be evident on the part of individual Council Members toward an
individual participating m a public forum. Every effort should be made to be fair and impartial in
listening to public testimony.

10E2



Be welcoming to speakers and treat them with care and respect

Remember that most people who address the Council are not professional speakers and are
not accustomed to speaking in public, and even those that are may be intimidated by the
situation.

Be fair and equitable in allocating public hearing time to individual speakers

Public hearings provide the opportunity for the public to provide comment and feedback to
the Council on issues that are of importance to them, and sometimes these comments can
cause the meeting to go much longer than anticipated. However, each member of the public
who wishes to speak should be given equal consideration and attention, and not rushed. But
each speaker is expected to stay within the allocated time.

Actively listen

Listening is a critically important skill. In the interest of courtesy and decorum, Council Members
should listen patiently to various opinions from all quarters. It can be disconcerting to speakers
to have Council Members not look at them when they are speaking. It is fine to look down at
documents or to make notes, but reading for a long period of time, or gazing around the room
gives the appearance of disinterest and may unintentionally offend the speaker. As public
official it's important to be aware of facial expressions, especially those that could be interpreted
as "smirking," disbelief, anger or boredom.

Ask for clarification, but it's important to avoid debate and argument with the public

Only the Chair - not individual Council Members ~ can interrupt a speaker during a
presentation. However, a can ask the Chair for a point of order if the speaker is off the topic
orexhibiting behaviorlanguagethe CouncilMemberfinds disturbing.

If speakers become flustered or defensive by Council questions, it is the responsibility of the
Chair to calm and focus the speaker and to maintain the order and decorum of the meeting.
Questions by Council Members to members of the public testifying should seek to clarify or
expand information. It is never appropriate for elected officials to belligerently challenge or
belittle a speaker. Council Members personal opinions or inclinations about upcoming votes
should not be revealed until after the public hearing is closed.

No personal attacks of any kind, are appropriate under any Circumstance

Council Members should be aware that their body language and tone of voice may appear to
be intimidating or aggressive to some speakers.

Follow adopted parliamentary procedure in conducting public meetings
The City Attorney serves as advisory parliamentarian for the City and is available to answer

questions or interpret situations according to parliamentary procedures. Final rulings on
parliamentary procedure are made by the Chair, subject to an appeal by the full Council.

10E2



IN UNOFFICIAL SETTINGS

Make no promises on behalf of the Council

No individual Council Member has the authority to represent or make commitments on behalf
of the City Council. Council Members will frequently be asked to explain a Council action or to
give their opinion about an issue as they meet and talk with constituents in the community. It is
appropriate to give a brief overview of City policy and to refer to City staff for further
information. It is inappropriate to overtly or implicitly promise Council action, or to promise City
staff will do something specific (fix a pothole, remove a street tree, plant new flowers in the
median, efc.).

Make no personal comments about other Council Members

It is acceptable to publicly disagree about an Issue, but i t is unacceptable to make derogatory
comments about other Council Members, their opinions and actions. Doing so may undermine
confidence in and respect for the City Council as a body.

Remember that Brea is a small town at heart. Council Members are constantly being observed
by the community every day that they serve in office. Their behaviors and comments serve as
models for proper deportment in the City. Honesty and respect for the dignity of each individual
should be reflected in the words and actions taken by Council Members. It is a serious and
continuous responsibility.

COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH OTHER PUBLIC AGENCIES
Be clear about representing the City or personal interests

If a Council Member appears before another governmental agency or organization to give a
statement on an Issue, the Council Member must clearly state i f his/her statement reflects
personal opinion or is the official stance of the City and whether this is the majority or minority
opinion of the Council. If the Council Member is representing the City, the Council Member must
support and advocate the official City position on an Issue, not a personal viewpoint. If the
Council Member is representing another organization whose position is different from the City,
the Council Member should withdraw from voting on the Issue If It significantly impacts or is
detrimental to the City's interests.

Council Members should be clear about which organizations they represent and inform the
Mayor and Council of their involvement.

Correspondence also should be equally clear about representation

City letterhead may be used when the Council Member is representing the City and the City's
official position. A copy of the official correspondence should be given to the City Manager’s
Executive Assistant to be filed in the Council Office as part of the permanent public record.

it is best that City letterhead not be used for correspondence of Council Members
representing a personal point of view, or a dissenting point of view from an official Council
position. However, should a Council Member use City letterhead to express a personal
opinion, It must be clear to the reader that this is not the official City position.

10E2



COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH COMMISSIONS, COMMITTEES AND BOARDS

The City has established commissions, committees and boards as a means of gathering more
community input. Citizens who serve as such become more involved in government and serve as
advisors to the City Council. They are a valuable resource to the City's leadership and should be
treated with appreciation and respect.

If attending a commission, committee or board meeting, be careful to only express individual
personal opinions

Council Members may attend any commission, committee, or board meeting, which are always
open to any member of the public. However, they should be sensitive to the way their
participation, especially if it is on behalf of an individual, business or developer, could be viewed
as unfairly affecting the process. Any public comments by a Council Member at a commission,
committee or board meeting should be clearly made as individual opinion and not a
representation of the feelings of the entire City Council.

Limit contact with commission, committee, or board members to questions of clarification

It is inappropriate for a Council Member to contact a commission, committee, or board member
to lobby on behalf of an individual, business, or developer. It is acceptable for Council Members
to contact commission, committee, or board members in order to clarify a position taken by the
commission, committee, or board.

Remember that commissions, committees, and boards serve the community, not individual
Council Members

The City Council appoints individuals to serve on commissions, committees, and boards and it
is the responsibility of these groups to follow policy established by the Council.

Bu
t commission, committee and board members do not report to individual Council Members, nor
should Council Members feel they have the power or right to threaten members with removal if
they disagree with them about an issue. Appointment and reappointment to a commission,
committee, or board is governed by the Municipal Code and should be based on such criteria
as expertise, ability to work with staff and the public, commitment to the community and to
fulfiling official duties.

Be respectful of diverse opinions

A primary role of commissions, committees, and boards is to represent many points of view in
the community and to provide the Council with advice based on a full spectrum of concerns and
perspectives. Council Members may have a closer working relationship with some
individuals serving on commissions, committees and boards, but must be fair and respectful
of all citizens serving on commissions, committees and boards.

Keep political support away from public forums
Commission, committee and board members may offer political support to a Council Member,
but not in a public forum while conducting official duties. Conversely, Council Members may

support commission, committee or board members who are running for office, but not in an
official forum in their capacity as a Council Member.

10E2



COUNCIL CONDUCT WITH THE MEDIA

Council Members are frequently contacted by the media for background and quotes.

The Mayor and the City Manager shall determine the official spokesperson for the City's
position on high-profile Issues

If an individual Council Member is contacted by the media, the Council Member should refer

the media to the Mayor or the City Manager and refrain from making statements that would
give the appearance of representing the City's position.

The City Manager or his/her designee shall be the City's spokesperson on routine media
inquires

Remember who you are

A Council Member must always be aware of his/her role as a policy maker in the
organization, and the deference that is afforded you by the public because of your office.
Consequently, it is very important to remember not to speculate or venture outside your
area of expertise. The public will rely on what they are told by an elected official.

The best advice for dealing with the media is to never go "off the record”

Most members of the media represent the highest levels of journalistic integrity and ethics, and
can be trusted to keep their word. But one bad experience can be catastrophic. Words that are
not said cannot be quoted.

Never say "no comment"

This statement can easily be misconstrued. If a Council Member does not have the information
available, it is best to say so and let the media know when the information will be available
and then make certain to follow through.

Do not be afraid to say "l don't know"

If a Council Member does not know the answer to a question, it is best to just say so, then find
out. Itis helpful to ask the media for their deadline and then get back to them on time.

Don't speculate; avoid hypothetical questions

A Council Member may choose to raise a case study hypothesis to illustrate a process, but
should not be lured into speculating about what has not occurred.

Be positive, not defensive
Choose words carefully and cautiously
Comments taken out of context can cause problems. Be especially cautious about humor,

sardonic asides, sarcasm, or word play. It is never appropriate to use personal slurs or swear
words when talking with the media.

10E2



Avoid "never" and "always"

Opinions may change as additional information is revealed. Absolutes can come home to haunt!

Do not fill in the silences

Silences can be a tool used by the media to keep a Council Member talking in hopes of obtaining
more information. The only thing that should be said to fill in a silence is the Council Member's
own prepared key messages.

Do not lose your composure

A Council Member may win the battle, but will always lose the war.

Do not argue with the media

Arguing with the media is a no-win situation. A Council Member who is calm and in good temper
will also look like a sensible adult. That is a good image to convey. Keep in mind that editing
has final control and an argument may be the only thing shown on the evening news.

Neverlie

It is better not to express an opinion than to fabricate a response that may not be entirely factual,
and would tend to mislead the press.

10E2



SANCTIONS
PUBLIC DISRUPTION

Members of the public who do not follow proper conduct after a warning in a public hearing
may be barred from further testimony at that meeting or removed from the Council Chambers.

INAPPROPRIATE STAFF BEHAVIOR

City staff members who do not follow proper conduct in their dealings with Council Members, other
City staff, or the public will be referred to the City Manager. These employees may be disciplined
by the City Manager m accordance w1th City policies and procedures.

COUNCIL MEMBERS BEHAVIOR AND CONDUCT

City Council Members who are alleged to be m violation of State or Fair Political Practices laws or
guidelines should be referred to the appropriate agencies.

City Council Members who intentionally and repeatedly do not follow proper conduct as outlined in
this Code of Conduct may be reprimanded or formally censured by the Council, lose seniority or
committee assignments (both within the City or with intergovernmental agencies) or have official
travel restricted. Serious infractions of the City's Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct could lead
to other sanctions as deemed appropriate by Council.

It is the responsibility of the individual Council Member to initiate action if a Council Members
behavior may warrant sanction. The alleged violation(s) can be presented to the full Council m a
public meeting. If violation of the Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct is outside of the behaviors
observed by the Council, then subsequent investigation and potential sanctions should be reviewed
and approved by the Council.

10E2



PRINCIPLES OF PROPER CONDUCT
PROPER CONDUCT IS...
- Keeping promises
=« Being dependable
= Building a solid reputation
= Participating and being available
= Demonstrating patience
- Showing empathy
= Holding onto ethical principles under stress
= Listening attentively
= Studying thoroughly
= Keeping integrity intact
= Overcoming discouragement
= Going above and beyond, time and time again

= Modeling a professional manner

PROPER CONDUCT IS NOT

= Showing antagonism or hostility

« Deliberately lying or misleading

= Speaking recklessly

= Spreading rumors

- Stirring up bad feelings, divisiveness

« Acting in a self-righteous manner

10E2



ITALL COMES DOWN TO RESPECT

Respect for one another as individuals
Respect for the validity of different opinions
Respect for the democratic process

Respect for the community that we serve

10E2



CHECKLIST FOR MONITORING CONDUCT
Will my decision/statement/action violate the trust, rights or good will of others?
What are my interior motives and the spirit behind my actions?
If I have to justify my conduct in public tomorrow, will | do so with pride or shame?
How would my conduct be evaluated by people whose integrity and character |respect?
Even if my conduct is not illegal or unethical, is it done at someone else's painful expense?
Will it destroy their trust inme?
Will it harm their reputation?
Is my conduct fair? Just? Morally right?

If 1 were on the receiving end of my conduct, would | approve and agree, or would | take
offense?

Does my conduct give others reason to trust or distrust me?

Am | willing to take an ethical stand whenitis called for?

Am | willing to make my ethical beliefs public in a way that makes it clear what | stand for?
Do | exhibit the same conduct in my private life as | do in my public life?

Can | take legitimate pride in the way | conduct myself and the example | set?

Do | listen and understand the views of others?

Do | question and confront different points of view in a constructive manner?

Do I work to resolve differences and come to mutual agreement?

Do | support others and show respect for their ideas?

Will my conduct cause public embarrassment to someone else?

10E2



GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Attitude The manner in which one shows one's dispositions, opinions, and feelings
Behavior External appearance or action; manner of behaving; carriage of oneself
Civility Politeness, consideration, courtesy

Conduct The way one acts; personal behavior politeness connected with kindness
Courtesy Suitable; proper; good taste in behavior

Decorum A way of acting; a style, method, or form; the way m which things are done
Manners An interruption of a meeting to question whether rules or bylaws are being

broken, such as the speaker has strayed from the motion currently under
consideration

Point of order A challenge to a speaker to defend or apologize for comments that a fellow
Point of Council Member considers offensive

personal

privilege

Propriety Conforming to acceptable standards of behavior

Protocol The courtesies that are established as proper and correct

10E2



APPENDIX

REVISIONS TO CODE
DATE SECTION ACTION
October 2, 2018 COUNCIL Removal of language:

CONDUCT

WITH Inappropriate behavior can lead to removal -
COMMISSIONS, | /nappropriate  behavior by a commission,
COMMITTEES committee, or board member should be noted to the
AND BOARDS Mayor, and the Mayor should counsel the offending

member. If inappropriate behavior continues, the
Mayor should bring the situation to the attention of
the Council and the individual may be subject to
removal from the commission, committee or board.

January 15, 2019

POLICIES AND
PROTOCOL

RELATED TO
CONDUCT -
AGENDA ITEMS

Revisions amended the procedures for City
Council to make agenda requests.

Removal of language:

Individual Council Members should submit
requests, preferably written, for agenda Iltems fo
the Mayor for consideration. In the case of a
dispute a Council Member may, at a public
meeting, request the support of the majority of the
Council to place an item on the agenda.

Addition of language:

However, to ensure all Council Member views are
represented, study session agendas contain a
section titled  “Council Member Reports/
Requests”. In addition to their reports, this portion
of the meeting allows any Council Member to
request an agenda item for a future meeting, and
allows the City Council fo have a short discussion
on the request (but not on the substance of the
item). Any request must include an explanation of
the issue and the goal of the proposed Council
discussion. If at least one other Council Member
indicates support for the request at that time, then
the item shall be placed on a future agenda. Upon
support for the request, the Council will provide
direction o staff on information that is desired to be
presented when the item is placed on a future
agenda. Additionally, with the advice of the City
Manager and City Attorney, the Council will provide
direction to staff on the type of meeting (regular or

10E2




special) and the type of session (closed, study, or
general) at which the item will be considered. The
Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem shall schedule the item
no later than 45 days following the request, unless
the Council Member who requested the item
consents to it being placed on the agenda of a later
meeting.

April 2, 2019

POLICIES AND
PROTOCOL

RELATED TO
CONDUCT -
AGENDA ITEMS

Revisions clarified that the Mayor and Mayor
Pro Tem, rather than the full Council, have the
authority to provide direction to staff on the
type of meeting and session at which Council-
requested agenda items will be considered.

Revisions also added an opportunity for City
Council to make agenda requests during
General Session.

Removal of language:

Additionally, with the advice of the City Manager
and City Attorney, the Council will provide direction
to staff on the type of meeting (regular or special)
and the type of session (closed, study or general)
at which the item will be considered..

Addition of language:

...and general session agendas contain a section
titled “Council Requests.”

Additionally, with the advice of the City Manager
and City Attorney, the Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem
will determine the type of meeting (regular or
special) and the type of session (closed, study, or
general) at which the item will be considered.

February 16, 2021

OVERVIEW OF
ROLES AND
RESPONSIBI-
LITIES -
MAYOR

Revisions clarified Mayor’s role in making
internal and external committee assignments.

Language revision:

Makes Council Member assignments nominations
to Council-—subcemmittees applicable standing
committees and regional boards and committees
Appointment to such standing committees and
regional boards and committees requires approval
of the majority of Council. These standing
committees and regional boards and committees
are those that do not require appointment through

10E2




external agencies or organizations (such as
Orange County City Selection). Council Members
who are originally appointed to ad hoc committee
shall continue in their assignments. Ad hoc
committee assighments are not subject to change
unless an assigned Council Member resigns from
the committee or is no longer serving on the
Council. Ad hoc committees shall be created fo
support and further Council priorities. When an ad
hoc committee is created, the Council will define
the committee’s goals and the committee shall
provide periodic progress reports to Council. No
ad hoc committee will be formed without Council
approval.

10E2




Town of Berthoud Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and

Commissions
Table OFf CONEENTS ....viie ittt ettt e s e sa e s e assr e e s e s benbe s beseesraesaesbeseesseannensan 1
OVEIVIEW &L PUIPOSE .aviveiicuiie e ite e e ctce s seer s sstte s sabe e s s s be e e s be e e e s s rabe e e s esbteteseanbesaesabeseesatbeseessbeeaeaatessasnein 2
DETTINIEIONS ... ¢ttt e e e b s b b e e b e e saa e sane s besre et e e sranen 2
ROIES & RESPONSIDIIITIES .vviieieriies ettt e s e s b e s b e s ate s s abs e e b e e sarceanseessnbsesveaernnsantens 2
Principals Of GOOT GOVEINANCE......cuiiiiecieerirectresiee s sceeeseesbaesssbaesbae e s reresabeasaesssssesnseresabessabessrssessesan 3
CONFIICES OF INEEIEST... ..ottt et st s et sre e e e et e be s b et s ssaesberensbeseas 3
0o o Yo 1= LA (1Y OO OO RS 4
TS a. ot e ek R e e R R R e R e R e ResEe e e e re R e nre e berenrn e 4
General Ethics GUIGEIINES ..coeiiiiiiee ittt ae e et e e re s s asn e b e snesraeees 5
C0dE OF CONMAUET ...ttt et st b e bt a bt e et e abe e e s e restreanestesresresreses 6
WIith One ANOLREr ... ittt et st r b et e e e a ks besbasbaebneiaeneanreas 6
IN PUDIIC IMBETINGS . iteiiiiicieie e ciieste e te st e st e st e e e s et e s re e s e s reesba e e abaresabeeebeeaatasesabessnbessbessssnesarenn 6
[N Private ENCOUNLEIS... .o a s e s een e e s r e s sar e s nresarees 7
Between Staff & Elected Officials........cocaiiicniencreie e e e be e e 7
Between Boards & COMMISSIONS... ..ociiriiiiirieeciiteitte e ssaesiensssaeseerresasessenesasensnassesssessssssssassesssassssans 8
WILh The MEdia... c.eeeeeeee ettt e e s te s te e s eaesbtesbeabesenenebes 9
Enforcement/Sanctions/PeNalties... .....cvrirriiirriiensi s b e n et 8
1

10E2



Town of Berthoud Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and
Commissions

OVERVIEW AND PURPOSE

The Town of Berthoud, a Colorado Town, (hereafter the “Town” or “Town of Berthoud”) is commiited
to transparent, collegial, ethical local government, and to that end endorses the following “Town of
Berthoud Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and Commissions” (hereafter “Code of
Conduct”) to provide guidance assisting Public Servants in the performance of their duties in a manner
which serves the public interest and honors public trust. This document is intended to embody core
values of the government of the Town of Berthoud, including:

Fiscal Responsibility Professionalism Accountability Integrity
Transparency Respect Service
DEFINITIONS

“Appearance of Impropriety” means actions or decisions which do not fall under conflict of interest
statutes, but reasonably give rise to an implication that an action is self-serving rather than considered
solely with respect to its impact on the Town and its citizens.

“Censure” means an official written statement approved by the Board of Trustees as an official
Sanction which identifies the Code of Conduct violation and expresses disapproval of those violations.

“Gifts of Substantial Value” are as defined in Section 18 of Title 24 of the Colorado Revised
Statutesand include, but are not limited to, gifts which could be perceived as a reward for an official
action taken.

“Public Servant” means any elected or appointed official of the Town of Berthoud as well as employees
and volunteers, including, but not limited to: Board of Trustee members; Planning & Zoning
Commissioners; Parks, Opens Space, Recreation and Trails (PORT) Committee Members; Youth Advisory
Committee Members; Historical Preservation Committee Members; Tree Board Members; any other
Town boards or commissions that may arise from time to time; part time employees; recreation
instructors and volunteers; and temporary employees.

“Sanction” means an action taken by the Board of Trustees if an individual member of the Board of
Trustees or an advisory board member is in violation of this Code of Conduct. Sanctions can include
Reprimand, formal Censure, and removal from boards and commissions (in compliance with state law).

“Reprimand” means a verbal statement in a meeting that addresses a violation of this Town of Berthoud
Code of Conduct, and specifically references the provision that has been violated.

ROLES & RESPONSIBLITIES

The Town of Berthoud operates under the statutory town form of government and recognizes the
importance of maintaining a transparent and well-defined structure. The Board of Trustees is composed

10E2



Town of Berthoud Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and
Commissions

of six Trustees and one Mayor. The Town Administrator is responsible for staff management and day-

to-day operations; the Board of Trustees is responsible for legislative functions such as setting policy,
establishing goals, and interacting with the public.

STATEMENT OF AGREED PRINCIPLES

The Town of Berthoud is committed to adhering to these principles in order to best serve its
constituents. The Following are adopted as joint goals and commitments of all Public Servants:

e Be accountable to the community and public,

e Enhance and promote good will and public discourse among citizens and fellow Public Servants.
e Give consideration to potential consequences of conduct — both short and long term.

e Strive to maintain and improve public trust in their Public Servants.

e Behave and conduct all public business in a professional manner.

e Listen and consider all perspectives before reaching a conclusion.
e Approach discussion and decisions with an open mind.

e Engage in respectful and constructive discourse with an eye towards a mutually beneficial
outcome.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

All Public Servants of the Town of Berthoud are expected to be familiar with and at all times comply with
Colorado statutes addressing ethics and conflicts of interest as a baseline level of conduct. A summary of
all applicable statutory provisions compiled by the Colorado Municipal League legal staff is attached
hereto and incorporated herein as “Appendix A”. The following provisions are intended only as practical
direction for implementing such standards or for issues which do not rise to levels prohibited by statute
but nonetheless raise the appearance of impropriety.

If a Board Member has questions or concerns about a potential conflict of interest or any other
ethical issue, he or she should consult the Town Administrator (outside of a Board of Trustees
meeting) requesting that the Town Administrator consult with the Town Attorney, or consult the
Town Attorney during a meeting.

When participation in action or decision-making as a Public Servant does not implicate the specific
statutory criteria for conflicts of interest, but does raise an Appearance of Impropriety, then that Public
Servant is encouraged to recuse him/herself in order to avoid any Appearance of Impropriety.

3

10E2



Town of Berthoud Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and
Commissions

No board member may vote on any matter before the board if the board member’s participation is
prohibited by statute. If a conflict isn’t clear, the member may choose to disclose the nature of the
potential conflict to the board prior to a vote taking place, and request a determination be made by the
non-conflicted board members as to whether the potentially conflicted board member may cast his/her
vote. If the potentially-conflicted-member makes a request for the remaining members to determine
whether the potentially-conflicted-member has a conflict of interest, then the remaining members may
determine, by motion adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining members, whether
a conflict of interest exists. On all matters not rising to the level of a statutory prohibition, such vote shall
be advisory only.

When a board member is precluded from voting on a matter because of a conflict of interest, then the
board member shall physically remove himself/herself from the council dais, from the board room in
which it is meeting, and shall refrain from attempting to influence the decisions of the other members of
the board who will cast a vote on that matter. After the board has completed consideration of the
matter, the board member may return and resume his or her duties as a member of the board.

As soon as a board member determines that he or she has a conflict of interest on any matter before the
board, then he or she shall immediately refrain from attempting to influence the decision of the other
members of the board on that matter.

No board member shall vote on any question concerning the member's own conduct.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Public Servants will often be privy to sensitive, private, or confidential matters, in formal and informal
settings. All Public Servants shall respect the letter and intent of the open meetings laws, and keep
secret all private and confidential matters. No Public Servant may disclose to third parties any
confidential information, unless authorized to do so by a 2/3 vote of the applicable board. Public
Servants shall comply with applicable state law — including without limitation C.R.S. 24-18-104 —
concerning the prohibition of the use of confidential information for personal benefit.

GIFTS

Public Servants shall not accept Gifts of Substantial Value or of substantial economic benefit tantamount
to a Gift of Substantial Value which would tend to improperly influence a reasonable person in a public
position to depart from the faithful and impartial discharge of the Public Servant’s public duties, of
which the Public Servant knows, or which a reasonable person should know, is being gifted primarily for
the purpose of rewarding an Official Action the Public Servant has taken or could take.

Public Servants shall comply with applicable state law — including without limitation C.R.S. 24-18-104 -
concerning the prohibition of the receipt of Gifts of Substantial Value.

GENERAL ETHICS GUIDELINES

NEPOTISM - Except as otherwise required by law, no Public Servant should participate in any decision
specifically to appoint, hire, promote, discipline or discharge a relative for any appointed or elected

4

10E2



Town of Berthoud Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and

Commissions

position at the Town of Berthoud. Public Servants are expected to disclose the relationship, and recuse or
remove him/herself appropriately.

PERSONAL USE OF TOWN PROPERTY - No Elected Official or Public Servant shall utilize Town Property for
personal purposes. This prohibition shall not apply to occasional use of telephones, copiers, or technological
equipment to the same extent that such use would be allowed to any citizen of the Town.

CODE OF CONDUCT

WITH ONE ANOTHER

Governing bodies are composed of individuals with a wide variety of backgrounds, personalities, values,
opinions, and goals. Despite this diversity, all have chosen to serve in public office in order to preserve
and protect the community and its future. In all cases, this common goal should be acknowledged even
as Board members may "agree to disagree” on contentious issues.

IN PUBLIC MEETINGS

Making the public feel welcome is an important part of the democratic process. No signs of partiality,
prejudice or disrespect should be evident on the part of any individual Board member toward an
individual participating in a public forum. Every effort should be made to be fair and impartial in
listening to public testimony. In addition, Board members should strive to:

Be welcoming to speakers

Speaking in public can be uncomfortable. Some issues and decisions can be personal or
emotional. Be courteous, kind, supportive, attentive, and do not interrupt. Be fair and equitable
in allocating public hearing time to individual speakers.

Ask for clarification, but avoid debate and argument(s) with the public.

Honor the role of the Mayor in maintaining order. It is the responsibility of the Mayor to calm
and focus the speaker and to maintain the order and decorum of the meeting. Questions by
Board members to members of the public testifying should seek to clarify or expand
information. It is never appropriate to belligerently challenge or belittle the speaker. Board
members’ personal opinions or inclinations about upcoming votes should not be revealed until
after the public hearing is closed. All Board Members shall refrain stating their final decision
until all information has been presented in the public meeting where the agenda item is to be
voted upon.

Practice civility, professionalism and decorum in discussions and debate

Conflict, difficulty reaching consensus, and disagreement is a matter of course for a
5

10E2



Town of Berthoud Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and
Commissions

governmental organization; however, belligerent, personal, impertinent, slanderous,
threatening, abusive, or disparaging comments will not be tolerated.

e Public Servants should honor efforts by the Mayor to focus discussion on current agenda items. If
there is disagreement about the agenda or the Mayor’s actions, those objections should be
voiced politely and with reason, following procedures outlined in parliamentary procedure.

¢ Demonstrate effective problem-solving approaches

e Look for opportunities to utilize public discourse as an opportunity to display how individuals
with disparate points of view can find common ground and seek a compromise that benefits
the community as a whole.

e Be respectful of others’ time. Everyone in attendance at a public meeting has made a
commitment to attend meetings and partake in discussions. Their time is valuable. Therefore, it
is important that Public Servants are punctual and that meetings start on time. It is also
important that comments are productive and relevant so that adequate time may be spent on
scheduled issues.

e Abstain responsibly. Abstain (and furthermore, recuse) when you have any financial interest or
other conflict of interest according to state law. Abstain from matters for which you do not have
necessary information, such as the approval of minutes. While you cannot be compelled to vote
on any given matter, keep in mind that it’s your duty to vote on critical public matters even if
the decision is difficult or uncomfortable.

IN PRIVATE ENCOUNTERS

e Continue respectful behavior in private

e The same level of respect and consideration of differing points of view that is deemed
appropriate for public discussions should be maintained in private conversations.

e Be aware of the insecurity of written notes, voicemail messages, and e-mail.

e Technology presents the risk of quick public dissemination of communications far beyondthe
intended recipient. Written notes, voicemail messages and e-mail should be treated as
potentially "public" communication.

e Even private conversations can have a public presence.

e Public Servants are always an display — their actions, mannerisms, language, and interactions in

6

10E2



Town of Berthoud Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and
Commiissions

non-official settings are under scrutiny. Public Servants should endeavor to conduct themselves
in a way which would not reflect poorly on the Town of Berthoud’s values.

BETWEEN STAFF & ELECTED OFFICIALS

Exemplary governance in Berthoud depends on the cooperative and symbiotic efforts of elected
officials, who set policy, and Town staff, who implement and administer policy. Every effort should be
made to be cooperative and show mutual respect for the contributions made by each Public Servant for
the good of the community.

e Treat all Public Servants as professionals - Clear, honest communication that respects the
abilities, experience, and dignity of each individual is expected. Poor behavior towards staff is
not acceptable.

e Job Disruption - Elected Officials should not disrupt Town staff while they are in meetings, on
the phone, or engrossed in performing their job functions in order to have their individual needs
met. Questions of Town staff and/or requests for additional background information should be
directed to the Town Administrator.

e Never publicly criticize an individual employee — Board Members should never express
concerns about the performance of a Town employee in public, to the employee directly, or
to theemployee’s supervisor. Comments about staff performance should only be made to the
Town Administrator through private correspondence or conversation.

e Do not act outside the scope of your authority — Board members should not attempt to
influence Town staff on the making of appointments, awarding of contracts, selecting of
consultants, processing of development applications, or granting of Town licenses and permits.
Unsolicited attendance to staff meetings is discouraged. .

e Honor the established structure. Elected officials should not be involved with administrative
matters. Staff members should not circumvent their supervisor or the established structure by
appealing to an elected official for a raise or other consideration that should be between the
staff member and their supervisor.

e Limit requests for staff support - Requests for additional staff support — even in high priority or
emergency situations -- should be made to the Town Administrator who is responsible for
allocating Town resources in order to maintain a professional, well-run Town government.

e Do not solicit political support from staff - Council members should not solicit any type of
political support (financial contributions, display of posters or lawn signs, name on support list,
etc.) from Town staff. Town staff may, as private citizens with constitutional rights, support
political candidates but all such activities must be done away from the workplace.

7

10E2



Town of Berthoud Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and
Commissions

BETWEEN BOARDS & COMMISSIONS

e Familiarize yourself with the bylaws, policies, and structure of the Town and its governing
entities and advisory entities. Act in a manner which honors those structures.

¢ Make an effort to communicate as one voice between boards & commissions. Take the time and
make an effort to reach consensus and avoid confusing official recommendations with personal
opinion or ex-parte information once a compromise has been reached.

e Do not direct staff individually or as an entity in a way that is inconsistent with established
structures.

WITH THE MEDIA

e Make no promises on behalf of the Town of Berthoud

e Board members will frequently be asked to explain a Board action or to give their aninion
ahniit an icenia ac thav maat and talk with constituents in the community
ind to refer to Town staff for further information. It is
INAPPIUPIIiaLe W Uveruy ol mpnciuy promise Board action, or to promise Town staff will do
something specific (fix a pothole, remove a library book, plant new flowers in the median, etc.).

e Staff should inform the media of official public actions, refer media to the public record, and
refrain from providing personal opinions. If appropriate, always refer the media to the “point
person” on any particular topic, such as a project lead or a department head rather than
providing second-hand knowledge.

e Do not speak, write, or otherwise communicate for the Town of Berthoud without proper
authorization.

e Unless you are expressly permitted to do so by Board of Trustee action prior to your
communication, do not speak for the Town of Berthoud in an explicit or even implied manner.
Always disclose your communications as an individual and not as a representative of the
Town of Berthoud as a whole.

e |tis acceptable to publicly disagree about an issue, but it is unacceptable to make derogatory or
personal comments about other Public Servants, or their opinions, actions or perceived
motivations.

e After a Board has voted on an any policy issue it is considered closed and the Board moves on to
other matters Board Members shall refrain from acting in any manner that would impede the
carrying out of a decision which has been made by the Board. Continued actions to impair
implementation of a decision undermines Board governance and the Board’s credibility and

8

10E2



Town of Berthoud Code of Conduct for Elected Officials, Boards and
Commissions

trust with constituents and potential investors.

ENFORCEMENT/SANCTIONS

This Code of Conduct is meant to be self-enforcing. Public Servants should be familiar with its contents
and support any training necessary to further its implementation.

If a member of the staff or a volunteer for the Town of Berthoud is in violation of this Code of Conduct,
then their actions should be referred to the Town Administrator, and the employee/volunteer will be
subject to Town disciplinary procedures at the Town Administrator’s discretion.

If a member of the Board of Trustees or an advisory board for the Town is in violation of this Code of
Conduct, then they may be Reprimanded or formally Censured by the Board of Trustees.

Serious infractions could lead to Sanctions as determined by a majority vote of the Board of Trustees.
Those Sanctions may include but are not limited to: Reprimand, formal Censure, and removal from
boards and commissions (in compliance with state law). In the event that a violation escalates into a
situation in which the board wishes to pursue a Sanction, an independent attorney may be consulted to
avoid a conflict of interest with the Town Attorney.

10E2



COLORADO STATUTORY PROVISIONS CONCERNING ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF
INTEREST FOR MUNICIPAL OFFICALS AND EMPLOYEES

by

Geoffrey Wilson, CML General Counsel

Applicable Statutes

Ethics and conflicts of interest for local government officers and employees are addressed in
three areas of the Colorado Revised Statutes:

. Article 18 of Title 24. Part 1 is Colorado’s “Code of Ethics” for public officers and
employees. Part 2 addresses proscribed interests in contracts;

I Sections 31-4-404(2) and (3), concerning restrictions on members of municipal
governing bodies voting on matters in which they have a personal or private
interest; and

1. Section 18-8-308 of the Colorado Criminal Code, imposing certain disclosure
requirements on public officials.

Caveat: Be sure to check for local charter or ordinance provisions that may also bear on these
issues.

Colorado “Code of Ethics” for Public Officials and Employees-
[C.R.S. 24-18-101, et seq.; C.R.S. 24-18-201, et seq.]
Violation of Public Trust and Fiduciary Duty- Standard of Proof

The Code of Ethics identifies several rules of conduct for local government officials and
employees. Violation of these rules is declared to be a breach of fiduciary duty and the public
trust. [C.R.S. 24-18-103(2)] A local government official or employee whose conduct departs
from his fiduciary duty is “liable to the people of the state as a trustee of property and shall
suffer such other liabilities as a private fiduciary would suffer for abuse of his trust.” The
district attorney in the district where the trust is violated is authorized to bring “appropriate
judicial proceedings” on behalf of the people, and money collected in such proceedings is paid
to the general fund of the local government. Successful prosecution under the Code of Ethics
for breach of fiduciary duty requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the commission of any
act proscribed in the Code.

Page | 1

10E2



Code of Ethics: Rules of Conduct
[C.R.S. 24-18-101, et seq]

The Code of Ethics specifies “Rules of Conduct”, violation of which constitutes breach of
fiduciary duty and the public trust. (The Code also specifies non-binding “Ethical Principles”,
which are intended as guides to conduct.)

1. Use of Confidential Information for Personal Benefit. [C.R.S. 24-18-104-(1)(a)]

A local government official or employee shall not:

“Disclose or use confidential information acquired in the course of his official duties in order
to further substantially his personal financial interest.”

III

e Note that this section restricts only use of “confidential” information.
e “Financial interest” is defined as a substantial interest held by an individual which is:
(a) An ownership interest in a business
(b) A creditor interest in an insolvent business
(c) An employment or prospective employment for which negotiations have begun
(d) An ownership interest in real or personal property
(e) Aloan or any other debtor interest
(f) A directorship or officership in a business.
(24-18-102-(4), C.R.S)

2. Accepting Gifts or Economic Benefits as Rewards or Inducements. [C.R.S. 24-18-104-

(1)(b)]

A local government official or employee shall not:

“Accept a gift of substantial value or a substantial economic benefit tantamount to a gift of
substantial value:

1) Which would tend to improperly influence a reasonable person in his position to
depart from the faithful discharge of his public duties; or

2) Which he knows s or which a reasonable person in his position should know
under the circumstances is primarily for the purpose of rewarding him for official
action he has taken.”

e This prohibition utilizes an objective “reasonable person” standard. Thus it is no
defense to argue that the gift or benefit did not actually induce improper conduct or
was not actually understood to be a reward for official action.

e Inclusions: “Economic benefit tantamount to a gift if substantial value”

I.  Aloan at a rate of interest substantially lower than the commercial rate then
currently prevalent for similar loans, and

II.  Compensation received for private services rendered at a rate substantially
exceeding the fair market value of such services. [C.R.S. 24-18-104(2)]

Page | 2

10E2



e Exclusions: Economic benefits”. The Code does not define “gift of substantial value”;
however, it does identify several items that are not considered “gifts of substantial
value” or “economic benefits tantamount to gifts of substantial value.” [See C.R.S. 24-
18-104(3)] Among these exclusions are:

o Campaign contributions reported under the Fair Campaign Act,

o Honoraria

o “Items of perishable or nonpermanent value, including, but not limited to, meals,
lodging, travel expenses or tickets to sporting, recreational, educational, or
cultural events.”

3. Transactions With Those One Supervises or Inspects. [C.R.S. 24-18-109(2)(b)]

A local government official or employee shall not:

“Engage in a substantial financial transaction for his private business purposes with a person
whom he inspects or supervises in the course of his official duties.”

4. Acts Benefitting Ones Business or Client. [C.R.S. 24-18-109-(2)(b)]

A local government official or employee shall not:

“Perform an official act directly and substantially affecting to its economic benefit a business
or other undertaking in which he either has a substantial financial interest or is engaged as
counsel, consultant, representative or agent.”

e “Official act” is defined as including any “vote, decision, recommendation, approval,
disapproval, or other action, including in action, which involves the use of discretionary
authority.” [C.R.S. 24-18-102(7)]

Exclusions: Section 24-18-109(4) provides that it is not a breach of fiduciary duty or the public
trust for a local government official or employee to:

(i) Use local government facilities or equipment to communicate with constituents,
family members or business associates, or

(ii) Accept or receive benefits as an indirect consequence of transaction local
government business

Defense: Disclosure

A. Section 24-18-110 provides for voluntary disclosure by a local government official or
employee of the “nature of his private interest” prior to acting in a manner that may
impinge upon fiduciary duty and the public trust. Proper disclosure is an affirmative
defense to “any civil or criminal action or any other sanction.” (Emphasis added)

B. Proper disclosure:

1. Forlocal government officials and employees, disclosure must be in writing to the
Secretary of State. Disclosure may be accomplished online: go to the Secretary of
State website click on “Elections” and then “Conflict of
Interest”.

Page | 3

10E2



2. Elements of the disclosure

3.

(i) Amount of financial interest if any,

(i) Purpose and duration of services rendered, if any,

(iii) Compensation received for services, or

(iv) “Such other information as necessary to describe” the interest.
If the act is then performed, the official or employee shall state for the record the
fact and nature of the interest involved.

Code of Ethics: Prohibited Interests in Contracts

[C.R.S. 24-18-201, et seq.]

Rule: Local government officials and employees “shall not be interested in any contract made
by them in their official capacity or by any body, agency or board of which they are members or
employees.”

e Note: See particularly part (e) below, concerning compliance with the “Disclosure and
Abstention” statutes.

e “Safe Harbors”: The statute states that certain types of transactions are not “contracts”

for purposes of these restrictions. [C.R.S. 24-18-201(1)(b)] Excluded transactions
include:

a.

Contracts awarded to the lowest responsible bidder based on competitive bidding
procedures;

Merchandise sold to the highest bidder at public auction;

Investments or deposits in financial institutions which are in the business of loaning
or receiving monies;

A Contract with an interested party if, because of geographical restrictions, a local
government could not otherwise reasonably afford itself of the subject of the
contract. It shall be presumed that a local government could not otherwise
reasonably afford itself of the subject of a contract if the additional cost to the local
government is greater than 10% of a contract with an interested party or if the
contract is for services that must be performed within a limited time period and no
other contractor can provide those services within that time period.

A contract with respect to which any... local government official or employee has
disclosed a personal interest and has not voted thereon or with any respect to which
any member of the governing body of a local government has voted thereon in
accordance with Section 24-18-109(3)(b) or 31-4-404(3), C.R.S. Any such disclosure
shall be made: To the governing body, for local government officials and employees.

e Noncompliance- contract voidable: Violation of the prohibitions described above shall

render the contract voidable at the instance of any party to the contract except the
officer interested therein. [C.R.S. 24-18-203]

Page | 4

10E2



Rule: “Revolving Door” Provision: Former employees may not within six months of the end of
their employment contract or be employed by any employer that contracts with a local
government during his employment.

Title 31-Municipal Governing Body Members —Disclosure/Abstention
[C.R.S. 31-4-404(2) and (3)]

Rule: “Disclosure and Abstention”, a member of the governing body of a city or town who has a
personal or private interest in any matter proposed or pending before the governing body shall:

A. Disclose such interest to governing body,
B. Not vote and

C. Not attempt to influence the votes of other members of the governing body. [C.R.S. 31-
4-404-(2)]

Exception

A member of the governing body may vote notwithstanding his or her personal or private
interest if:

A. Such member’s participation is necessary to achieve a quorum or otherwise enable the
body to act, and

B. Disclosure is made pursuant to Section 24-18-110 C.R.S. of the Colorado Code of Ethics
for Public Officials and Employees (which, as noted above, requires disclosure in writing
to the Secretary of State prior to official action). [31-4-404-(3)] C.R.S.

Criminal Code Disclosure Requirements

[C.R.S. 18-8-308]

Section 18-8-308 of the Colorado Criminal Code contains additional disclosure requirements
affecting local government officials and employees.

Rule: When the disclosure requirement of section 18-8-308 C.R.S. is triggered, “actual advance
written notice” to the Secretary of State and to the governing body is required 72 hours before
any action is taken.

What triggers the Law (When you pay attention to this rule): Animpending exercise of
“substantially discretionary function with respect to a government contract purchase, payment
or other pecuniary transaction” where a “potential conflicting interest” is known by the official
or employee to exist.

e A “potential conflicting interest” exists when the public servant is a director, president,
general manager or similar executive officer or owns or controls directly or indirectly a
substantial interest in any non-governmental entity participating in the transaction in
question.

F:\legislative\geoff’s issues\ethics & conflicts [Revised 6/11 ]

Page | 5

10E2



10E2



The Michigan Association of Municipal Attorneys wishes to thank the Michigan Municipal
League Foundation for their generous financial support of the Ethics Handbook project.
The Foundation contribution has greatly assisted with the publication and distribution of
the handbook, ensuring that it will be available to local governments and interested
parties throughout Michigan.

10E2



Better Communities. Better Michigan.

Printed May 2008
©® Copyright 2008 Michigan Municipal League
No portion of this book may be reproduced by any means
without permission of the Michigan Municipal League.

10E2



10E2



“EThics” @Nd WHY [t MAHETS oottt ettt ettt et b bt s e asnbeb s e b se et s emrannas 9

Civility in Local Government: The CiVil SOCIEY ..ot sess et et abas s 10

Different Forms of Government;

Different Routes to Adopting Ethics Standards for Your ComMmMUNILY ...ccccceiiereereninccninneceeereeeeesessessnses 17
Including Ethics Provisions in Charters: Advice for Charter COMMISSIONS ...civiieioeiiiiiercrecerieseeeinas e enssenns 19
LabOr CONSIAEIAHIONS .ceviiiiciiinieireirieist et e e be st sttt as bt essa st b b e s s s s b an s b bt nsab e e s e s ke b bse st b tsbasrnssentes 22
Definitions for @an EthiCS OrdiNANCE ..o eiiiierieceteieeeee ettt st eb st sss st s b sssa e s be e st esesa e s ss e e e ssesbeanaeas 27
Fundamental Standards of Conduct for an Ethics OrdinanCe.......cccecciieceiceeeee et ee st nees 33
Consequences for Violating the Ethics OTdINANCE ........oocierieicnccriiineicsi ettt sees e seeas 41
Enforcement and Administration of an Ethics Ordinance ...t 46
Developing, Adopting, and Implementing an Ethics Ordinance: The Process .....cceircecnencenenncece e 55
APPENAIX A: THE CONIIBULIOIS uiviiiics ettt ettt sttt be bbb b es b ettt ssbss et et bebetsbaterersnsasasanas 57
Appendix B: Some Ethics-Related Michigan StatUtes ...ttt 59
Appendix C: Local Government Ethics OrdiNGNCES .....ccvccimiieriinicicneicininmeesiessessscsieetsnsss s asssessessatsassessssssssnes 61
Appendix D: An Ethics BIBlIOGraphy ...ttt s bbbttt b s e 63
Appendix E: Professional Associations’ Codes of ETRICS ......cciieereiceececece e enesse s nes 65

10E2



10E2



This handbook is dedicated to the memory of William L. Steude, general counsel of the Michigan
Municipal League from 1971 to 1997, and past chair of the Ethics Roundtable, a committee of

the Michigan Association of Municipal Attorneys. Bill was a proponent of ethical conduct and
civility in government at all levels, and this handbook was originally his idea. The essay on
“Civility in Government” is his, and in it he considers the respect that is deserved by and owed
to, both the public and its dedicated local government officials and staff. We have all benefited
from Bill's belief in the necessity of the trustworthiness of government, and with this handbook
we hope to advance that belief.

Dedication 10E2

Ethics Handbook



10E2



The Michigan Municipal League, representing some
518 local governments, is proud to join the Michigan
Association of Municipal Attorneys in presenting

a comprehensive resource for local government
officials interested in the topic of ethics as it applies
to municipalities.

One of the hallmarks of municipal governance in
Michigan is its strong tradition of ethical conduct

in the provision of services for local communities.
The actions of municipal elected and appointed
officials adhere not only to a statutory framework,
but also to professional codes of conduct, local
provisions, local organizational culture and, perhaps
most importantly, a strong sense of personal ethics
borne of the civic pride that leads individuals to

be municipal officials. The Michigan Municipal
League has traditionally worked to articulate and
support the tradition of ethical conduct in Michigan’s
municipalities. This handbook represents an
important additional step. It is both a conceptual
resource and a “how to” manual. It is comprehensive
in that it addresses numerous facets of ethics. And,
it documents the ways numerous municipalities
have addressed ethics, in a formal sense, by
adopting a local ethics ordinance.

One of the great attributes of municipal government
in Michigan is that the government can be tailored to
meet the needs of a particular community. The best
way to address an issue in one community may be
very different from a neighboring community—the
topic of ethics included. Thus, this handbook does
not seek to present a “model.” Rather it discusses
the concept of ethics as it applies to municipal
government, highlights particular issues, and then
presents how several communities have addressed

Foreward
Ethics Handbook

10E2

those issues. It should be pointed out that for many
municipalities it will be appropriate to adopt only
selected provisions set forth in the handbook.

In making the choice to adopt an ordinance, a
community should bear in mind that an ethics
ordinance is a tool. While adopted with the intent
of improving the government of the municipality,
care has to be given to how this tool is used. That
is, an ethics ordinance can be a shield—to shield
the community from unethical conduct—or it can
be used as a sword to unfairly attack municipal
officials, and if so used, it can be a detriment to the
community.

Ultimately, this handbook is a powerful resource
for Michigan's municipal leaders to engage in
community dialogue and deliberation to choose the
best approach locally for maintaining high ethical
standards in Michigan municipalities.

This handbook represents a great deal of devotion
to this topic by a number of persons. Without their
selfless contributions, it would not have been
possible. In particular | would like to recognize

and thank Daniel C. Matson, chair of the Ethics
Roundtable whose guidance and persistence made
the handbook a reality. Dennis A. Mazurek, senior
counsel of Detroit's Law Department, who organized
and analyzed the sample ordinance provisions, and
Mary M. Grover, the editor of the handbook, who
molded its disparate parts into a unified publication.

William C. Mathewson

General Counsel, Michigan Municipal League;
Secretary/Treasurer, Michigan Association of
Municipal Attorneys



10E2



This handbook is offered as a guide for establishing
ethical standards for the conduct of all persons

in service to municipal governments in Michigan.
A number of Michigan communities have adopted
some form of statement about ethics which may
appear in the local charter, in an ordinance, or

in both. Other communities may be considering
adopting some form of standards of conduct for
their public officials. This publication is intended
to provide assistance to municipal officials in their
efforts to either create new ethics policies and
procedures, or to update them in keeping with
today's expectations regarding the conduct of
elected officials, employees, and volunteers.

The Home Rule principle allows Michigan
communities to tailor ethics standards to fit local
needs and expectations. Each can adopt provisions
that are appropriate for a particular community in
order to promote public trust in public officials and
in government. Elected and appointed officials, staff
and volunteers may rely upon this stated framework

within which they conduct the affairs of government.

The authors and reviewers of this handbook

bring considerable experience to the effort as

they have represented the interests of Michigan
municipalities and have encountered a broad range
of ethical issues and concerns that confront public
officials. The publication is the outcome of many
such experiences as identified by members of the
Ethics Roundtable, a group formed by the Michigan
Association of Municipal Attorneys. The Roundtable
has focused on aiding local officials to understand
and to resolve ethics problems within established
legal and voluntary requirements.

With this reference, municipal officials may
consider addressing a variety of areas of conduct
that would be appropriate for their organizations.
The reader may also examine a variety of options
that are currently in use in a number of Michigan
communities. These approaches are the result of
extensive study and discussion, and they reflect
local concerns and values.

It is strongly recommended that the municipal
attorney be involved in each step of the process
of developing, proposing, and adopting ethical

Preface
Ethics Handbook

10E2

standards. Numerous legal issues must be
considered whenever local law of this nature is
created, and particularly when enforcement is
involved.

Ethical administration of government invites the
citizen’s confidence in, and respect for, government.
Good governance is valued by the community. It is
sustained by those who have dedicated themselves
to public service, and it is reflected in the decisions
made and the actions taken by that government.

To that end, the Ethics Roundtable commends this
handbook to all citizens of Michigan communities,
and to those who serve them, in recognition of the
need to promote, and to earn, the public trust.

| wish to acknowledge contributions to this work by
members of the Ethics Roundtable of the Michigan
Association of Municipal Attorneys, including

the following: Dennis A. Mazurek, senior counsel

of the City of Detroit Law Department, for his
comprehensive research and analysis in authoring
Chapter 3, the central chapter of the handbook. John
J. Rae, former Midland city attorney, who brought
erudite and insightful sharing of the meaning of
ethics. Peter A. Letzmann, former Troy city attorney,
and foremost seminar organizer and presenter

to municipalities on many topics, always with
ethical concerns in mind. Michael P. McGee, senior
principal with Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone,
PLC, who applies labor law considerations to the
book. William C. Mathewson, general counsel, and
Sue A. Jeffers, associate general counsel, of the
Michigan Municipal League, who continue to field
numerous inquiries regarding ethical issues from
constituent municipalities. Dene Westbrook, Jeanette
Westhead, and Breanne Bloomquist at the League
for their design and production expertise. Mary M.
Grover, of Traverse City, public sector facilitator,
trainer and presenter of ethics programs on local,
state, national and international levels, who served
as editor. Many others have generously served as
members of the Ethics Roundtable through its years
of existence, and their meaningful participation in
the ever-current ethics discussion has led to the
completion of this handbook.

Daniel C. Matson, Chair
The Ethics Roundtable



10E2



“Ethics” and Why [t Matters ...t 9
Civility in Local Government: The Civil Society .......ccccovecvievnennnns 10

The Importance of Ethics for a Local Gover
Ethics Handbook - Chapter 1 TQEZ



10E2



Why should a municipal government be concerned
about ethics? At first blush this appears to be a
question, the answer to which is so obvious, that
it need not be asked. As is the case with so many
things, however, things are, more often than not,
more complicated than they appear to be.

Aside from the almost automatic response of many,
who might say that ethics must mean some sort

of standard of good behavior, there appears to be
little agreement about what the word “ethics” really
means. This has led, unfortunately, to the term
becoming so loose in scope and meaning that it is in
danger of becoming as floppy as words like liberal,
or conservative, words which often convey whatever
meaning the speaker or writer wants, but to the
listener or the reader, the words may have a very
different meaning.

In addition to the immediate barrier to understanding
which this moveable meaning creates (or
perpetuates), the standard of good behavior which
is supposedly being followed is, by this confusion, in
danger of becoming nothing more than a belief that
one's personal opinion on the subject is no better or
worse than the opinion of anyone else. The result is
a kind of relativism around the word “ethics,” which
logically raises the question of whether there should
really be any “ethics” standards in the first place.

A large part of the problem here is that the term
“ethics” has a number of meanings assigned to it by
any standard dictionary. For example, one reference
includes all of the following:

1. the study of the general nature of morals
and of the specific moral choices to be made
by an individual in his relationship with
others; i.e. the philosophy of morals or moral
philosophy;

2. a set of moral principles or values;

The Importance of Ethics for a Local GovermEz

Ethics Handbook — Chapter 1

3. the moral quality, fitness or propriety of a
course of action; and

4. the rules and standards governing the
conduct of a profession.

Also, the historical tension between the religious
traditions in our pluralistic society, and the
protections of individual rights under our
governmental system, inevitably lead to even more
disagreement over the subject of “ethics.”

Given all of the foregoing, then why do we bother
trying to establish any kind of rational system of
ethics guidance for municipal government? The
answer is that most people recognize civil society’s
need for something which will enable them to live
together in a peaceful and productive way. This
recognition is already reflected in our Constitution,
public laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations.
What is driving the renewed interest in codes of
ethics, however, appears to be an ever-growing
belief that these laws do not go far enough.

What a carefully crafted and defined “ethics” code
or ordinance can do is to establish behavioral
standards of integrity, fair dealing, responsibility,
accountability, and disinterested conduct which

are not specifically covered by existing laws, but
which are an essential part of the fiduciary duty
(the highest standard of conduct) which is almost
universally recognized in this country as being owed
to the public by its public servants and officials.



While the subject of civility in government

is a different concept than that of ethics in
government, there can be little doubt that there is

a close relationship between the two. It is hard to
imagine that true ethical behavior would not be
characterized by civil behavior, even though the
opposite might not always be the case. The authors
of this publication believe that these concepts
complement one another, and for this reason have
decided to include this chapter. We can find no better
explanation and exposition of the subject than was set
forth by our mentor, teacher and friend, Bill Steude, in
an article entitled, “Civility in Local Government: The
Civil Society,” which appeared in the April 2001 issue

of the Michigan Municipal Review. The article follows,

in its entirety. - Editor

The decline in civil conduct and discourse, public
and private, needs no documentation. But a search
over the Internet under “civility” produces much
that supports the case for its sharp decline and

a yearning for its restoration. Universities have
commissions to promote civility on campuses.
Churches offer civility pledges to candidates for
public office. Congress even had a civility camp
where members and their families gathered to
improve the courtesy level in the U.S. House of
Representatives. The City of Bloomington, Indiana,
established a task force for a safe and civil city,
promoting discussion of what it means to be a
civil participant. Several state jurisdictions have
promulgated civil codes for practicing attorneys.

President George W. Bush, in his 13-minute
inaugural address, referred to “civility” four times.
He said, “Civility is not a tactic or a sentiment. It is
the determined choice of trust over cynicism, of
community over chaos.”

To be civil, in ordinary understanding, means to
be polite, respectful, decent, tolerant, graceful

in language and gesture, tone, exercising
restraint toward others, cooling the hot passions

° 10E

of partisanship, adversarial and personalized
argument, with magnanimity toward others.

The decline in civility in public affairs reflects the
overall decline in American civility - in professional
sports, the media, talk shows, politics, academics,
interpersonal communication, even road rage. The
loss of civility in our national life betrays more
fundamental trends in our society and culture,
argues Harvard Law Professor Stephen L. Carter in
his recent book on civility.! He traces the historic,
cultural and religious roots of civility that have
withered or rotted and now account for the serious
lapse in civil social behavior.

Civility probably cannot be codified into standards
of behavior enforceable by penalty. In fact, civility
codes for public officials may even set a lower
threshold, and be an incentive for lowering, rather
than raising standards, by setting what you can get
away with, not how you should be.

There is no constitutional duty of a public official
to be civil. But note Article I, Section 17 of the
Michigan Constitution, in the same section in which
the due process clause appears, which provides:

“the right of all individuals, firms,
corporations and voluntary associations

to fair and just treatment in the course of
legislative and executive investigations and
hearings shall not be infringed.”

This “fair and just treatment clause” does not speak
to civility, but civility can help set the tone for
demonstrating fair and just treatment in hearings
and investigations.?

However impossible it may be to mandate, civility
might be inspired by conscientious attention to
the trappings of a meeting of a public body, by the
physical setting, by the rules of procedure and the
conscious example of members of the public body
themselves.

2he Importance of Ethics for a Local Government

Chapter 1 - Ethics Handbook



Opening ceremonies, such as a prayer by a member
of the clergy in the community, the pledge of
allegiance to the flag led by Girl or Boy Scouts or by
veterans, and a formal roll call of the members can
set the level of respect with which such formality is
usually accorded.

Remember, a city commission or council is an
elected legislative body whose members take
exactly the same constitutional oath of office taken
by the governor and by every other elected official
in the state. If members and the public have the
respect for one another and from one another

that reflects that status, a certain formal level of
discourse and decorum might maintain a higher
level of civility.

The physical setting for the meeting, the furnishings
and seating arrangements, and even the council’s
attire influence and can elevate expectations about
public deportment at council meetings. A card table
or fold up table with folding chairs for the council
members seems to belittle the office and may invite
an informality that can slide into uncivil discourse or
worse.

Money spent on decent furnishings and the setting
is well worth the cost. [t reflects the level of
respect accorded by the community toward its self-
government and its elected representatives.

No deliberative body can efficiently conduct its
business without rules. A governing body has

a relatively free hand in designing its own rules

of procedure as long as constitutional (First
Amendment), statutory (Open Meetings Act),

and local charter requirements are not violated.
Although most municipal governments which have
rules seem to have automatically adopted Robert's
Rules, Robert’s does not necessarily have to be the
primary source for local rules of procedure.

Robert's Rules of Order are complicated, highly
detailed, and are intended primarily for large
legislative bodies or for meetings of large
associations whose membership may number

The Importance of Ethics for a Local GoverToEz

Ethics Handbook - Chapter 1

hundreds. Its procedures may be unnecessarily
cumbersome for small governing bodies: the
five-to-seven-member councils of most Michigan
municipalities.?

For example, Robert’s requires a second to support
an ordinary motion and put it into debate, but a small
body which meets weekly, fortnightly or monthly
might opt not to require a second at all, but could
proceed to debate directly if the rules permit it.

The complex details of parliamentary procedure
may also confuse and frustrate elected officials
and the public, particularly if the rules are seen
as being manipulated for or against one side of an
issue or the other, or are seen as being ignored,
misunderstood or wrongly invoked. Such a use of
the rules of procedure, or the perception of their
misuse, will counter the very purpose of rules of
procedure - to protect the minority and promote
orderly deliberations and decisions, and will further
undermine public confidence in government.

Truth in government depends on a set of procedural
rules that are followed consistently, give equal
opportunity for every member of the body to
participate in making the decision, make for the
most efficient procedure possible, and result in a
decision by a majority of the body on the merits of
the issue, not on manipulation of procedures.

A governing body ordinarily has the discretion to
adopt its own simplified set of procedural rules,
unless Robert’s Rules or some other authority has
been mandated by the municipal charter.* Such rules
do not automatically command civility, but a good
set of rules may minimize the perception that the
rules are drawn, or bent, to control an outcome. If
parliamentary maneuvering is seen as manipulating
the proceedings, a frustrated council member or
minority, or the attending public, can erupt in anger.

Civility and decorum is strained by the gadfly, the
activist and the protester, who tend to distrust
government and those in government. If they engage
in abusive and baseless charges, or monopolize a
meeting, the presiding official can rapidly lose the
ability to maintain order, unless the council backs

a zero tolerance policy toward such disruptive
behavior.

11



Personal attacks generate counter attacks and
lead to verbal duels and free-for-alls difficult to
break, leaving civility and decorum in the dust. The
presiding officer in that event may have no choice
except to declare a brief recess so tempers and
rhetoric may cool.

A rule against personal attacks, applicable equally to
members of the body and the public, can help keep
a discussion “problem centered” and not “person
centered.” A procedure to enforce a zero tolerance
policy in progressive steps can be effectuated,

1. By reminding the speaker of the rule if a
violation occurs.

2. If the misconduct persists, by calling the
speaker to order, citing the rule—a formal
warning which may cause the speaker
to lose the floor, if the rule so provides
(although it may also authorize restoring the
floor to the speaker if the abuse ends and
the body formally permits the speaker to
resume); or

3. If the abuse still persists after warnings, the
chair “names the offender”—a last resort
step which has the effect of preferring
charges. The presiding officer states what
the offender has done. The body then
decides how to penalize the member, if the
offender is a member of the governing body.
The rule could specify a range of penalties—
e.g. reprimand, formal censure, or municipal
civil infraction. If the offender is a member
of the public, the presiding officer may order
the offender to be escorted from the meeting
room.’

A rule limiting the length of council meetings and
speeches by elected officials and the public will
contribute to keeping the deliberations on point. No
good government is likely to occur in the late night
hours of a meeting when the limits of patience
strain the limits of civility.

Procedural rules that permit and promote flexible
opportunities for public input may diffuse public
frustration at being foreclosed from opportune
comment and encourage constructive debate. For
example,

¢ Schedule public comment time at the
beginning of the meeting (or of a work
session), rather than at the end of the
meeting.

e Provide a short time for public comment
at the first reading of an ordinance, rather
than, or in addition to, at the second reading;
(preliminary public comment may surface
overlooked problems early and minimize any
perception at the second reading that the
work has already been done and gone too far
to be altered and the issue already decided).

¢ Hold regular meetings explicitly for public
participation separate from or in conjunction
with and preceding the regular council
meeting.

How members of a governing body address one
another and how the public is conditioned to
address the council can promote the level of civility
if formalities are observed. Using the “first name”
may be appropriate in a casual street encounter

or on the phone with a friend or neighbor who is a
colleague on the council or a constituent, but it is
not appropriate in a formal session of the governing
body when addressing one another.

Titles may be a source of sensitivity to gender
biased titles.

“Commissioner” when the legislative body

is a commission is an easy gender-free

title. “councilman” requires its counterpart,
“councilwoman,” but “councilmember” fits either,
and “councilor” is a shorter alternative. “Trustee”
will work for general law villages. “Madam” or
“mister mayor,” or just plain “mayor” works for
cities. “Madam” or “mister president,” or just plain
“president” works for a village presiding officer.

If the title is not in the municipal charter, the rules
of procedure can establish the titles, how to address
one another, and the practice that members of

the public should be requested to follow suit. For
example, “Council members shall be addressed as
“councilor.”

12 10E2\e Importance of Ethics for a Local Government

Chapter 1 - Ethics Handbook



Remember, a local government council is not only a
local elected (egislative body with chartered status.
A council acquires a quasi-judicial character when it
sits as a zoning board of appeals or other appellate
hearing body. The decorum should reflect the quasi-
judicial duty to be, and seem, judicious and dignified.

Judge Learned Hand was right: “(This) much | think
| do know—that a society so driven that the spirit of
moderation is gone, no court can save; that a society
where that spirit flourishes, no court need save;

that a society which evades its responsibility by
thrusting on the courts the nurture of this spirit, that
spirit in the end will perish.” The same might be said
of civility.

1. Stephen L. Carter, Civility: Manners, Morals and the
Etiguette of Democracy, 1998, Basic Books.

2. Violation of fair and just treatment in a legislative
hearing was the basis for a $7.6 million judgment
against the Detroit Board of Education in an
unpublished opinion of the Michigan Court of Appeals
in Jo-Dan Ltd. v. Detroit Board of Education, No. 201406,
July 14, 2000.

3. A Michigan Municipal League survey of councils
disclosed 80 with 5 members; 2 with 6; 420 with 7; 11
with 8; 15 with 9; 3 with 10; and 2 with 11 members. Of
533 councils, 502, or 94%, had 7 or fewer members.

4. See Suggested Rules of Procedure for Small Local
Government Boards, A. Fleming Bell ll, Institute of
Government, 2nd edition, 1998, presented to the IMLA
65th Annual Conference, 2000.

5. See David M. Grubb, “Maintaining Civility at Council
Meetings,” New Jersey Municipalities, March 1995,
pp. 24, 47-48 for a good discussion of this. See also
Webster's New World Robert’s Rules of Order, Simplified
and Applied, 1999, pp. 155-156.

The Importance of Ethics for a Local GoverTOEz

Ethics Handbook - Chapter 1

13



10E2



Different Forms of Government; Different Routes to Adopting
Ethics Standards for Your Community ..o,

Including Ethics Provisions in Charters:

Advice for Charter Commissions

Labor Considerations ......cccu.......

.................................................................

................................................................

Things to Keep in Mind 10E2

Ethics Handbook - Chapter 2

15



10E2



For most people, using this handbook will be
straight forward. Michigan municipal elected and
appointed officials who are giving consideration

to adopting ethics standards for their community
can review the handbook to see how others have
addressed this issue. Finding the preferred approach
from the materials presented, an official can offer a
route for adoption of ethics standards in his or her
community. However, to enhance the handbook as
a resource, especially for persons new to municipal
government within Michigan or from outside the
state, it may be helpful to pause for a moment to
review the Michigan local government structure in
which the adoption of ethics standards fits, once the
decision has been made locally to do so.

This handbook, which is a collection of essays,
makes reference to different legal routes for the
incorporation of ethics standards in the governance
of a Michigan municipality. Each is accurate but it is
helpful to understand how each fits within the larger
picture.

There are several forms of local government within
Michigan. In addition to Michigan’s eighty-three
counties, there are home rule cities (HRC), home
rule villages (HRV), general law villages (GLV),
charter townships (CT) and general law townships
(GLT). Michigan cities and villages maintain a
strong tradition of home rule. However, with ethics
as with other governmental concerns, the state
can prescribe what will be the law on a particular
subject matter so long as the state statute is
consistent with the state constitution. Some state
laws relate to local ethics provisions. Two examples
are labor law and campaign finance.

But to date, the state Legislature has not chosen to
enact a comprehensive statute that would control
the way local units of government would enforce
ethical conduct within their jurisdictions. This may
not always be the case, as it has periodically been
discussed, typically within the context of addressing
ethics with respect to all governmental jurisdictions
within the state, including state government, Thus,

Things to Keep in Mind
Ethics Handbook — Chapter 2

10E2

at present, local units of government have discretion
in choosing the best approach to take to address
ethical conduct within their unit of government.

For cities and villages in Michigan, this means that
they may proceed in one of two ways. They can
adopt an ethics provision in their city or village
charter (the local equivalent of a constitution)
coupled with the subsequent adoption of a local
ordinance (the local equivalent of a statute) to carry
out the intent of the charter provision. They can also
adopt an ethics ordinance, without direct mention of
the topic in the charter, under the authority granted
in the Home Rule City Act, Home Rule Village Act or
General Law Village Act to adopt ordinances to carry
out the general grant of authority to these units

of loca!l government. If this were done, however,
some sanction provisions might not be enforceable.
(Perhaps a third way would be local guidelines, but
they would not have the force of law and would not
be legally enforceable.)

The essay by Bill Steude that follows this one
discusses in some detail ethics provisions in the
context of a municipal charter commission. This
route is applicable to a city or home rule village that
is being incorporated for the first time and thus has
a charter commission to write its initial charter. Or,
more likely, this route is one that would be taken by
an existing city or home rule village that has chosen
to convene a charter commission to review and
offer new or revised sections of its existing charter
for presentation to the electorate—which could
include a provision regarding ethics.

Putting an ethics provision in the city's or village's
local “constitution” (charter) could also take the
form of a charter amendment. An amendment to the
city's or village's existing charter could be offered to
the citizens for their approval without convening a
charter revision commission. An ethics amendment
could stand alone or be one of a few amendments
placed on the ballot for the electorate to consider.
There are thus two ways to change an existing city
or village charter: in cities or home rule villages

17



through the convening of a charter commission

and presenting the proposed revised charter to

the voters; or in cities and all villages by placing
selected amendments on the ballot.

While a city or village charter can speak to or even
require, addressing ethics, it need not do so. A

city or village could adopt a binding set of ethics
provisions in the form of an ordinance without the
specific involvement of the charter. The majority
of this handbook is devoted to setting forth samples
and discussion of ethics provisions in ordinance
form. This is appropriate because regardless of
the approach taken in a charter, it is presumed that
the implementation of ethical conduct/standards
will be in the form of an ordinance. In fact, it would
be impractical to put in a charter (again, the local
equivalent of a constitution) the level of detail that is
typical in an ordinance that addresses ethics.

With respect to cities and villages, a logical next
guestion is why involve the charter of a city or
village if a legally enforceable ethics ordinance

can be adopted on its own, so to speak. There are
various responses and ultimately the individual
community will need to decide what the best
approach is. That having been said, one reason is
that some sanction provisions in an ordinance, such
as removal from office, would not be enforceable

if not authorized in the charter. Another reason
for a charter provision is that it could be drafted

to mandate that there be an ethics ordinance for
the city or village. While it is beyond the scope of
this publication to discuss the degree to which it is
appropriate to require the legislative body (council
or commission) to enact such an ordinance, if the
citizens feel strongly enough about the topic of
ethics they can require that the city or village adopt
and enforce standards.

But whether a charter requires adoption of an
ethics ordinance or speaks more generally about
the topic, making reference in the charter is a clear
expression of the intent of the electorate and should
serve to guide the elected and appointed officials.
Also, as a practical matter, a charter provision once
adopted by the electorate will stand until changed
by that electorate, unless the charter provision is
nullified by state or federal law.

8 10E2

Conversely, care should be taken in putting an
ethics (or any) provision in a charter. For instance,
if the issue addressed is too topical, it may lose
importance over time and the city or village will

be saddled with a provision in its charter that is
obsolete. The more relevant danger, however,

is that the charter provision will be too detailed

or too inflexible, thus restricting the appropriate
implementation of the intent of the provision through
the adoption, and if needed, subsequent revision

of an ordinance. Again, further discussion of this
aspect is beyond the scope of this particular essay.
But suffice to say, care should be taken in drafting
and adopting an ethics provision in a charter (or
for that matter in ordinance form)...if for no other
reason, as even with the best of intentions, such
provisions may be subject to misuse, to unfairly
attack a local official (sword) rather than protect
(shield) the community!

Each of the sample ordinances presented in this
handbook happen to be from cities. Other local
units of government in Michigan could adopt

similar provisions. In the case of villages, under
the Home Rule Village or General Law Village Acts,
the considerations for doing so are equivalent to
cities. With respect to general law villages' charter
authority? while their basic governing document is
a state statute (the GLV Act) it is deemed to be their
charter. The Act does not speak to ethics provisions
but general law villages have the authority to amend
their charters (via amendment but not revision)

and to adopt local ordinances, including provisions
pertaining to ethics.

Charter townships and general law townships do not
have home rule charters, but rather are respectively
governed by specific state statutes augmented

by somewhat limited authority to adopt local
ordinances. Ethics ordinances could be adopted,
with the above noted limitation regarding sanctions.

HRC HRV GLV CT GLT
Charter Revision X X

Charter Amendment X X X
Ordinance X X X X X
Guidelines X X X X X

Things to Keep in Mind
Chapter 2 - Ethics Handbook



In summary, then, local government officials who
seek to address the topic of ethics within their
local governments need to be cognizant of the

fact that there are different routes that can be
taken. For cities and villages, their respective
charter may or may not address the topic, in the
initial charter or later by revision (HRC, HRV) or
amendment (HRC, HRV, GLV), but to the extent that
enforceable specifics are desired they will be in
the form of a city or village ordinance. And in the
case of local governments without charters, ethics
ordinances may be adopted to the extent of their
respective ordinance adoption authority under state
law. Finally, the local approach presumes that

the state does not in the future seek to preempt
local authority and impose ethics standards on
government officials including those at the local
level.

For a complete discussion of forms of local
government, a good source of information is
chapter one of Local Government Law and Practice
in Michigan, published by the Michigan Municipal
League and the Michigan Association of Municipal
Attorneys. This chapter, by Stratton S. Brown and
Cynthia B. Faulhaber, outlines each of the forms

[Editor’s note: In this essay the author primarily
addresses the incorporation of an ethics provision
through the charter revision process that applies to
Home Rule cities and villages. See the preceding essay,
“Different Forms of Local Government; Different
Routes to Adopting Ethics Standards for Your
Community.”]

Revelations in the media about the conduct of some
public officials have raised the consciousness

of local voters and taxpayers about appropriate
standards of conduct for government officials. In

Things to Keep in Mind
Ethics Handbook - Chapter 2

10E2

of local government and the authority that each
has. Also, chapter seventeen, by Daniel C. Matson,
sets forth the process of charter amendment and
revision. Additional material regarding charter
revision and amendment and other powers of cities
and villages is available through the Municipal
League’s library. Information with respect to
Michigan's townships is available from the Michigan
Townships Association. Practical expertise on
charter revision and amendment is available from
municipal attorneys who specialize in that area

of the law. Finally, the city, village, or township
attorney for each jurisdiction is an essential
resource when consideration is given to adopting
standards for the local government to govern ethical
conduct by its elected and appointed officials.

1. See the following essay by Bill Steude, “Including
Ethics Provisions in Charters: Advice for Charter
Commissions”

2.  There are 211 general law villages; new village
incorporations must be as home rule villages.

response, some local governments have voluntarily
adopted ethics codes that focus on various aspects
of the conduct of those entrusted with the public’s
business. In 1998 the Michigan Law Revision
Commission published a report' calling for adoption
of legislation that would provide an ethics code with
uniform standards applicable to all public officials in
local governments statewide. Charter commissions,
authorized to draft or to revise the charter of a local
government, often wonder whether to include ethics
provisions, and how far to go in mandating adoption
of an ethics code or ethical conduct.

19



The Home Rule Acts? neither mandate nor prohibit
including a provision regarding ethical conduct or
a code of ethics, so a charter commission could
choose not to include ethics. In fact, most Home
Rule charters in Michigan address ethics indirectly,
or selectively, or not at all.

A Home Rule local government can enact an ethics
ordinance without a specific charter provision
authorizing it to do so. A broad powers provision
in the charter could authorize the adoption of a
comprehensive ethics code, as the Home Rule City
Act permits a charter to provide,

... for any act to advance the interests of
the city, the good government and prosperity
of the municipality and its inhabitants and
through its regularly constituted authority

to pass all laws and ordinances relating

to its municipal concerns subject to the
constitution and general laws of this state.®

A charter is not an ordinance; rather, it is the basic
local law by which the local government is to be
governed for a period that may be as long as forty
or fifty years. The job of a charter commission is to
establish a prescriptive legislative framework for
the community, a document that isn't caught up in
issues that may be currently of public concern. A
charter commission can include a detailed system
of ethical standards and enforcement procedures
in the charter. However, this approach will be time
consuming, and it carries some risk of making the
charter outdated if some of the details are nullified
by subsequent preemptive state legislation. In
general, charter commissions are advised to avoid
excessive detail in the charter, and leave the task of
developing the details, by ordinance and policy, to
the local governing body.

One approach would be for the charter to provide
an alternative to inaction by the governing body
by authorizing citizen initiatives and referenda.
By this means, local voters could initiate an ethics
ordinance by petition, or originate or reject local
ethics legislation through the ballot process.* The

20 10E2

charter may also be amended by the legislative
body or by initiative of the voters, to address ethics
requirements.’

If the commission chooses to include an ethics
provision in the proposed charter, it has a number of
options to consider.

1. It can authorize the adoption of an ethics
ordinance by the governing body, which then
could enact a detailed code of ethics.

2. It can mandate that an ethics ordinance be
adopted within a specific period of time after
the charter is adopted.®

A charter commission could also:

3. include in the charter a list of general
principles or standards of conduct, without
going into specific detail. For example,
the list could refer to general standards
of accountability, impartiality, integrity,
confidentiality, conflicts of interest, or public
trust. An ordinance could subsequently
define these standards in greater detail, and
provide procedures for enforcement.

4. take atraditional approach and address
selective aspects of ethical conduct in the
charter, focusing on particular problems that
may have triggered community concerns,
such as nepotism (the public employment of
relatives), or specific areas of conflicts of
interest, and require timely disclosure.”

5. specifically authorize or require in the
charter the governing body to adopt a
comprehensive ordinance with specific
provisions governing the receipt of
gifts, disclosure of conflicts of interest,
moonlighting (i.e., a local government
employee having a second job that
might create a conflict of interest with
the employee's public employment),
pre-employment and post-employment
limitations, and restrictions regarding
nepotism, political activity, and
representation before local government
bodies.

6. have the charter authorize or require the
establishment of an enforcement body,
such as an ethics commission or board,

Things to Keep in Mind
Chapter 2 - Ethics Handbook



with responsibility to maintain and enforce
the ethical standards of the charter and
ordinances. Such a board or commission
could assist local officials in determining
the appropriate course of action when
they are faced with uncertainty or conflict
between ethical obligations. It could
support public officials and employees

in situations of unwarranted charges or
criticism by adopting administrative rules,
issuing advisory opinions, or recommending
amendments to an ordinance or charter. It
could also sanction unfounded complaints.

7. include a provision to require the governing
body, and each local government board
and commission established by charter,
ordinance or law, to adopt standards of
conduct for their respective members. The
standards of conduct could be made subject
to periodic review and approval by the
governing body, or by the ethics board or
commission if one is established.

8. include a provision to require that ethics
education be included in orientation
programs for newly elected officials, and
in the training and continuing education of
public employees.

Finally, the Michigan Municipal League maintains

a charter database that is an excellent resource
with examples of some of the approaches charter
commissions have taken in recent years, to improve
the ethical environment in the local government, and
by extension, in the community.

1. Final Report to the Michigan Law Revision Commission
on the Proposed Government Ethics Act of 1999, Michael
A. Lawrence, November 2, 1998; published in the MLRC
33rd Annual Report, 1998, p. 13119.

2. The Home Rule City Act 279 of 1909, MCL 1171 et seq,;
the Home Rule Village Act 278 of 1909, MCL 78.1 et
seq.

3. MCL 117.4j.

Things to Keep in Mind 10E2

Ethics Handbook - Chapter 2

State law would remain applicable to local officials
and local governments. It governs conflicts of interest
in public contracts, campaign finance, lobbying, the
expenditure of public funds, codes of professional
conduct governing the city manager, city attorney,
public accountants, licensed engineers and other
occupations, personnel policies and collective
bargaining agreements affecting public employees.

See MCL 117.21, amendment by initiative for cities;
and MCL 7817, amendment by initiative for Home Rule
villages.

One charter commission mandated enactment of a
comprehensive ordinance within six months of the
adoption of the charter. It was difficult to meet this
deadline, and a longer period shoulid be considered.

A better approach is found in the Charter of the City

of Jackson, Section 913: “Within two years after the
effective date of this charter, the council shall adopt by
ordinance a code of ethics by which all persons in the
municipal service shall abide, whether compensated or
voluntary.” The Charter was adopted on November 4,
1997, the Ethics Ordinance was adopted November 16,
1999.

For example, Section 2-106 of the 1997 Detroit City
Charter provides, “The use of public office for private
gain is prohibited. The city council shall implement
this prohibition by ordinance, consistent with state
law. . .. The ordinance shall provide for the reasonable
disclosure of substantial financial interests held by any
elective officer, appointee, or employee who regularly
exercises significant authority over the solicitation,
negotiation, approval, amendment, performance or
renewal of city contracts, and in real property which

is the subject of a governmental decision by the city
or any agency of the city. The ordinance shall prohibit
actions by elective officers, appointees, or employees
which create the appearance of impropriety.”

21



Although a municipal government may have
authority to adopt an ethics policy or ordinance, the
government as a public employer also may have an
affirmative obligation to negotiate over such a policy
or ordinance if the public employer is unionized.
Specifically, if the policy or ordinance has an
impact on or concerns the union members' wages,
hours, or other employment conditions (“mandatory
subjects of bargaining”), the public employer

must bargain with the union before the policy or
ordinance may be adopted.

In the seminal case of Detroit Police Officers
Association v City of Detroit, 391 Mich 44 (1974), the
city adopted a residency ordinance after reaching
impasse in contract negotiations with the union.
The union filed an unfair labor practice charge, and
the case proceeded to the Michigan Supreme Court
which held that just because an employer may have
a legal right to take such action, it does not mean it
may do so in derogation of its obligation under the
Public Employment Relations Act (“PERA"):

“The enactment of an ordinance, however, despite
its validity and compelling purpose, cannot remove
the duty to bargain under PERA if the subject of
the ordinance concerns the “wages, hours or other
terms and conditions of employment” of public
employees. If the residency ordinance were to be
read to remove a mandatory subject of bargaining
from the scope of the collective bargaining
negotiations, the ordinance would be in direct
conflict with state law and consequently invalid.
Const. 1963, art.7, §22. ... Therefore, if as we will
consider below, residency is a mandatory subject
of bargaining, a city ordinance cannot foreclose
collective bargaining on the subject.” /d.

The Court concluded that a residency requirement
is a mandatory subject of bargaining, but found that
the city did not engage in an unfair labor practice
because it did not adopt the ordinance until after it
had bargained to impasse in good faith. The Court
noted that “[iln future negotiations, however, the

e 10E2

city will again be required to bargain in good faith
on the residency requirement if it is proposed as a
bargaining issue by the [unionl.” /d.

Both the Michigan Employment Relations
Commission (MERC) and subsequent appellate
decisions have resulted in similar holdings
circumstances other than residency. For instance,
in Pontiac Police Officers Association v City of Pontiac,
397 Mich 674 (1976), the city refused to bargain
over a union proposal regarding a grievance
procedure for disciplined police officers. The city
argued that because the city charter provided for

a specific means by which discipline was to be
imposed upon the officers, the charter provision
controlled and there was nothing to bargain over.
MERC disagreed, holding that the city committed
an unfair labor practice by refusing to bargain
because the grievance procedure was a mandatory
subject of bargaining. On appeal, the Michigan
Supreme Court affirmed MERC's ruling. See also
Local 1383, International Association of Firefighters,
AFL-CIO v City of Warren, 411 Mich 642 (1981)

(a collective bargaining provision negotiated

under PERA supersedes both a City Charter and
the Michigan Constitution); Senior Accountants,
Analysts and Appraisers Association, UAW v City

of Detroit, 218 Mich App 263 (1996) (city cannot
unilaterally implement pension provisions for union
members without collective bargaining; the city
could, however, through a City Charter Revision
Commission, submit proposed changes to the
electorate prior to collective bargaining as long the
city did not implement or enforce the voter-approved
changes until the employer satisfied its PERA
collective bargaining obligations).

Neither the courts nor MERC have yet addressed
the question of whether ethics regulation is a
“mandatory subject of bargaining” under PERA.
Ethics regulation typically does not implicate wages
or hours, and thus the unanswered question is
whether ethics regulation falls within the scope

of “other terms and conditions of employment.”

Things to Keep in Mind
Chapter 2 - Ethics Handbook



This will depend on the facts and circumstances

of the particular regulatory scheme. It may be,

for example, that the standards announced by an
ethics policy (e.g., disclosure of conflicts of interest,
prohibitions for receiving gifts, etc.) may be imposed
in the exercise of normal management rights.
Consequences for breaching the standards, on the
other hand, to the extent they affect discipline or
punishment, may very well fall within the scope of
mandatory bargaining under Detroit Police Officers
Association, supra, and its progeny.

Accordingly, before a municipal employer adopts

or implements an ordinance or any type of ethics
policy or regulation that may affect its unionized
employees, or refuses to bargain with a union based
on a conflicting governmental policy, the employer
should first consult with legal counsel to evaluate
compliance with applicable labor law.

Things to Keep in Mind 10E2

Ethics Handbook - Chapter 2

23



10E2



Definitions for an Ethics Ordinance ...t 27

Fundamental Standards of Conduct for an Ethics Ordinance.................. 33
Consequences for Violat<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>